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GrainCorp Registered Office
Tower 1 
Level 17 
201 Sussex Street 
Darling Park 
Sydney NSW 2000

Postal Address:
PO Box A268  
Sydney NSW 1235

Telephone: 02 9325 9100 
Freecall: 1800 809 482 
Facsimile: 02 9325 9180

Enquiries 
Nigel Hart, Company Secretary 
investorrelations@graincorp.com.au 

Australian Securities Exchange (ASX)
GrainCorp shares are classified under the Miscellaneous 
Industries Index (code GNC) and have been listed on the 
ASX since 1998. Share prices are reported in major daily 
newspapers and can be accessed online at www.asx.com.au

Dividend Policy
GrainCorp has an objective to payout 70% of cumulative  
net profit after tax over time, taking into consideration future 
cashflow requirements and business prospects. 

GrainCorp Website
www.graincorp.com.au – GrainCorp’s interactive website 
features corporate governance policies, the current Annual 
Report and full financials, plus interim financial reports. 
News and corporate information is regularly updated for 
shareholders. Details of Board members are also provided.

Shareholder enquiries
GrainCorp Limited shareholders requiring information regarding 
their shareholdings should contact the Company’s registry at:

Link Market Services Limited (Link)
Locked Bag A14 
Sydney South NSW 1235 
Telephone: 1300 883 034 (toll free within Australia) 
 +61 2 8280 7483 (outside Australia) 
Facsimile: +61 2 9287 0303 
Email: registrars@linkmarketservices.com.au

GrainCorp’s mission is to be the first 
choice Australian agribusiness for 
growers, domestic and export customers, 
providing value to shareholders.
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Executive Profiles

Tom Keene
Managing Director
B.Ec. (UNE), FAICD
Director of GrainCorp AG Finance Limited and Agricultural Risk Management Services Pty Limited. Member of the Trading Risk 
Management Committee. Chairman of Allied Mills Australia Pty Limited. Member of the Rabobank Advisory Board.

Tony Scott
Chief Financial Officer
B.Com., FCPA, F Fin.
Director of GrainCorp AG Finance Limited. Responsible for capital management, risk, taxation, financial reporting and compliance 
functions across the GrainCorp Group.

Neil Johns
Chief Development Officer
B.Com., M.Com., M.Bus., LTCL
Director of Allied Mills Pty Limited, QCE Pty Limited, NACMA.
Principal role includes corporate strategy, customer services, M&A, joint ventures and investments.

Nigel Hart
Group Executive – Corporate Services & Company Secretary
B.App.Sc. (UWS-H), FAICD
Company Secretary for all Group entities, Board Audit Committee and Remuneration and Nominations Committee. Director 
of GrainCorp AG Finance Limited, Member of the Trading Risk Management Committee. Responsible for legal and corporate 
governance, information services, human resources, industrial relations, corporate relations and corporate administration.

Kevin Lloyd
General Manager, Storage & Handling
Responsible for GrainCorp’s east coast receival and export facilities, engineering and technical services. 

Sam Tainsh
General Manager, Marketing
B.Agr.Ec (UNE)
Director of Agricultural Risk Management Services Pty Limited. Responsible for all grain, oilseed and wool marketing and trading 
activities of the Company both domestically and internationally.

Phillip Breeze
General Manager, AG Haul
Responsible for the implementation and growth strategies for GrainCorp’s road and rail transport operations.

John de Salis
General Manager, AG Finance
B.Rur.Sc.(Hons), MBA (AGSM), M.App.Finance (Macquarie)
Responsible for GrainCorp’s financial services business.

Matt Henry
General Manager, AG Plus
Responsible for GrainCorp’s agricultural inputs supply business. 

Key Shareholder Information

Result Summary

Shareholder’s Calendar 2008
27 February Annual General Meeting

29 May Half year results announced

3 July Payment of interim ordinary dividend

30 September GrainCorp Limited year end

27 November Full year results announced

19 December Payment of final ordinary dividend 

FY07 FY06 % change

Grain receivals ex farm 2.3mt 10.8mt (79)
Grain exported through our terminals 1mt 5.3mt (81)
Grain traded 2.2mt 3.1mt (29)
Revenue and other income ($million) $824.9 $816.0 +1
EBITDA ($million) $31.9 $120.9 (74)
NPAT ($million) $(19.8) $31.7 (162)
Dividend
- ordinary shares $0.10 $0.50
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wheat export marketing arrangements, we expect agribusinesses in Australia will continue to consolidate, unlocking value for both 
shareholders and customers. 

I believe 2008 may herald the next era for the agribusiness sector. The soft commodities boom, reform of wheat export 
arrangements and a review of grower control structures in Australian grain companies, including GrainCorp, are likely to be 
significant catalysts of change. 

Reform of wheat marketing arrangements is imminent and I anticipate the newly elected Government will outline details of 
legislative change in the first half of 2008. GrainCorp is well positioned to capitalise on this opportunity, given our existing 
customer relationships, infrastructure, people and experience. The level of interest in Asian, European and Middle East markets for 
the supply of Australian wheat and other crops is strong, and I expect GrainCorp to be a major participant in bulk wheat exports 
from the 2008/09 harvest. 

The controlling structure of GrainCorp, the “Foundation Share” held by the Grain Growers Association, is reviewed every five years 
and this will occur at the Annual General Meeting on 27 February 2008. The Foundation Share will convert to an ordinary share 
unless more than 75% vote in favour of retaining the share. 

The shareholder elected directors of the Company have commissioned an independent expert report on the Foundation Share. This 
report, along with a recommendation from these directors, will be available to all shareholders prior to the Annual General Meeting. 
I encourage all shareholders to consider the material and participate in the vote on this important issue.

2008 will also mark the retirement of the inaugural Managing Director of GrainCorp, Tom Keene. Tom has led the business for 15 
years, steering the Company through significant expansion and growth. I would like to congratulate Tom for his dedication and 
service to your Company and for providing strong leadership through periods of change. Tom was recently awarded Agribusiness 
Leader of the Year - a fitting recognition of his outstanding contribution to the Company and to the development of the Australian 
grains industry. The Board has commenced the search for a new managing director and the transition will occur in 2008.

The coming year may well prove to be a watershed year for the Australian grains industry and your Board of Directors looks 
forward to the challenges and opportunities with confidence.

D. C. Taylor    
Chairman

Chairman’s Report

“ The coming year may well prove to be a 
watershed year for the Australian grains 
industry and your Board of Directors looks 
forward to the challenges and opportunities 
with confidence.” Don Taylor Chairman

Over the last decade GrainCorp has changed significantly. It has been 
listed on the Australian Securities Exchange, diversified into primary 
processing (Allied Mills joint venture) and engaged in geographic expansion, 
through mergers in Victoria and Queensland resulting in ownership of an 
infrastructure network across the east coast of Australia.

Our Company has developed grain trading and key customer relationships in all major domestic and international markets, 
and there has been growth in products and services, enabling year round relationships with customers. More recently, 
the Company has diversified into handling and trading a range of non-grain commodities.

Today GrainCorp is a market leader in storage and handling, grain and oilseed marketing and, through Allied Mills, is the largest 
producer of flour for human consumption in Australia. Our business however remains subject to seasonal volatility. 

The impact of drought was evident in 2006/07. GrainCorp recorded an after tax loss of $19.8 million which was in line with the 
guidance previously given to the market of a $20-23 million loss. This reflected a 79% reduction in grain receival volumes to 
2.3 million tonnes, compared with 10.8 million for the previous year. This was partially offset by strong domestic market demand, 
record global grain prices, and an internal focus on cost management strategies. 

Given the year and seasonal outlook for 2007/08, the Board has not declared a final dividend. An interim fully franked dividend of 
10 cents per ordinary share was paid in July 2007. 

A drought year such as 2006/07 reinforces to the Board the inherent limitations of relying only on small scale acquisitions, 
incremental growth and efficiency strategies to reduce earnings volatility. In light of this, and coupled with the expected changes in 
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Operational 
The removal of $15 million in costs over the last three years, a restructure of the storage network and a focus on domestic market 
opportunities have benefited the Company. The storage and handling network now has a lower break even point than three years 
ago, which is important in drought years when fewer tonnes are received. 

The expansion of marketing both domestically and internationally has continued, with pleasing growth in South Australia and 
Western Australia. This growth is set to continue with GrainCorp being granted licences for barley and canola exports. More 
broadly, our marketing opportunities are significant. There is strong global demand for soft commodities, an increase in wheat 
container trade following deregulation, and bulk wheat export opportunities are likely from 2008/09.

The Company’s commitment to strengthening people and processes continues with some major initiatives undertaken during  
the year: 

•   A formal employee engagement program has commenced and will focus on developing best practice management across 
all aspects of the Company. Alongside this, talent identification and succession planning continues to reflect the changing 
requirements of our business and to ensure GrainCorp is considered an agribusiness employer of choice. 

•   A major systems development to replace the stock management system is nearing completion, and will be operational for the 
2008/09 harvest. The system will provide all sites across the network with real time information and instant analytical and 
reporting capabilities. 

GrainCorp also continued to support rural communities through the GrainCorp Foundation. With a record number of applications  
received in 2007, over $170,000 was provided to 71 community organisations.

I regret to inform shareholders of a fatality at the Hamilton silo in Victoria in December 2007. This was a tragic accident and has 
deeply impacted staff, management and the Board of GrainCorp. Internal and external investigations are underway and such an 
accident emphasises the paramount importance of workplace safety. 

Outlook
The 2007/08 season will be similar to 2006/07 and the Company has forecast total receivals of 3 to 4 million tonnes (winter and 
summer crop).  With the second year of drought, the Company has instigated further cost reduction measures and expects a 
similar financial performance in 2007/08, subject to trading environment, grain receivals and seasonal conditions. 

As this is my last annual report for the Company, I would like to thank staff for their effort and contribution to the Company’s 
growth over the last 15 years. The extent of change, and the smooth transitions which have been achieved, are a credit to all 
employees, and I thank them for their commitment to the business. 

More than ever, GrainCorp is a business which relies on relationships, service, skills and experience, and it is through the 
dedication of our people that we are able to meet the needs of 15,000 grower customers and over 100 domestic and international 
buyer customers. 

I would like to thank shareholders for their continued support of the Company and am confident GrainCorp is well positioned to 
capitalise on future opportunities and am excited by the prospects for significant change and growth in the coming years. 

Tom Keene    
Managing Director

Managing Director’s Report

GrainCorp, like most agribusinesses, has felt the impact of the drought. However, the underlying performance of the three core 
businesses is solid, the Company has benefited from diversification and cost reduction programs, and progress on the strategic 
plan to deliver $26 million in new earnings is ahead of schedule. 

Despite a challenging year, GrainCorp was able to maintain focus on the strategic plan objectives and continues to meet customer 
service standards across the network. As a result, domestic market share has grown. There were strong contributions from Grain 
Marketing and Allied Mills, and the storage and handling network reached a new level of efficiency, despite lower tonnages flowing 
into the system.

Financial
GrainCorp recorded a net loss of $19.8 million, reflecting low grain receivals. Revenue increased by 1% to $824.9 million, principally 
due to grain marketing and high global grain prices, while earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) fell 
from $120.9 million to $31.9 million. 

GrainCorp increased a debt provision for claims and disputes for grains by $20.1 million. This provision reflects record low grain 
tonnages in the network, a second year of drought in 2007/08 and historically high grain prices. 

The financial performance of each business unit is shown in the table and operational issues associated with these are outlined 
in the “Review of Operations” section. 

EBITDA Performance by Business Unit 2006/07 2005/06
Storage & Handling 17.9* 124.3
Marketing 24.1 22.7
Allied Mills 15.8 7.6
AG Plus (1.1) (5.7)
Support businesses (AG Haul & AG Finance) 0.3 -
Corporate & Head Office (25.1) (28.0)
Total earnings 31.9 120.9

 *includes provision for potential claims & disputes on grain of $20.1 million

“GrainCorp is a business which relies on 
relationships, service, skills and experience. 
It is through the commitment of our people 
that we are able to meet the needs of 
15,000 growers and over 100 domestic and 
international customers.”  Tom Keene Managing Director of GrainCorp
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2006/07
• EBITDA ($1.1 m) resulting from difficult drought trading 

conditions. 

• New management in place.

• The roll out of a new full service business model continued 
with a solid second half performance. 

• Acquired Heinrich Merchandise as the flagship store in 
Victoria. 

• New back office systems in place to support business 
realignment.

Future direction
• Continue roll out of business model to support year round 

service offering to growers.

• Ongoing growth through organic development and 
potential acquisitions. 

• Leverage the value of a retail rural presence to benefit 
other business units.

• Further expansion into animal health products, agronomic 
services and general merchandise.

AG Plus
Operating service centres in NSW, Queensland and Victoria, GrainCorp offers a range of cropping and general farm merchandise 
and services needed by growers throughout the year. The service centres operate in conjunction with storage and handling 
facilitating\ customer transactions year round as well as at harvest.

Review of Operations

2006/07 performance 
• 2.3 million tonnes of grain (ex-farm) received, down 79% 

from 10.8 million tonnes. 

• EBITDA of $17.9 million, down 86%. 

• 5.7 million tonnes out-turned to the domestic market, 
achieving a 50% market share. 

• $15 million reduction achieved in the indirect cost base 
over three years. 

• 18% increase in non-grain port earnings, principally from 
woodchip exports.

• Exceeded customer benchmark with 99% of grain 
delivered in full, on time and at quality. 

Future direction
• Increase domestic market share.

• Improve network productivity.

• Increase non-grain port earnings.

• Introduce new stock management system by 
September 2008.

Storage & Handling

2006/07 performance 
• EBITDA $24.1m, up 6%, with 2.2 million tonnes of grain 

traded (3.1 million in 2005/06).

• Strong growth in South Australia and Western Australia 
markets, achieving the highest tonnage to date in 
these pools. 

• 25% increase in container trade following deregulation 
in August 2007. 

• Improved margins in all grain desks. 

• 120% increase in non-grain trading revenue with 
wool trading.

• GrainCorp granted the first South Australian barley export 
licence.

Future direction
• Significant expansion of bulk wheat exports, subject to 

legislative reform, utilising GrainCorp’s seamless supply 
chain from farm to international customer.

• Pursue international growth opportunities.

• Expand non-grain trading in wool, and consider other 
agricultural commodity trading opportunities in Australia. 

Marketing
GrainCorp’s marketing business operates across Australia trading grains, oilseeds and wool. It offers cash prices, forward prices 
and pools, and specialist risk management services are available through Agricultural Risk Management Services (ARMS). 

GrainCorp markets to a range of domestic and international clients, with an increasing focus on Asia and the Middle East.  

2006/07 performance 
• Contributed $15.8 million to GrainCorp, up 108%.

• Generated a 16% return on GrainCorp’s original 
investment - above the hurdle rate.

• Realised the full benefit of a two year cost 
reduction strategy.

Future direction
• Focus on flour for human consumption. 

• Expand product development and technical support skills.

• Direct supply of in-store bakery products for major 
supermarkets.

• Expand low cost milling with a new mill at Picton coming 
into production in 2008. 

Allied Mills
Allied Mills is the leading Australian flour milling and mixing business, producing a variety of human consumption flour products 
which are sold through commercial, route trade and export channels.  It operates 12 mills across Australia. Allied Mills is a joint 
venture between GrainCorp (60%) and Cargill Australia (40%).

GrainCorp operates an extensive storage and handling receival network, comprising 286 country receival sites and nine port 
terminals, with more than 21 million tonnes storage capacity. The network provides receival, stock management and bulk/
container handling facilities for grain and a range of other commodities including woodchips, sugar, cottonseed, meals, mineral 
sands and frozen orange juice concentrate. GrainCorp services key customers in domestic (industrial, human consumption, 
stockfeed, feedlots, malsters) and export markets.
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GrainCorp Limited and Controlled Entities 2006/2007
This statement outlines the principal corporate governance practices followed by the Company throughout the financial year which, 
unless otherwise stated, comply with the ASX Corporate Governance Council Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best 
Practice Recommendations (Principles) released in March 2003.

This statement should be read in conjunction with the GrainCorp Limited Annual Report and full financial Report. GrainCorp already 
complies with most of the Principles, where it does not it is largely associated with the distinct control structure which operates 
through a controlling “Foundation Share”. In 1998 GrainCorp received approval from the ASX to list the Company with a controlling 
Foundation Share ownership structure. This structure provides the Foundation Shareholder, Grain Growers Association Limited 
(“Grain Growers”), with special rights including the right to appoint a majority of directors on the GrainCorp Limited Board and 
three quarters of the total number of votes entitled to be cast on a poll on special resolutions at General Meetings of the Company.

This structure is required under a listing rule waiver to be reviewed by shareholders every five years. The next such review will be 
conducted at the General Meeting in February 2008 where all ordinary shareholders and the 60,119,264 voting rights held by Grain 
Growers under Article 9.18 will vote on whether the Foundation Share should be retained or not. A Board Committee comprising 
the four non-conflicted elected directors was convened in May 2007 to conduct the review. Whilst the Company has a controlling 
shareholder expressed through the Foundation Share and Grain Growers substantial ordinary shareholding the existing Company 
framework still aims to achieve effective corporate governance on behalf of all shareholders. A copy of the Company Constitution is 
available to be reviewed on the Company’s website.

The Roles of the Board and Management (ASX Principle 1)
The GrainCorp Board is accountable to shareholders for the business and affairs of the group and it sets the framework for the 
Company’s long term performance.

The Board has a Charter which clearly establishes the relationship between the Board and management and describes their 
functions and responsibilities in a manner which is consistent with Principle 1.

Key functions of the Board include the following:
• demonstrating the desired culture and values of the Company through the behaviour of the Board as a whole, and of each 

individual director;

• approving the Company’s goals, direction, long term strategic plans, providing overall policy guidance;

• ensuring there is a regular system of policy review and update and monitoring management’s achievement of and compliance 
with the same;

• ensuring appropriate policies and procedures for the management of business and financial risks and associated internal 
controls are in place and monitoring environmental and safety performance;

• monitoring compliance with laws and ethical behaviour;

• approving and monitoring the progress of major capital expenditure, capital management, and acquisitions and divestitures;

• appointing and approving the terms and conditions of appointment of the Managing Director and reviewing and providing 
feedback on the performance of the Managing Director;

• determining that the Company accounts are true and fair;

• overseeing and reviewing policies to promote timely and balanced disclosure of all material matters concerning the Company; and

• reviewing the Board’s structure and performance annually and making recommendations to shareholders on new appointments 
to the Board.

The Managing Director is responsible to the Board for the ongoing management of GrainCorp in accordance with the strategy, 
policies and programs approved by the Board.

Corporate Governance

2006/07 
• Strong growth and additional earnings from the road 

business reflecting increased margins and growth in  
WA and SA.

• Successful first year of a contract train servicing the 
domestic market to Sunshine, Victoria, with over 90% 
utilisation achieved. 

• Introduction of a new transport operating system.

Future direction
• Participate in freight markets as a retailer with rail 

companies wholesaling contract trains.

• Advocate for a defined and secure grain rail network in all 
eastern states. 

• Grow external customer business in addition to servicing 
internal customers and Allied Mills.  

• Provision of third party logistics services to external 
customers.

AG Haul
GrainCorp provides contract rail and/or road transport services to millers, maltsters, feedlots, grain traders and growers as well as 
to GrainCorp business units.

2006/07 performance 
• Harvest loans reached $50 million in first year of 

operation. 

• Deposit book was $16.8 million at year end.

• Third prospectus lodged with ASIC.

Future direction
• Launch new warehouse cash flow products to enhance 

existing Storage and handling customer business.

• Expand the insurance referrals business.

• Grow the deposit book.

AG Finance
In its second year of operation, AG Finance offers deposit accounts as a competitive alternative to traditional bank accounts (yield 
and growth term deposits), insurance referrals and crop finance. AG Finance develops new products to enhance the activities of 
core business units, especially Storage and Handling and Marketing.

Farm Inputs Finance
Grain 
Marketing

Storage 
& Handling Logistics

Primary 
Processing 

AG Plus AG Finance AG Haul Allied Mills

Business Units

Review of Operations continued
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The Chairman and Managing Director establish the agendas for Board meetings, although Directors have the right to add items 
for Directors’ consideration. Each committee chairman decides the length and frequency of committee meetings in consultation 
with committee members and consults with management on preparation of agendas.

The Board receives regular detailed financial and operational reports from management to enable it to carry out its duties. 
Senior executives attend Board and committee meetings when relevant matters are under consideration. Committee chairmen 
report on the work of their committee to the Board on a regular basis and the minutes of each meeting are tabled for Board 
information and consideration.

Composition of the Board (ASX Principle 2)
There are currently 10 non-executive Directors and one executive Director (the Managing Director). There are six “Group” 
non-executive Directors, namely Messrs Mangelsdorf, Flanery, Freeman, Eastburn, Lane and Millear who do not meet the 
definition of independence as per Principle 2 as they are directors of Grain Growers, a substantial and controlling shareholder of 
GrainCorp. Group Directors are appointed to GrainCorp in accordance with Clause 10.3 of the Company Constitution not elected 
by shareholders. Group Directors must be members of Grain Growers and two Directors are elected from each of three 
representative zones.

Group Directors are subject to re-election by rotation at Grain Growers AGM. Group Directors recognise and aim to achieve the 
obligation of bringing an independent judgement to decision-making in the interests of all shareholders.

Ordinary shareholders elect up to four independent “elected” Directors who are subject to re-election by rotation at the Company’s 
Annual General Meeting. However, it is noted that Grain Growers has advised that it “intends to continue to abstain from voting 
its ordinary shares on resolutions with appointment and re-election of elected Directors while the Association still retains the 
Foundation Share unless the Board determines (in light of any prevailing circumstances) that such votes should be exercised.” 

Each elected Director has a three year term. Of the four elected Directors, Messrs Trebeck, Taylor and Curlewis are considered 
independent in accordance with the Principles. Mr Groves has served on the Board in excess of 10 years and the Board has 
considered whether this is a period of time which could materially interfere with his ability to act in the best interests of the 
Company. The Board considers that Mr Groves is an independent Director in accordance with the overall Principles given his 
continued and demonstrated performance and ability to act in the interests of the business. 

Each Director brings a range of skills and experience to the Company and this is outlined in the Directors’ Report.

Director Independence
The Board acknowledges the definition of Director independence as per the Principles, and in particular the obligation that all 
Directors should bring an independent judgement to bear in decision-making. In considering whether a Director is independent, 
the Board has regard to the independence criteria in Principle 2 and other facts, information and circumstances that the Board 
considers relevant.

The following materiality thresholds have been adopted in accordance with Principle 2:

1. is not a substantial shareholder of the Company or an officer of, or otherwise associated directly with, a substantial shareholder 
of the Company;

2. within the last three years has not been employed in an executive capacity by the Company or another group member, or been 
a Director after ceasing to hold any such employment;

3. within the last three years has not been a principal of a material professional advisor or a material consultant to the Company 
or another group member, or an employee materially associated with the service provided;

4. is not a material supplier or customer of the Company or other group member, or an officer of or otherwise associated directly 
or indirectly with a material supplier or customer;

5. has no material contractual relationship with the Company or another group member other than as a Director of the Company;

6. has not served on the Board for a period which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere with the 
Director’s ability to act in the best interests of the Company;

7. is free from any interest and any business or other relationships which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, materially 
interfere with the Director’s ability to act in the best interests of the Company.

The names of the Directors in office at the date of this report, the year of their appointment, their status as Non-Executive, 
Executive or Independent Directors are set out in the table below.

Name of Director Appointed Year Non-executive Executive Independent Shareholding 
 by appointed    as at 30 Sept 07

D.C. Taylor, Chairman Shareholders 2003 Yes  Yes 6,934

D.J. Mangelsdorf, Deputy Chairman GGA 2004 Yes  No 5,157

T.B. Keene, Managing Director Board 1993  Yes No 249,420

G.D.W. Curlewis Shareholders 2004 Yes  Yes 1,000

J.W. Eastburn GGA 2007 Yes  No 1,001

R.R. Flanery GGA 1992 Yes  No 82,897

R.G. Freeman GGA 1993 Yes  No 136,199

D.F. Groves Shareholders 1994 Yes  Yes 1,784,397

G.T. Lane GGA 2007 Yes  No 7,744

S.J. Millear GGA 2007 Yes  No 51

D.B. Trebeck Shareholders 2002 Yes  Yes 26,607

Company Chairman
The Company’s Chairman, Mr Don Taylor, was appointed to the role by the Board in December 2005. Mr Taylor is considered to be 
independent in accordance with the Principles as discussed above. 

Chairman/Chief Executive Officer Roles
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are exercised by different individuals. The Managing Director automatically 
relinquishes his position on the Board in the event that his executive position with the Company ceases. The role of the Chairman 
and the role of the Managing Director are available to be reviewed on the Company website.

Director Selection and Re-election
The Remuneration and Nominations Committee is responsible for assessing and making recommendations to the Board regarding 
membership of the Board and proposed new elected Director appointments.

The members of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee are:

Don Taylor – Independent Non-Executive Chairman;
David Groves – Independent Non-Executive Director; and
Dan Manglesdorf – Non-Executive Director.

This Committee has a charter outlining its roles and responsibilities, and is available to be reviewed on the Company website. 
Regarding the process of Director selection, the Remuneration and Nominations Committee assesses proposed new elected 
Directors against a range of criteria including background, experience, professional skills, personal qualities, the candidate’s 

Corporate Governance continued
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skills to augment the existing Board, ability to be independent in decision making and the candidate’s availability to commit to the 
Board’s activities.

In the event of an appointment of a casual vacancy, that Director will retire at the next Annual General Meeting and will be eligible 
for re-election by shareholders at that meeting. Elected Directors seeking re-election will also undergo the formal assessment 
process outlined above, but also including a review of their recent performance on the Board. Where this performance is deemed 
unsatisfactory, the Director will not receive endorsement by the Board for re-election. The Remuneration and Nominations 
Committee also provides an assessment of a Group Director’s performance as a director of GrainCorp to the Grain Growers Board 
but does not participate in formally endorsing candidates.

Ethical and Responsible Decision-Making (ASX Principle 3)
Code of Conduct and Business Ethics
The Company has continued to manage within the policy framework of a Code of Conduct and Ethics for all Directors, 
officers and employees.

Under the Code of Conduct Directors, officers and employees are expected to:

• maintain unquestionable legal and ethical standards of personal conduct;

• respect confidentiality;

• avoid any real or perceived conflicts of interest;

• act honestly and with integrity;

• use GrainCorp’s assets, information and facilities responsibly and in the interests of GrainCorp;

• act in the best interests of shareholders;

• contribute to the Company’s reputation as a good corporate citizen; and

• report any unethical practices of which they become aware.

The Company has a detailed Business Ethics Policy to further reinforce the Company’s standards for business ethics and to explain 
the Company’s prohibition on giving or receiving bribes.

The purpose of the Policy is to:

• ensure that the Company continues to strive to meet the highest ethical standards in its business dealings;

• help complement and reinforce GrainCorp’s strategic objective of acting fairly and honestly in everything that it does;

• assist employees in obtaining a general understanding about the legal background to issues such as bribery, and ensure 
compliance with the terms and spirit of the OECD Convention on Combating Bribery of Foreign Officials in International Business 
Transactions (OECD Convention) on bribery;

• assist in compliance with the Company’s legislative obligations, including its obligations under the Commonwealth Criminal Code; 

• help provide guidance to employees who, in implementing the Company’s business objectives and with the best interests of the 
Company in mind, may nonetheless be confronted with ethical dilemmas which do not have obvious or simplistic solutions;

• further enhance the Company’s corporate governance policies and procedures, and its efforts to comply with the ASX 
Corporate Governance Council’s Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice Recommendations that relate to the 
recognition and management of risk;

• assist in establishing a benchmark against which the Company’s approach to ethical issues such as bribery can be 
continuously and rigorously measured, improved and refined;

• to ensure, so far as is practicable, compliance with local laws in foreign countries that are based on the OECD Convention or 
otherwise prohibit bribery.

To monitor compliance relevant employees will be requested to provide in writing to the Company Secretary, on an annual basis, a 
confirmation that they are aware of their obligations under the Business Ethics Policy and confirm that they have not breached the 
requirements of the Policy. The Trading Risk Management Committee and Board Audit Committee will receive a report from the 
Company Secretary detailing compliance with the policy by relevant employees.

The Code of Conduct and Business Ethics policy are available to be reviewed on the Company website.

Share Trading
All designated officers and their associates are prohibited from trading in the Company’s securities while in the possession of 
unpublished price sensitive information concerning the Company. 

In addition, while in possession of unpublished price sensitive information designated officers and their associates must not advise 
others to trade in the Company’s securities or communicate the information to another person knowing that the person may use 
the information to trade in, or procure someone else to trade in, the Company’s securities.

Subject to the above general prohibition on insider trading, designated officers and their associates may only trade in the 
Company’s securities during the following periods (“trading windows”):

(i) Six weeks commencing 48 hours from the date of lodgement of the half yearly accounts of the Company with the ASX;

(ii) Six weeks commencing 48 hours from the date of lodgement of the preliminary final report of the Company with the ASX;

(iii) Six weeks commencing 48 hours from the date of the Annual General Meeting of the Company.

(iv) Commencing from the 8th business day (seven day exposure period) from lodgement with ASIC of a Prospectus and ending 
on the close of the offer and subject to no material matters being raised by the Due Diligence Committee during the life of the 
Prospectus (wherein a supplementary prospectus would ordinarily be issued);

(v) On retirement or departure from the Company former designated officers, contractors and users of general ledger financial 
systems and their related parties (as defined in accounting standard AASB 124) are restricted from trading Company shares for 
a period of 12 weeks or the occurrence of (i), (ii) and (iii) above; or

(vi) any other period, of such duration, as determined by the Board of the Company from time to time.

The Board may impose an embargo, at any time, upon trading in the Company’s securities if it believes that a market sensitive 
event has occurred or is likely to occur.

Each Director has entered into an agreement “Director and his disclosure of interests and transactions in Securities” with 
GrainCorp Limited in accordance with the ASX Listing Rules.

The share trading policy is available to be reviewed on the Company website.

Integrity of Financial Reporting (ASX Principle 4)
Consistent with ASX Principle 4 the CEO and CFO report in writing to the best of their knowledge and belief that the Company’s 
interim and full year financial reports present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the Company’s financial condition and 
operational results and are in accordance with relevant accounting standards. The Company has adopted a detailed verification 
process to validate the statement from the CEO and CFO that the financial reports present a true and fair view.

Board Audit Committee
The Company Board Audit Committee was established in 1993. The current members of the Committee are:

David Trebeck – Independent Non-Executive Chairman;
Doug Curlewis – Independent Non-Executive Director; and
John Eastburn – Non-Executive Director.
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The composition of the Board Audit Committee complies with Recommendation 4.3 in all respects. Details of each committee 
member’s experience are set out in the Directors’ Report and indicate that each of them is suitably qualified to be a member of the 
Board Audit Committee.

The Board Audit Committee Charter is consistent with Principle 4. The Board Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its 
oversight responsibilities especially in respect of corporate governance, financial reporting and corporate control. The Board Audit 
Committee reviews the financial reporting process, the system of internal control and management of financial risks, the audit 
coverage and process, and the Company’s process for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations and governance of the 
Company. The Board Audit Committee will also review any material changes in accounting policy.

The Board Audit Committee has, during the year, reviewed and approved an internal audit plan incorporating a comprehensive 
business review process in respect of internal audit management functions. The Company made the decision during the period to 
outsource the internal audit process. KPMG were appointed as internal audit provider in July 2007.

The Board Audit Committee reviews progress in, and reports arising from, the Internal Business Audit Plan as well as specific 
issues or matters which may arise from the internal and external audit process. Meetings are held at least four times a year. The 
Board Audit Committee reports to the Board after each meeting.

Management, internal and external auditors are invited to attend Board Audit Committee meetings to ensure that adequate controls 
and practices are maintained throughout the Group. The Board Audit Committee plays an active role in reviewing the adequacy of 
the existing external audit arrangements, and is responsible for ensuring that the auditors have the necessary qualifications and 
skills and that the scope and quality of their audit is appropriate. The external auditors have direct access on a regular basis to the 
Board Audit Committee without management involvement.

External Auditor Independence and Declaration
An Auditor Independence Policy has been adopted which sets out the key principles to be followed by the audit firm in its 
relationship with the Company. The policy requires the approval of the Board Audit Committee for the provision of non-audit 
services to the Company or its related entities. The policy has a set of guidelines that assist in identifying the types of services that 
may compromise the independence of external auditors.

In respect of financial years commencing on or after 1 July 2004, the Corporate Law Economic Reform Program (Audit Reform 
and Corporate Disclosure) Act 2004 (“CLERP 9”) amendments to the Corporations Act 2001 require external auditors to make 
an annual independence declaration, addressed to the Board, declaring that the auditors have maintained their independence in 
accordance with CLERP 9 amendments and the rules of the professional accounting bodies. PricewaterhouseCoopers has provided 
such a declaration to the Board Audit Committee for the financial year ended 30 September 2007.

External Audit Performance Assessment
The Board Audit Committee conducts a formal assessment of external auditor performance each year and reports the outcome 
to the Board. If it becomes necessary to replace the external auditor for performance or independence reasons, the Board Audit 
Committee will then formalize a procedure and policy for the selection and appointment of new auditors. The Company’s external 
auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, has a policy for the rotation of lead audit partners. The lead audit partner was last rotated in 
October 2006.

The Board Audit Committee makes recommendations to the Board in relation to the appointment of external auditors. In 
accordance with good governance practice, the Board Audit Committee conducted a tender for the supply of external audit 
services. In November 2006, PricewaterhouseCoopers was the successful tenderer and retained as external auditors.

A copy of the Board Audit Committee Charter and information on the rotation of external audit engagement partners is available on 
the Company website.

External Auditor Attendance at AGM (ASX Principle 6 (6.2))
Consistent with ASX Principle 6 and CLERP 9 PricewaterhouseCoopers attends the Annual General Meeting of the Company to 
answer shareholder questions about the conduct of the audit and the preparation of the auditor’s report. Shareholders may submit 
questions for the external auditors to the Company Secretary no later than five business days before an Annual General Meeting.

Continuous Disclosure to ASX (ASX Principle 5)
As a guiding principle, GrainCorp ensures that it does not communicate material price or value sensitive information to an external 
party (advisors are deemed to be internal parties) except where that information has previously been disclosed to the market 
generally. The Company has adopted a continuous disclosure and financial markets communication policy to ensure compliance 
with ASX Listing Rule disclosure obligations. The policy:

• gives guidance as to the types of information that may require disclosure, including examples of practical application of the rules;

• gives practical guidance for dealing with market analysts and the media;

• identifies the correct channels for passing on potentially market sensitive information as soon as it comes to hand;

• establishes regular occasions at which senior executives and Directors are actively prompted to consider whether there is any 
potentially market-sensitive information which may require disclosure; and

• allocates responsibility for approving the substance and form of any public disclosure and communications with investors.
The Company Secretary is responsible for overseeing and coordinating disclosure of all communications to the ASX and is 
accountable for that disclosure. The Board Audit Committee reviews its disclosure practices of the Company to shareholders and 
relevant external agencies.

The Company’s continuous disclosure and market communication policies are available to be reviewed on the Company’s website.

Communication with Shareholders (ASX Principle 6 (6.1))
The shareholders of GrainCorp Limited play an important role in corporate governance by virtue of their responsibility for voting for 
the appointment of elected Directors. The Board ensures that shareholders are kept fully informed on developments affecting the 
Company through:

• the annual and interim results which are released through reports, newsletters and presentations;

• compliance with ASX’s continuous disclosure listing rules;

• the Annual General Meeting and other meetings called to obtain approval for Board action; and

• maintaining a comprehensive website containing all Company announcements and key Company operations.
The Board encourages full participation of shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to ensure a high level of accountability and 
understanding of the Company’s strategy and goals. In addition, the Board has worked with management to develop a strategy 
for effective communication with shareholders and participation at General Meetings. This takes the form of an Investor Relations 
Plan. A summary of the Company’s Investor Relations Plan appears on the Company website.

Risk Management (ASX Principle 7)
Management of risk is an essential element of the Company’s strategy. The Board is responsible for overseeing, reviewing and 
ensuring the effectiveness and integrity of GrainCorp’s risk management systems.

The Board Audit Committee oversees GrainCorp’s risk management systems on behalf of the Board and reports regularly to the 
Board in relation to them. The Managing Director has been charged with implementing appropriate risk management systems 
within the organisation. The Managing Director works with relevant staff members to ensure that all major risks are identified and 
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appropriately managed and that GrainCorp’s risk management systems are in accordance with the Company’s risk 
management policies.

A management Business Risk Committee chaired by the Managing Director, and comprising the Chief Financial Officer, 
General Manager – Storage & Handling and Group Executive, Group Executive - Corporate Services and Company Secretary, 
meets quarterly or as required to identify, assess and control material risks across the Group. The Company has adopted a policy 
and procedures for risk management processes using AS4360:2003 as a guide. A series of improvements identified through a 
comprehensive risk assessment using this model are in the process of being implemented. Each business unit is responsible for 
the implementation of policies and procedures to manage those risks.

In addition to maintaining appropriate insurance and other risk management measures, identified risks are managed through:

• established policies and procedures for the managing of funding, foreign exchange and financial instruments (including 
derivatives) including the prohibition of speculative transactions. The Board has approved Treasury policies regarding exposures 
to foreign currencies, interest rates, commodity price, liquidity and counterparty risks which include limits and authority levels.

• standards and procedures in relation to environmental and health and safety matters.

• training programs in relation to legal and compliance issues such as trade practices and occupational health and safety.

• procedures requiring that significant capital and revenue expenditure and other contractual commitments are approved at an 
appropriate level of management or by the Board.

• comprehensive management guidelines setting out the standards of behaviour expected of employees in the conduct of the 
Company’s business.

The Board reviews all major submissions and purchases for their impact on the risks facing GrainCorp and directs management to 
institute appropriate actions. As part of its strategic planning activities, the Board reviews all major strategies for their impact on 
the risks facing GrainCorp.

Similarly, GrainCorp reviews all aspects of its operations for changes to the risk profile on an annual basis. This annual review 
includes an assessment of insurance policies, which is overseen by the Board Audit Committee.

Trading Risk Management Committee
The Board established, in 1998, a Trading Risk Management Committee which oversees the development of policies to manage 
the risks associated with grain and wool marketing and farm inputs. The policies specify trading limits, approved risk management 
tools, credit management and delegations for authorising transactions and segregation of duties.

The current members of the Committee are:
Don Taylor – Committee Chairman and Independent Non-Executive Director;

Dan Mangelsdorf – Non-Executive Director;

Rick Lee – independent external appointment;

Tom Keene – Managing Director; and

Nigel Hart – Group Executive, Corporate Services and Company Secretary.

The Trading Risk Management Committee meets, as required, with the Board Audit Committee.

Internal Audit
The internal audit function is independent of the external audit function. The internal auditors, KPMG, monitor the internal control 
framework of the group and report to the Board Audit Committee. The Board Audit Committee approves the Internal Audit Charter 
and the Annual Internal Audit Plan to ensure that planned audit activities are aligned to business risks. The Board Audit Committee 
also reviews internal audit reports issued by KPMG and monitors progress with implementing recommendations made in these 
reports to ensure improvement in the internal control environment of the Company.

A description of the Company’s risk management policy is available to be reviewed on the Company website. GrainCorp’s Managing 
Director and CFO report in writing to the Board Audit Committee that:

• the statement given in accordance with the ASX Best Practice Corporate Governance Council Recommendation 4.1 is founded 
on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and control which implements the policies adopted by the 
Board; and

• the Company’s risk management and internal compliance and control framework is operating efficiently and effectively in all 
material respects.

Performance (ASX Principle 8)
Board Performance
The Board has adopted a process of evaluation to measure its own performance and the performance of all Board Committees. 
This process involves a confidential questionnaire being completed by each Director against GrainCorp’s Corporate Governance 
framework.

The process involves the following review areas:

• defining governance roles;

• improving Board processes;

• key Board functions; and

• continuing improvement.

A performance evaluation using this process was conducted in August 2007. In line with GrainCorp’s commitment to continuous 
improvement, at the conclusion of each Board meeting a Non-Executive Director on a rotating basis provides a review of the 
meeting processes and outcomes to identify any areas where improvements can be achieved. In addition, the performance of each 
Non-Executive Director is formally reviewed on an annual basis by the Chairman. Similarly the Chairman’s performance is reviewed 
annually by the full Board. Also, all Directors are encouraged to undertake, and resources are made available for, continuing 
education.

Executive Performance
The Board monitors key performance indicators for the Managing Director and members of the Executive team on a monthly basis 
through general reporting and a comprehensive performance management system. The system monitors key objectives in the 
following four areas:

• corporate financial and strategic performance;

• business unit performance; and

• personal performance.

The Board and Remuneration and Nominations Committee review the performance of the Managing Director and executive 
management through monthly reporting, Board presentations, business planning sessions and the key performance indicator 
system. A more detailed review is provided in the Remuneration Report in the Directors’ Report.

Remuneration (ASX Principle 9)
Remuneration and Nominations Committee
The Remuneration and Nominations Committee principle functions include:

• reviewing the composition, performance, induction and membership of the Board and providing recommendations on new 
appointments; and
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• reviewing and recommending to the Board the overall direction of GrainCorp’s philosophies, strategies and determination in 
respect of remuneration, benefits, recognition of executive and employee performance, succession planning and executive 
development.

The Company has adopted, and adheres to, a comprehensive policy on remuneration strategies for Directors and employees to 
enhance corporate performance. The following statements provide a summary of the link between remuneration and corporate 
performance for Directors and key Executives.

Non-Executive Director Remuneration
Non-Executive Directors do not receive performance based bonuses and do not participate in equity schemes of the Company 
other than the Non-Executive Director Deferred Share Plan. The Remuneration and Nominations Committee reviews the 
Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration arrangements and recommendations are then submitted to the Board for their review 
and approval.

In determining the Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration the Remuneration and Nominations Committee draws on survey data on 
fees paid by comparable companies, together with an assessment of any changes in the level of responsibilities. With the exception 
of the Chairman and Deputy Chairman, additional yearly fees are paid to Directors who are members of committees.

The Board recommends to shareholders, from time to time, a quantum of total Directors’ fees. The Annual General Meeting of 
shareholders in 2001 approved a total Non-Executive director remuneration pool of up to $1 million annually.

In addition to reimbursement of expenses, any allowance paid to Directors is in line with Australian Taxation Office reasonable daily 
travel allowance amounts. 

In December 2003 the Board resolved to cease any further contributions to retirement benefits. The benefit accrued by each 
Director prior to 16 December 2003 has been preserved at the accrued level made payable on retirement in cash and not indexed 
from the cessation date. The previous policy for retiring Non-Executive Directors provided an allowance up to a maximum of their 
last three years’ remuneration after nine years’ service (pro rata for a lesser period with a minimum of three years). New Directors 
post December 2003 will not be eligible for a retirement benefit.

In line with ASX Corporate Governance Council guidelines on non-executive director remuneration, Non-Executive Directors are 
entitled to participate in the GrainCorp Non-Executive Director Deferred Share Plan. They may acquire ordinary shares through 
on-market purchases in lieu of fees. However, they are not entitled to participate in the GrainCorp Exempt Plan, Employee Gift Plan, 
Performance Share Rights Plan or GrainCorp Deferred Share Purchase Plan.

A more detailed review is provided in the Remuneration Report, in the Directors’ Report.

Executive Remuneration
GrainCorp operates in a global marketplace and the Remuneration and Nominations Committee recognises that long-term success 
depends on the calibre of people leading and managing a diverse business across a wide regional distribution. To this end, 
GrainCorp seeks to attract, reward and retain high performing executives with potential to develop and meet the future needs of 
GrainCorp.

The key principles of GrainCorp’s remuneration philosophy are:
1. remuneration practices adopted by GrainCorp will be legal, ethical and consistent with being a good corporate citizen.

2. to take into account all corporate governance principles and guidelines issued from time to time by relevant organisations and 
institutions but will make decisions based on the best interests of GrainCorp and its shareholders.

3. we will comply with remuneration disclosures as required by law and will seek to maintain the highest standards of clarity and 
transparency in communications with shareholders.

4. we will comply with regulatory requirements relating to:

a. shareholder approval of both binding and non-binding resolutions regarding executive remuneration; and

b. disclosure of executive remuneration in annual reports or elsewhere.

5. the cost of remunerating each executive will be composed of fixed and variable components. Thus, the value to the executive of 
the remuneration received will vary having regard to performance of GrainCorp, and/or division and/or business unit and/or the 
Executive.

6. remuneration quantum and mix should place GrainCorp in a sound position to secure the services of executives of the calibre 
required by GrainCorp to be successful in terms of long term returns to shareholders.

7. that the long term interests of Executives and shareholders should be aligned and that such alignment is best achieved by 
Executives having significant shareholdings in the Company. Therefore, Executive remuneration should facilitate and encourage 
executives to receive part of their remuneration in the form of shares in the Company, particularly when their shareholdings 
are less than significant in value. Consequently, under the Executive Remuneration Policy, the remuneration of executives may 
comprise the following:

• fixed salary that is determined from a review of the market and reflects core performance requirements and expectations;

• a short term incentive performance based bonus designed to reward actual achievement by the individual of performance 
objectives and for materially improved Company performance;

• a long term incentive plan in which the level of benefit derived by participants relates to a combination of factors including 
earnings per share, total shareholder returns and benchmarking against other ASX listed companies; and

• statutory superannuation.
By remunerating Executives through performance and long term incentive plans in addition to their fixed remuneration, 
GrainCorp aims to align the interests of executives with those of all shareholders and increased Company performance.

A more detailed review is provided in the Remuneration Report, in the Directors’ Report.

Interests of Stakeholders (ASX Principle 10)
Code of Conduct
The Company Code of Conduct and Ethics is consistent with ASX Principles 3 and 10 and has been posted to the Company 
website. The Code of Conduct and Ethics specifically provides that any employee who reports a breach of the Code will not be 
disadvantaged or prejudiced.

A review of the Company’s policies is underway in light of the protection for whistleblowers contained in the CLERP 9 amendments 
to the Corporations Act.
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5 Year Financial Highlights

2003 2004 2005 1 2006 1 2007 1

Drivers

Total receivals m/t  2.1  12.0  10.2  12.1  3.0

Outloadings - domestic m/t  4.6  4.5  5.3  5.1  5.7 

Outloadings - international m/t  1.2  5.9  4.7  5.3  1.0 

Carryover m/t  0.9 3.0  3.2 4.9  1.2

Earnings

Total revenue $m  512.9  964.1  702.9  832.9  832.1

EBITDA 2 $m  34.1  114.7 92.2  120.9  31.9

Net profit / (loss) after tax attributable to members $m  (18.2) 25.7  13.5  31.7  (19.8)

Assets & Equity

Total assets $m  606.0  897.5  830.2  975.6  970.2

Net tangible assets per ordinary share 3 $  6.6  6.4  6.3 7.0 6.4 

Total equity $m 275.1  398.6  396.7  412.4  399.0

Debt to equity 4 %  94.8  79.0  74.1  74.0  84.6 

Shareholder Returns

Basic earnings / (loss) per ordinary share cents  (44.8) 43.7 13.9  77.6  (34.5)

Return on equity %  (6.6) 6.4  3.4  7.7  (5.0)

Dividend per ordinary share 5 cents  -  41.0   7.0  50.0  10.0 

Dividend yield per ordinary share 5, 6 %  -  4.7  0.9  8.9  1.5

Dividend per reset preference share 5 cents  -  650.0  650.0  650.0  n/a

Dividend yield per reset preferences share 5, 6 %  -  8.8   9.0  9.3 n/a 

1 2005, 2006 and 2007 are in compliance with Australian equivalent to International Financial Reporting Standards. 
2 EBITDA is earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation. 
3 Excludes reset preference shares at nominal value. 
4 Debt includes an amount for commodities inventory which is offset by an inventory balance. 
5 All dividends were fully franked and yields include franking credit. 
6 Using closing price immediately prior to or on 30 September divided by dividends for year.

Shareholder Information

Shareholder Information
The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 18 December 2007.

Distribution of Ordinary Shares Number of Shareholders

1 – 1,000 6,759

1,1001 – 5,000 4,318

5,001 – 10,000 814

10,001 – 100,000 468

100,001 and over 46

Total 12,405

Twenty Largest Shareholders
Fully Paid and Employee Shares

Number of 
shares held     

Percentage of 
issued capital

1 Grain Growers Association Limited 8,717,046 13.55%

2 Investors Mutual Limited      6,964,968 10.83%

3 Ellerston Capital Limited      2,710,000 4.21%

4 David Groves       1,784,461 2.77%

5 DFA Australia Ltd.      1,746,007 2.71%

6 Nicholas Burton Taylor      1,300,218 2.02%

7 DWS Investment GmbH      1,054,583 1.64%

8 Colonial First State - Global Fund        980,000 1.52%

9 Ronald Lewis Greentree & Bruce Maylon Harris        874,044 1.36%

10 Independent Asset Management Pty. Ltd.        779,751 1.21%

11 Julian Angelo Menegazzo        679,264 1.06%

12 Blackrock Investment Management (Australia) Ltd.        584,511 0.91%

13 Commonwealth Bank (Institutional Group)        565,663 0.88%

14 UBS (Private Clients) (Group)        564,532 0.88%

15 Highclere International Investors Ltd        366,929 0.57%

16 Berge & Nea Der Sarkissian        357,099 0.56%

17 UBS (Custodian Group)        313,282 0.49%

18 Milton Corporation Ltd.        310,099 0.48%

19 Barry Tilley         280,000 0.44%

20 Victorian Farmers Federation Property Trust        270,000 0.42%
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Substantial Shareholders
The following shareholders and their related parties had substantial shareholdings in GrainCorp Limited shares as at 
18 December 2007.

Ordinary Shares

Number of  
shares held

Percentage of  
issued capital

1  Grain Growers Association Limited 8,717,046 13.55

2  Investors Mutual 6,964,968 10.83

Voting Rights
The voting rights attached to each class of shares are set out below:

1 Ordinary shares – on a show of hands every member present in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 
share shall have one vote.

2 Foundation Share

 a.  No ordinary resolution can be passed without the affirmative role of the Foundation Share, except for the appointment  
of elected Directors.

 b. For a special resolution, the Foundation Share carries 75 percent of the total number of votes entitled to be cast.

This page has been left blank intentionally.
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This full financial report covers both GrainCorp Limited as an individual entity and the consolidated entity consisting of GrainCorp 
Limited and its subsidiaries. The financial report is presented in Australian dollars. GrainCorp Limited is a Company limited by 
shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its registered office and principal place of business is:

GrainCorp Limited
Level 17 (Tower 1)
201 Sussex Street
SYDNEY NSW 2000

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s principal activities and its operations is included in the directors’ report on 
pages 28 to 29.

This financial report was authorised for issue by the directors on 28 November 2007. The Company has the power to amend and 
reissue it. 

The directors present their report on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as the Group) consisting of GrainCorp Limited 
(“GrainCorp”) and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 September 2007.

Directors’ Report 28

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 48

Income Statement 49

Balance Sheet 50

Statement of changes in equity 51

Cash Flow Statement 53

Notes to the Financial Statements 

1. Summary of significant accounting policies 54

2. Financial risk management objectives and policies 67

3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements 68

4. Segment information 71
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6. Other income 73

7. Expenses 74

8. Income tax expense  75

9. Cash and cash equivalents (current)  76

10. Trade and other receivables (current) 77

11. Inventories (current) 78

12. Derivative financial instruments (current) 78

13. Non-current assets classified as held for sale (current) 81

14. Receivables (non-current) 81

15. Investments accounted for using the equity method (non-current) 83

16. Other financial assets (non-current) 83

17. Property, plant and equipment (non-current) 84

18. Deferred tax assets (non-current) 86

19. Intangible assets (non-current) 87

20. Trade and other payables (current) 89

21. Borrowings (current) 89

22. Other financial liabilities 90

23. Provisions (current) 91

24. Borrowings (non-current) 92



28 | GrainCorp Limited 2007 Annual Report  | 29  

Directors
The following persons were directors of GrainCorp during the financial year and up to the date of this report:

D.C. Taylor (Chairman)

D.J. Mangelsdorf (Deputy Chairman)

T.B. Keene (Managing Director)

G.D.W. Curlewis

J.W. Eastburn

R.R. Flanery

R.G. Freeman

D.F. Groves

G.T. Lane (appointed 22 February 2007)

S.J. Millear (appointed 22 February 2007)

D.B. Trebeck

L.M. Delahunty (resigned 22 February 2007)

P.W. Grigg (resigned 22 February 2007)

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated.

Principal activities
The nature and scope of the main activities undertaken by the Group during the year were the provision of services primarily 
to the grain industry including:

• receival, handling and storage of grain and other bulk commodities as an agent for marketing organisations, 
end users and growers;

• marketing of grain, wool and other bulk commodities and the operation of grain pools;

• road and rail transport services for bulk commodities;

• provision of farm input products; 

• provision of financial services; and 

• flour milling and mixing services (through investment in Allied Mills). 

Dividends
The following fully franked dividends have been provided for or paid to shareholders during the year:

Ordinary Shares

Cents per Share Amount $’000

Interim for 2007 10 5,773

No other dividends have been recommended or paid during the year.

Directors’ Report

 Review of operations
Ex-farm receivals during the year were 2.3 million tonnes (2006: 10.8 million tonnes) with export shipping of 1 million tonnes 
(2006: 5.3 million tonnes). The consolidated entity recorded a loss after tax of $19.8 million for the financial year compared with  
a profit after tax of $31.7 million for the previous year.

EBITDA decreased from $120.9 million to $31.9 million and this was primarily due to a substantially reduced level of receivals and 
exports. The net loss also included a number of significant items in the year. These were (all after tax):

• Additional provisions for claims of $14.5 million;

• Unrealised mark-to-market gains on derivative/commodity trading of $17.9 million;

• Strong contribution from Allied Mills at $13.7 million (excluding interest on shareholder loans).
A more detailed review of the operations during the financial year and the results of those operations appears earlier in the  
Annual Report.

Significant changes in state of affairs during the financial year
There were no significant changes in the Group’s state of affairs during the year in review. 

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year
Acquisition of Hunter Grain Pty Ltd (Hunter Grain)
On 5 October 2007 the Company announced that it had entered into an agreement to acquire Hunter Grain for $26.5 million, 
subject to any final purchase adjustments.

Hunter Grain is Australia’s largest distributor of imported protein meals principally operating from port distribution centres at 
Kooragang (Newcastle), Brisbane, Geelong and Perth. It also operates a transport division, and a trading business for grain. Hunter 
Grain has a turnover of $250 million and employs 30 staff with a trading office in Sydney and transport office in Cowra.

The acquisition is expected to be completed, subject to customary conditions, by December 2007.

Retirement of Managing Director
The Managing Director, Mr T. B. Keene, has announced that he will retire during 2008. The Board has commenced the recruitment 
process for his successor and the transition will occur sometime in 2008.

Other than reported above, no other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 September 2007 which has significantly affected 
or may significantly affect:

(a) the Group’s operations in future financial years; or

(b) the results of those operations in future financial years; or

(c) the Group’s state of affairs in future financial years.

Likely developments and expected results of operations
Drought
Due to continuing drought conditions across most of the east coast of Australia, receivals will remain low in the next financial year. 
The current estimate is between 3 and 4 million tonnes. The impact on results will be lessened by additional cost management 
measures and increased diversification in revenue generation.
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The directors believe that additional information as to likely developments in the operations of the Group in future financial years, 
including the expected results of those operations, would likely result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group.

Environment
The Group’s operations are subject to various Australian federal and state environmental legislation and regulation. There is no 
environmental regulation specific to the Group.

The directors are not aware of any significant environmental breaches during the financial year.

Information on directors
D.C. (Don) Taylor (Chairman) B.Com., CA, Grad.Cert.Rur.Sc., FAICD, AICD Advanced Program 2005 
Grower from Moonie, Queensland. Chartered Accountant with audit and taxation experience in manufacturing and heavy industry. 
Director of Forest Enterprises Australia Limited. Former Executive Chairman of Grainco Australia Limited and Chairman of 
Carrington Cotton Corporation (previously listed). Chairman of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee, the Trading Risk 
Management Committee, and the GrainCorp Foundation.

D.J. (Dan) Mangelsdorf (Deputy Chairman) B.Agr.Ec. (Hons), GAICD
Grower from West Wyalong, NSW. Chairman of Grain Growers Association Limited. Member of the Trading Risk Management 
Committee and the Remuneration and Nominations Committee.

T.B. (Tom) Keene (Managing Director) B.Ec., FAICD 
Managing Director of GrainCorp Group, Director of GrainCorp AG Finance Limited, and Agricultural Risk Management Services 
Pty Limited. Member of the Trading Risk Management Committee. Chairman of Allied Mills Australia Pty Limited. Member of the 
Rabobank Advisory Board.

G.D.W. (Doug) Curlewis B.A., MBA, FAICD
Company Director from Victoria. Deputy Chairman of Nufarm Limited and Director of GUD Holdings Limited and Sigma 
Pharmaceuticals Limited. Member of Indec Consulting Advisory Board. Former Chairman of Remunerator Australia Pty Ltd. Former 
Managing Director of National Consolidated Limited. Former Director of National Foods Limited, Pacifica Group Limited, The Alfred 
Foundation (Alfred Hospital) and Hamilton Island Limited. Member of the Board Audit Committee.

J.W. (John) Eastburn FAICD
Grower from Baradine, NSW. Director of Grain Growers Association Limited, Member of Board Audit Committee.

R.R. (Ross) Flanery FAICD
Grower from Harden, NSW. Chairman of Hydropower Pty Limited and Director of Envirogen Pty Limited and Grain Growers 
Association Limited. 

R.G. (Rick) Freeman
Grower from Edgeroi, NSW. Company principal of Norseman Machinery Imports Pty Limited. Director of Grain Growers 
Association Limited. 

D.F. (David) Groves B.Com., M.Com., CA, FAICD
Chartered Accountant and Company Director. Director of TASSAL Ltd, Equity Trustees Limited and Kambala (Independent school 
for girls). Member of MIR Management Limited Advisory Council. Member of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee. 

 G.T. (Gerry) Lane GAICD
Grower from Milbrulong, NSW. Founder and Chairman of Erin Vale Farming. Director of Grain Growers Association Limited.

S.J. (Spencer) Millear GAICD
Grower from Willaura, Vic. Committee member of Southern Farming Systems, Streatham Branch. Director of Grain Growers 
Association Limited.

D.B. (David) Trebeck B.Sc.Agr.(Hons), M.Ec., FAICD 
Consultant, Grower and Company Director from Canberra, ACT. Commissioner of the National Water Commission. Director of 
Maersk Australia Pty Limited and the Oceania Business Coordination Board of AP Møller-Maersk. Director of Penrice Soda Holdings 
Limited and PrimeAg Australia Ltd. Chairman of the Board Audit Committee. Former Managing Director of ACIL Tasman Pty Limited. 
Former Director of Incitec Pivot Limited and Pipers Brook Vineyard Limited and The Institute of Public Affairs.

Former directors
L.M. (Leo) Delahunty (Deputy Chairman) FAICD, AICD Advanced Program
Grower from Murtoa, Victoria. Former director of Grain Growers Association Limited and director of Wimmera Racing Limited. Co-
founder and former Director of DIRT Management Pty Limited. Previously Director of Pivot, Incitec Pivot Limited, and Harvest Grain 
Australia. Former chairman of the Trading Risk Management Committee. 
(Resigned 22 February 2007)

P.W. (Paul) Grigg GAICD
Grower from Patchewollock, Victoria. Former director of Grain Growers Association Limited. Former member of the Remuneration 
and Nominations Committee. 
(Resigned 22 February 2007)

Details of directors’ interests in shares and options of GrainCorp are set out in note 34 of the financial statements.

Company secretary
Nigel Hart B.App.Sc. (Systems Ag) (UWS-H), FAICD
Group Executive – Corporate Services and appointed Company secretary in May 2001 for all Group entities, Board Audit Committee 
and Remuneration and Nominations Committee. Director of GrainCorp AG Finance Limited and member of the Trading Risk 
Management Committee.

Directors’ Report continued
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Meetings of directors
The following table sets out the number of meetings of GrainCorp’s directors (including meetings of committees of directors) held 
during the twelve months to 30 September 2007, and the number of meetings attended by each director.

Director Full Board Meetings Board Committee Meetings

Audit
Remuneration & 

Nominations
Trading Risk 
Management

 A B A B A B A B

D.C. Taylor 14 14 ~ ~ 4 4 4 4

D.J. Mangelsdorf 14 14 ~ ~ 3 3 3 3

T.B. Keene 14 14 ~ ~ ~ ~ 4 3

G.D.W. Curlewis 14 14 4 4 ~ ~ ~ ~

J.W. Eastburn 14 14 3 3 ~ ~ ~ ~

R.R. Flanery 14 14 ~ ~ ~ ~ 1 1

R.G. Freeman 14 14 1 1 ~ ~ ~ ~

D. F. Groves 14 13 ~ ~ 4 4 ~ ~

G.T. Lane 9 9 ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~

S.J. Millear 9 9 ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~

D.B. Trebeck 14 13 4 4 ~ ~ ~ ~

L.M. Delahunty 5 5 ~ ~ ~ ~ 1 1

P.W.Grigg 5 5 ~ ~ 1 1 ~ ~

A - Number held during period in office. B - Number attended. ~ - Not a member of the relevant committee.

 Remuneration Report
This report details GrainCorp’s remuneration policy for directors and key management personnel and the links between the 
performance of the Group and individual remuneration outcomes. The report incorporates the disclosure requirements of 
accounting standard AASB 124, as well as those prescribed by the Corporations Act 2001. The disclosures required under 
accounting standards have been transferred from the notes to the financial statements and have been audited. The disclosures in 
Section E are the additional disclosures required by the Corporations Act 2001 and the Corporations Regulations 2001 which have 
not been audited. Details of equity holdings, loans and other transactions with respect to directors and key management personnel 
are disclosed in note 34 to the financial statements.

A.  Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 
(audited)

Managing Director and Senior Executives 

Remuneration strategy and structure
The objective of the Company’s executive reward framework is to ensure reward for performance is competitive and appropriate 
for the results delivered. The framework aligns executive reward with achievement of strategic objectives and the creation of value 
for shareholders, and conforms to market practice for delivery of reward. The Board ensures that executive reward satisfies the 
following key criteria for good reward governance practices:

• competitiveness and reasonableness

• acceptability to shareholders

• performance linkage / alignment of executive compensation

• transparency

• capital management.
In consultation with external remuneration consultants, the Company has structured an executive remuneration framework that is 
market competitive and complimentary to the reward strategy of the organisation.

Alignment to shareholders’ interests is based on the following strategy:

• has economic profit as a core component of plan design 

•  focuses on sustained growth in share price and delivering increasing return on assets as well as focusing the executive on key 
non-financial drivers of value

• attracts and retains high calibre executives.

Alignment to participants’ interests is based on the following strategy:

• rewards capability and experience 

• reflects competitive reward for contribution to growth in shareholder wealth 

• provides a clear structure for earning rewards 

• provides recognition for contribution.

The framework provides a mix of fixed and variable pay, and a blend of short and long-term incentives. As executive responsibility 
increases, the balance of this mix shifts to a higher proportion of “at risk” rewards.

Directors’ Report continued
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Policy
1. This policy applies to the Managing Director, and Senior Executives. It does not apply to non-executive directors.

2. Executive remuneration is composed of three main elements:

a. Base package;
b. Short term incentive (STI) – cash bonus; and
c. Long term incentive (LTI).

3.  The base package is a fixed component of remuneration in that once it is determined the amount does not vary with 
performance. However, individual performance is taken into account when reviewing the quantum of base packages and 
determining the amount of increase, if any, to be provided. There are no guaranteed base pay increases fixed in any senior 
executives’ contracts. Base packages are composed of the cost to the Company of salary, benefits, fringe benefits tax 
and gross-up in relation to costs that do not qualify as Company income tax deductions such as Company superannuation 
contributions in excess of the deductible limits. Add-on costs such as payroll tax and workers compensation insurance are not 
part of base packages.

4.  Flexibility is allowed as to the mix of base packages between salary and benefits so that they better meet the needs of the 
executives. Flexibility is such that the total cost to the Company is not changed by the benefit selections. Statutory obligations 
in relation to superannuation contributions are fulfilled as part of the construct of remuneration packages.

5. Base package levels are:

a. reviewed annually and adjusted on 1 October each year; and

b. benchmarked against market practice at least annually.

6.  Short term incentives are performance related components of remuneration. Performance is judged in three areas, as detailed 
below in Performance of GrainCorp Limited. The performance measures, standards of performance and weightings are 
determined each year for each executive having regard to the nature of the role and business plans.

7.  Long term incentives are performance related components of remuneration. The level of benefit derived by participants relates 
to a combination of factors including earnings per share, total shareholder returns and benchmarking against other ASX listed 
companies.

The performance related components of remuneration for key management personnel are set so that the bonus opportunity of total 
base package is as follows:

Position Target Bonus Maximum Bonus

Managing Director 30% 60%

Senior executives 15 % or 22.5% 30% or 45%

Performance of GrainCorp Limited
Key performance indicators (KPIs) have been established and are monitored to review the performance of the Managing Director 
and key management personnel. The system monitors key objectives in the following three areas:

• Corporate performance

• Business unit performance

• Individual performance

The Board and the Remuneration and Nominations Committee review the performance of the Managing Director and Senior 
Executives through monthly reporting, board presentations, business planning sessions and the key performance indicator system. 

Further details regarding the Remuneration and Nomination Committee can be found in the Corporate Governance Statement 
outlined earlier in the Annual Report.

 Non-Executive Directors
The Company has adopted a remuneration strategy and policy for non-executive directors to enhance corporate performance.

Policy
Non-executive directors are paid their fees out of the maximum aggregate amount approved by shareholders for the remuneration 
of non-executive directors. Non-executive directors do not receive performance-based bonuses and do not participate in equity 
schemes of the Company other than the Non-Executive Director Deferred Share Plan. Non-executive directors are entitled to 
statutory superannuation and where eligible prior to 16 December 2003 will receive a capped retirement benefit. In addition 
to reimbursement of expenses, any allowance paid to directors is in line with Australian Taxation Office reasonable daily travel 
allowance amounts.

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee reviews the non-executive directors’ remuneration arrangements and details are 
then submitted to the Board for its review and approval.

Directors’ fees
The Board recommends to shareholders, from time to time, a quantum of total directors’ fees. Non-executive directors’ annual 
fees are established based on independent advice. With the exception of the Chairman and Deputy Chairman, additional yearly 
fees are paid to directors who are members of committees. The Annual General Meeting of shareholders in 2001 approved a total 
non-executive director remuneration pool of up to $1 million annually.

Non-executive directors’ annual fees since 1 October 2005 are $56,784 per director, $85,176 for the Deputy Chairman and 
$170,352 for the Chairman. With the exception of the Chairman and Deputy Chairman, additional yearly fees of $5,200 are paid to 
directors who are members of committees other than the Board Audit Committee. Yearly fees for the Board Audit Committee are 
$8,320 for members and $15,600 for the Chairman. 

Retirement benefits
In December 2003 the Board resolved to cease any further contributions to non-executive director retirement benefits other than 
statutory entitlements. The benefit accrued by each director prior to 16 December 2003 has been preserved at the accrued level 
and will be paid on retirement in cash and not indexed from the cessation date. The previous policy for retiring non-executive 
directors provided an allowance up to a maximum of their last three years remuneration after nine years service (pro-rata for a 
lesser period with a minimum of three years). Directors appointed post December 2003 are not eligible for a retirement benefit.

Share based compensation
In line with ASX Corporate Governance Council guidelines on non-executive director remuneration, non-executive directors are 
entitled to participate in the GrainCorp Non-Executive Director Deferred Share Plan. They may acquire ordinary shares through 
on market purchases in lieu of fees. However, they are not entitled to participate in GrainCorp’s Employee Share Acquisition Plan, 
Employee Exempt Share Plan, Deferred Employee Share Plan or Performance Share Rights Plan.
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B. Details of remuneration (audited)
Details of the remuneration of the directors and the key management personnel of GrainCorp Limited and the Group are set out in 
the following tables.

Directors of GrainCorp Limited 

2007 Short term benefits

Post 
employment 

benefits
Termination 

benefits
Share based 

payments Total

 Cash salary 
and fees

Cash bonus Non-
monetary 
benefits

Super- 
annuation

Retirement / 
redundancy

Share 
sacrifice

Share 
rights1 

Name $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

D.C. Taylor 81,398 - - 96,102 - 5,000 - 182,500

D.J. Mangelsdorf 53,831 - - 6,656 - 20,000 - 80,487

T.B. Keene2 620,531 293,883 78,645 48,947 - 20,000 434,852 1,496,858

G.D.W. Curlewis 67,664 - - 6,090 - - - 73,754

J.W. Eastburn 57,751 - - 5,717 - 5,769 - 69,237

R.R. Flanery - - - 69,114 - - - 69,114

R.G. Freeman 60,356 - - 5,427 - - - 65,783

D.F. Groves 2,860 - - 31,772 - 35,721 - 70,353

G.T. Lane3 33,415 - - 3,007 - - - 36,422

S.J. Millear 3 33,415 - - 3,007 - - - 36,422

D.B. Trebeck 28,101 - - 33,041 - 25,000 - 86,142

L.M. Delahunty4 25,225 - - 14,054 - - - 39,279

P.W. Grigg4 26,224 - - 2,360 - - - 28,584

Total 1,090,771 293,883 78,645 325,294 - 111,490 434,852 2,334,935

1 Based on an independent valuation by KPMG Actuaries performed for rights granted in 2005, 2006, and 2007 in accordance with AASB 2 Share based payment. 
Share rights granted only have value to the recipient if the performance conditions are fulfilled.

2 T.B. Keene is the Managing Director of the GrainCorp Group and the only executive director on the Board. 
3 G. T. Lane and S.J. Millear were appointed 22 February 2007.
4 L.M. Delahunty and P.W. Grigg resigned 22 February 2007.

 Since 2005 and in accordance with AASB 2 Share-based Payment, Mr. T.B. Keene has had a total amount of $909,610 included 
as remuneration for share rights granted to him. As yet, no amount of this has resulted in either shares being issued or any other 
transfer of benefits. Given that Mr. T.B. Keene will retire during the next financial year, this position is not expected to change.

2006 Short term benefits Post 
employment 

benefits

Termination 
benefits

Share based 
payments

Total

 Cash salary 
and fees

Cash 
bonus

Non-monetary 
benefits

Super- 
annuation

Retirement / 
redundancy

Share 
sacrifice

Share 
rights1 

Name $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

D.C. Taylor 122,304 - - 46,135 - 5,000 - 173,439

D.J. Mangelsdorf 41,938 - - 5,574 - 20,000 - 67,512

T.B. Keene3 573,216 189,571 84,374 31,976 891,000 20,000 185,528 1,975,665

G.D.W.Curlewis 65,282 - - 5,857 - - - 71,139

J.W. Eastburn4 37,755 - - 3,261 - 962 - 41,978

R.R. Flanery 66,572 - - 5,580 - 1,000 - 73,152

R.G. Freeman 65,190 - - 5,867 - - - 71,057

D.F. Groves 24,557 - - 12,955 - 25,385 - 62,897

D.B. Trebeck 47,330 - - 6,510 - 25,000 - 78,840

L.M. Delahunty 43,114 - - 36,547 - - - 79,661

R.L. Greentree2 42,462 - - 3,035 - - - 45,497

P.W. Grigg 61,015 - - 5,364 - - - 66,379

Total 1,190,735 189,571 84,374 168,661 891,000 97,347 185,528 2,807,216

1  Based on an independent valuation by KPMG Actuaries performed for rights granted in 2005 and 2006 in accordance with AASB 2 Share based payment. 
Share rights granted only have value to the recipient if the performance conditions are fulfilled.

2 R.L. Greentree resigned 23 December 2005 and declined to receive a retirement benefit of $336,809.
3 T.B. Keene is the Managing Director of the GrainCorp Group and the only executive director on the Board. In accordance with Clause 2.5 Termination Upon Expiry 

of Term of the Managing Directors’ Service Agreement, the Board determined to make an additional ex-gratia payment of 12 months’ remuneration package of 
$891,000 to the Managing Director payable at the end of his tenure. This amount has been provided for in the accounts but no payment has been made in the 
financial year.

4 J.W. Eastburn was appointed 22 February 2006.
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Other key management personnel 
The key management personnel are the directors of GrainCorp Limited and the following executives with authority and responsibility 
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group and the Company in the financial year. They include the five 
executives who received the highest emoluments in the Company and the Group during the year ended 30 September 2007.

Name Position

J. P. Breeze        General Manager, AG Haul

N.P. Hart        Group Executive - Corporate Services & Company Secretary

M. P. Henry General Manager, AG Plus (appointed 26 February 2007)

A.N. Johns       Chief Development Officer

K.J. Lloyd   General Manager, Storage & Handling

J. de Salis General Manager, AG Finance

A. K. Scott Chief Financial Officer (appointed 1 May 2007)

S. J. Tainsh       General Manager, Marketing

S.G.B. Bird      Chief Financial Officer (resigned 23 February 2007)

J. Molenaar General Manager, AG Plus (resigned 1 December 2006)

Details of the remuneration of key management personnel other than directors are set out in the table below.

2007 Short term benefits

Post 
employment 

benefits
Termination 

benefits
Share based 

payments Total

 Cash salary 
and fees

Cash 
bonus

Non-monetary 
Benefits

Superannuation Retirement / 
Redundancy

Share 
sacrifice

Share 
Rights 1 

Name $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

J. P. Breeze        159,245 72,315 7,234 41,102 - 2,500 71,731 354,127

N.P. Hart        249,590 83,353 48,718 12,863 - 1,000 95,590 491,114

M.P. Henry2 123,015 36,106 24,300 7,421 - - - 190,842

A.N. Johns       288,111 94,517 36,407 12,846 - 1,000 97,541 530,422

K.J. Lloyd   308,995 63,369 27,366 31,048 - - 103,392 534,170

J. de Salis 214,670 61,644 10,553 12,789 - 231 81,423 381,310

A. K. Scott3 89,362 35,082 9,658 4,835 - - - 138,937

S. J. Tainsh       261,719 89,322 2,592 13,681 - 5,000 97,541 469,855

S.G.B. Bird4      177,398 - 13,162 8,667 - - - 199,227

J. Molenaar5 49,570 - 24,765 4,940 - - - 79,275

Total 1,921,675 535,708 204,755 150,192 - 9,731 547,218 3,369,279

1 Based on an independent valuation by KPMG Actuaries performed for rights granted in 2005, 2006, and 2007 in accordance with AASB 2 Share based payment. 
Share rights granted only have value to the recipient if the performance conditions are fulfilled.

2 M.P. Henry was appointed 26 February 2007.
3 A. K. Scott was appointed on 1 May 2007.
4 S. G. B. Bird resigned on 23 February 2007. Performance share rights were forfeited.
5 J Molenaar resigned on 1 December 2006.

 Since 2005 and in accordance with AASB 2 Share-based Payment, key management personnel other than directors have had a 
total amount of $1,340,112 included as remuneration for share rights granted to them. As yet, no amount of this has resulted in 
either shares being issued or any other transfer of benefits. 

2006 Short term benefits

Post 
employment 

benefits

Termination 
benefits

Share based 
payments

Total

 Cash salary 
and fees

Cash 
bonus

Non-monetary 
Benefits

Superannuation Retirement / 
Redundancy

Share 
sacrifice

Share 
Rights 1 

Name $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

S.G.B. Bird 239,804 38,171 18,072 20,065 - - 28,696 344,808

J.P. Breeze 151,000 21,837 2,516 69,356 - 577 20,033 265,319

N.P. Hart 212,575 35,672 35,043 12,340 - 1,000 26,531 323,161

A.N. Johns       225,442 59,280 37,301 12,340 - 1,000 27,072 362,435

K.J. Lloyd 329,451 58,289 38,347 12,265 - - 28,696 467,048

J. Molenaar4 148,142 20,250 19,446 8,297 - - - 196,135

J. de Salis 202,252 30,576 11,996 12,265 - - 22,741 279,830

S. J. Tainsh 236,743 66,203 5,700 18,064 - 5,000 27,072 358,782

J. Di Leo2 47,537 - 3,019 1,401 1,078,445 - - 1,130,402

A. Single3 26,744 - 13,730 1,939 224,511 - - 266,924

Total 1,819,690 330,278 185,170 168,332 1,302,956 7,577 180,841 3,994,844

1 Based on an independent valuation by KPMG Actuaries performed for rights granted in 2005 and 2006, in accordance with AASB 2 Share based payment. 
Share rights granted only have value to the recipient if the performance conditions are fulfilled.

2 J. Di Leo became Managing Director of Allied Mills on 7 November 2005 and the GrainCorp position of Chief Operating Officer was made redundant on 4 November 
2005. Mr Di Leo received a final payment of $1,078,445. Performance share rights were forfeited.

3 A. Single resigned 18 November 2005 with final payment of $224,511. Performance share rights were forfeited.
4 J. Molenaar was appointed 23 January 2006, resigned 1 December 2006.
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C. Service agreements (audited)
The following terms set out the service agreement of the Managing Director, GrainCorp Limited, Mr. T.B. Keene.

Agreement with Managing Director

(i) Term of Contract A three year contract commenced on 27 August 2003 with an option for the 
Company to renew for a further two years. The Board resolved to exercise the option 
with the contract to expire on 27 August 2008. Mr Keene has stated his intention to 
retire during 2008.

(ii) Remuneration The remuneration package is made up as follows:

•  Base package reviewed annually and benchmarked against an agreed relevant 
peer group. 

•  Short Term Incentive (STI). The total available quantum is 60% of base package 
with a target of 30%.

•  Long Term Incentive (LTI). Performance Share Rights are based on EPS and TSR 
hurdles, as detailed in Performance Conditions, below. Total available quantum 
120% of base package with a target of 60%.

(iii) Termination

Managing Director initiated termination •  12 months’ notice required and the Company may pay Base Package in lieu of 
notice.

•  Pro-rata STI for the year in which the termination occurs.

• An additional ex-gratia payment may be made at the discretion of the Board.

Company initiated terminations 
without cause

Current contract provides for 12 months’ notice. In addition the Managing Director 
would receive: 

•  12 months’ notice required and the Company may pay Base Package in lieu of 
notice; 

•  Pro-rata STI having regard to the Board’s assessment of performance to the date 
of termination, and

•  Severance payment of one times the total of the annual rate of Base Package and 
the target STI payout, at the date of termination.

Managing Director end of term payment In accordance with Clause 2.5 Termination Upon Expiry of Term the Board 
determined in their absolute discretion in December 2005, to make an additional 
ex-gratia payment of 12 months’ remuneration package to the Managing Director in 
recognition of his 42 years of service, his success as Managing Director and that a 
long term incentive plan has only applied to the latter part of his tenure. The payment 
is contingent upon his not being dismissed or resigning without the consent of the 
Board prior to the expiration of the contracted term.

 Key management personnel
All key management personnel are employed under ongoing common law employment contracts.

The Company may terminate an employment contract in the event of redundancy by providing four or five weeks’ notice depending 
on the age of the employee, with a redundancy benefit of three weeks’ pay for each completed year of service to a maximum of 
fifty-two weeks’ pay.

In the event of redundancy arising from a merger, twelve months’ remuneration is payable, plus the standard redundancy payment 
noted above.

In the instance of serious misconduct the Company can terminate employment at any time. Termination payments are generally not 
payable on resignation or dismissal for serious misconduct.

D. Share-based compensation (audited)
Shares under option and rights
During the financial year, share rights were granted under the GrainCorp Performance Rights Share Plan, detailed below. No other 
options have been granted during or since the end of the financial year to any directors or key management personnel of the 
Company and Group.

Performance Rights Share Plan
The GrainCorp Performance Rights Share Plan (“Plan”) provides Eligible Employees the opportunity to participate in competitive 
performance based remuneration incentives.

The Plan enables selected Eligible Employees (including the Managing Director) to participate in a long-term performance based 
incentive plan to acquire Rights as part of their remuneration and to share in GrainCorp’s financial performance. The Plan is 
intended to encourage Eligible Employees to have a greater involvement in the achievement of GrainCorp’s objectives, which will 
benefit all shareholders. An Eligible Employee is someone who is a permanent full time employee of the GrainCorp Group. 

Under the Plan, an Eligible Employee may be granted a number of Rights, each Right may be converted into one share on the 
satisfaction of certain Performance Conditions. The number of rights available to be granted, other than the initial grant, is 
determined by the following process:

(i) Base salary multiplied by standard grant LTI value %;

(ii) Divided by the Volume Weighted Average Share Price for the period 1 September – 30 September.

There is no amount payable for the grant of a Right and there is no exercise price payable on the exercise of a Right. Rights may be 
exercised on the exercise date (being the date on which the Performance Conditions are satisfied). Rights will expire (lapse) on the 
fifth anniversary of the date they are granted. 

Performance conditions
Rights vest only if certain performance conditions are fulfilled. The performance conditions include two measures: 

• the threshold Earnings Per Share (“EPS”) growth for the Company’s shares must be at least 4% average per annum compound 
in respect of each measurement period; and

• the Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) ranking for the Company is at least equal to the 50th percentile of the S&P/ASX 200 
Index (excluding companies in the resources, biotechnology and property trust sectors) in respect of each measurement period. 
TSR is broadly the change in the share price over the measurement period plus dividends notionally reinvested in the Company 
shares.
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There are three levels of achievement or ‘standards’ for each of the performance conditions – the threshold level, the target level 
and the stretch level:

•  the threshold level represents the minimum acceptable level of performance that needs to be achieved in order to receive the 
specified award for that performance objective. 25% of the available rights will vest if the threshold is achieved.

• the target level represents a satisfactory level relative to past and expected achievements. 50% of the available rights will vest 
if the target is achieved.

• the stretch level represents a level of clearly outstanding performance and achievement beyond target level. 100% of the 
available rights will vest if the stretch is achieved.

The measurement period for the purposes of the Performance Conditions is in blocks of three financial years, commencing on each 
grant date. The first grant date was 1 October 2004. Subsequent annual grants are made at the commencement of each financial 
year on 1 October.

At the end of the measurement period, if an Eligible Employee is still employed by the Company, a calculation will be made by the 
Company as to the actual amount of the award. The eligible award for each threshold, target and stretch levels will be calculated 
and added together and then apportioned across the performance objectives in accordance with the applicable weightings. A pro-
rata calculation will apply between the threshold and target level as well as between the target and the stretch level. Performance 
above the stretch level will not generate additional awards. Performance below the threshold level will not generate any award.

The base EPS for each annual rights grant is calculated as NPAT divided by the total number of ordinary shares on issue.

The vesting of each grant of rights in respect of EPS for a three year period is subject to achieving the following:

Threshold  Actual EPS performance over the period results in aggregate EPS that is equivalent to being at or above 4%  
per annum compound EPS growth over the three year period.

Target   Actual EPS performance over the period results in aggregate EPS that is equivalent to being at or above 7.5% 
per annum compound EPS growth over the three year period.

Stretch   Actual EPS performance over the period results in aggregate EPS that is equivalent to being at or above 12% 
per annum compound EPS growth over the three year period. 

The TSR commencement base for each annual rights grant is the Volume Weighted Average Price (“VWAP”) share price for the 
period 1 September to 30 September immediately prior to the granting of the rights e.g. VWAP for the period 1 September to 
30 September 2006 is used in the calculation of the number of rights granted and as the base for the measurement of future 
performance for rights granted on 1 October 2006.

 The vesting of each grant of Rights in respect of each measurement period is as follows:

Performance level

TSR EPS Growth (average pa compound)

Standard Cumulative Portion 
of Grant of Rights 

to Vest

Standard Cumulative Portion 
of Grant of Rights 

to Vest

Cumulative Total 
Vesting of Share 
Rights in Grant

< Threshold <50th percentile 0% <4% 0% 0%

Threshold 50th percentile 12.5% 4% 12.5% 25%

Between Threshold 
& Target

>50th & <60th 
percentiles

Pro-rata >4% & <7.5% Pro-rata Pro-rata

Target 60th percentile 25% 7.5% 25% 50%

Between Target & 
Stretch

>60th & <75th 
percentiles

Pro-rata >7.5% & <12% Pro-rata Pro-rata

Stretch & above 75th percentile + 50% 12%+ 50% 100%

If vesting of the grant of Rights is not achieved at the end of the measurement period, re-testing will occur at the end of the 4th and 
5th years, and improved performance over the four or five year measurement periods will produce additional vesting.

Performance rights holdings provided as remuneration
The assessed weighted average fair value at grant date on 1 October 2006 was $5.81. The fair value at grant date was 
independently determined using Monte Carlo Simulation stock pricing techniques taking into account the GrainCorp share price 
and dividends, total shareholder returns of the peer group of companies, and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the rights.

The model inputs for rights granted during the year included:

(a) share price at initial grant date: $8.00 

(b) expected price volatility of the Company’s shares: 21.4% 

(c) expected dividend yield: 4.0% 

(d) expected franking rate: 100%

(e) risk-free interest rate: 5.9% 

The number of rights over ordinary shares in the Company provided as remuneration to the directors of GrainCorp Limited or other 
key management personnel of the Group, and the shares issues on the exercise of such rights, are set out overleaf.
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Name Number of rights granted  
during the year

Number of rights vested  
during the year

Number of ordinary shares 
issued on exercise of rights 

during the year

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Directors of GrainCorp Limited

T.B. Keene - 142,861 - - - -

Other key management 
personnel of the Group

J.P. Breeze 17,897 11,841 - - - -

N.P. Hart 24,613 15,681 - - - -

M. P. Henry1 - - - - - -

A.N. Johns 25,115 16,001 - - - -

K.J. Lloyd 26,622 16,961 - - - -

J. de Salis 20,315 13,441 - - - -

A. K. Scott2 - - - - - -

S. J. Tainsh 25,115 16,001 - - - -

S.G.B. Bird3 - 16,961 - - - -

J. Molenaar4 - - - - - -

1 M. P. Henry appointed 26 February 2007.
2 A. K. Scott appointed 1 May 2007.
3 S.G. Bird resigned 23 February 2007 
4 J. Molenaar appointed 23 January 2006, resigned 1 December 2006.

The first measurement period for the performance rights issued on 1 October 2004 was the three year period to 30 September 
2007. No rights vested as at 30 September 2007 as the performance conditions were not fulfilled for this three year period.  
Re-testing will occur at the end of the 4th and 5th years.

E. Additional information for remuneration report (unaudited)
Remuneration and Nominations Committee
The Remuneration and Nominations Committee operates under the authority of the Board and the scope of the Committee’s role 
extends from non-executive directors through executive management and all employees of the Company. Further detail regarding 
the Remuneration and Nominations Committee can be found in the Corporate Governance Statement. 

Cash bonuses and options/performance rights 
For each cash bonus and grant of performance rights included in the tables on pages 36 to 44, the percentage of the available 
bonus or grant that was paid, or that vested, in the financial year, and the percentage that was forfeited because the person did not 
meet the service and performance criteria is set out below. 

No part of the bonuses is payable in future years. The performance rights first vest after three years, providing the vesting 
conditions are met (see pages 41 to 42). No performance rights vested in the financial year. No performance rights will vest if 
the conditions are not satisfied, hence the minimum value of the performance rights yet to vest is nil. The maximum value of the 
performance rights yet to vest has been determined as the amount of the grant date fair value that is yet to be expensed. 

 Cash bonus Performance rights

Name
Paid 
%

Forfeited 
%

Year 
granted

Forfeited 
%

Financial year in which 
rights may vest

Minimum total value 
of grant yet to vest

$

Maximum total value 
of grant yet to vest

$

Directors of GrainCorp Limited

T.B. Keene 68 32 2006 - 30/9/09 nil -

2005 - 30/9/08 nil 145,355

2004 - 30/9/07 nil -

Other key management personnel of the Group

J.P. Breeze 80 20 2006 - 30/9/09 nil 23,385

2005 - 30/9/08 nil 12,048

2004 - 30/9/07 nil -

N.P. Hart 67 33 2006 - 30/9/09 nil 32,161

2005 - 30/9/08 nil 15,955

2004 - 30/9/07 nil -

M. P. Henry1 57 43 - - - - -

A.N. Johns 75 25 2006 - 30/9/09 nil 32,187

2005 - 30/9/08 nil 16,280

2004 - 30/9/07 nil -

K.J. Lloyd 47 53 2006 - 30/9/09 nil 34,786

2005 - 30/9/08 nil 17,257

2004 - 30/9/07 nil -

J. de Salis 60 40 2006 - 30/9/09 nil 26,545

2005 - 30/9/08 nil 13,676

2004 - 30/9/07 nil -

A. K. Scott2 67 33 - - - - -

S. J. Tainsh 71 29 2006 - 30/9/09 nil 32,817

2005 - 30/9/08 nil 16,280

2004 - 30/9/07 nil -

S.G.B. Bird3 - - 2005 100 - - -

2004 100 - - -

J. Molenaar4 - - - - - - -

1 M. P. Henry appointed 26 February 2007.
2 A. K. Scott appointed 1 May 2007.
3 S.G. Bird resigned 23 February 2007
4 J. Molenaar appointed 23 January 2006, resigned 1 December 2006.
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Options and performance rights holdings
The number of rights over ordinary shares in the Company held by the Managing Director and each of the key management 
personnel of the Group, including their personally-related entities, are set out below.

Name Balance at 
the start 

of the year

Number 
granted 

during the 
year as 

remuneration

% Of total 
remuneration 

during the 
year

Exercised 
during the 

year

Forfeited 
during the 

year

Expired 
during the 

year

Accrued 
balance 

at the end 
of the 
year

Vested and 
exercisable 
at the end 
of the year

Directors of GrainCorp Limited

T.B. Keene 326,312 - - - - - 326,312 -

Other key management personnel of the Group 

J.P. Breeze 42,252 17,897 - - - - 60,149 -

N.P. Hart 55,595 24,613 - - - - 80,568 -

M. P. Henry1 - - - - - - - -

A.N. Johns 57,097 25,115 - - - - 82,212 -

K.J. Lloyd 60,522 26,622 - - - - 87,144 -

J. de Salis 47,961 20,315 - - - - 68,276 -

A. K. Scott2 - - - - - - - -

S. J. Tainsh 57,097 25,115 - - - - 82,212 -

S.G.B. Bird3 60,522 - - - - (60,522) - -

J. Molenaar4 - - - - - - - -

1 M. P. Henry appointed 26 February 2007.
2 A. K. Scott appointed 1 May 2007.
3 S.G. Bird resigned 23 February 2007
4 J. Molenaar appointed 23 January 2006, resigned 1 December 2006.

 Insurance of officers
During the financial year, the Group has paid, or agreed to pay, premiums to insure persons who are, or have been, an officer of the 
Company or a related entity, or any past, present or future director or officer of the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or related 
entities. The contracts prohibit disclosure of the amount of the premium paid. The liabilities insured include costs and expenses 
that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that may be brought against the officers in their capacity as officers 
of entities in the Group.

Proceedings on behalf of the Company
No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the Court under section 237 of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

Non-audit services
The Company may decide to employ the external auditor on assignments additional to its statutory audit duties where the 
auditor’s expertise and experience with the Company and/or the Group are important. Details of the amounts paid to the auditor 
(PricewaterhouseCoopers) for audit and non-audit services provided during the year are set out in note 31.

In accordance with the advice received from the Board Audit Committee, the Board is satisfied that the provision of non-audit 
services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The directors 
are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by the auditor did not compromise the auditor independence requirements of 
the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

• All non-audit services have been reviewed by the Board Audit Committee to ensure they do not impact the integrity and 
objectivity of the auditor; and

• None of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code of Ethics  
of Professional Accountants.

A copy of the auditors’ independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on  
page 48 and forms part of this report.

Rounding of amounts to nearest thousand dollars
The Company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/0100 issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission 
(ASIC), relating to the “rounding off” of amounts in the directors’ report and financial report. Amounts in the directors’ report and 
financial report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars in accordance with that Class Order, or in certain cases, to 
the nearest dollar.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

D. C. Taylor    
Chairman

Sydney,  
28 November 2007
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration
As lead auditor for the audit of GrainCorp Limited for the year ended 30 September 2007, I declare that to the best of my 
knowledge and belief, there have been:

a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of GrainCorp Limited and the entities it controlled during the period.

MK Graham 
Partner,
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Sydney, 28 November 2007

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
For the year ended 30 September 2007

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
ABN 52 780 433 757

Darling Park Tower 2
201 Sussex Street
GPO BOX 2650
SYDNEY NSW 1171
DX 77 Sydney
Australia

www.pwc.com/au
Telephone +61 2 8266 0000
Facsimile +61 2 8266 9999

 Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue from continuing operations 5 824,874 815,999 21,259 64,356

Other income 6 7,215 16,896 4 -

Goods purchased for resale (630,726) (487,719) - -

Raw materials and consumables used (18,536) (27,344) - -

Employee benefits expense (101,895) (133,116) (7,683) (11,968)

Depreciation and amortisation expense 7 (41,374) (42,478) - -

Finance costs – reset preference share dividends 7 - (7,800) - (7,800)

Finance costs – other charges 7 (26,140) (23,838) (12,934) (9,081)

Repairs and maintenance (8,148) (16,641) - -

Other expenses (54,625) (52,214) (838) (934)

Share of net profits of associates accounted for using the equity method 37 13,715 5,068 - -

(Loss) / profit before income tax (35,640) 46,813 (192) 34,573

Income tax benefit/ (expense) 8 15,861 (15,076) 3,286 1,815

(Loss) / profit from continuing operations (19,779) 31,737 3,094 36,388

Profit attributable to minority interest (7) (3) - -

(Loss) / profit attributable to equity holders of GrainCorp Limited (19,786) 31,734 3,094 36,388

Cents Cents

Earnings per share for profit from continuing operations attributable to 
ordinary equity holders of the Company   

Basic earnings per share 40 (34.5) 77.6

Diluted earnings per share 40 n/a 75.7

 
The above income statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Income Statement
For the year ended 30 September 2007
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Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9 2,194 23,577 1,260 249
Trade and other receivables 10 184,438 213,017 11,572 23,424
Inventories 11 124,634 134,238 - -
Derivative financial instruments 12 32,504 1,671 - -

343,770 372,503 12,832 23,673
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 13 1,845 898 - -
Total current assets 345,615 373,401 12,832 23,673
Non-current assets
Receivables 14 28,147 28,147 106,885 102,464
Investments accounted for using the equity method 15 86,290 72,575 - -
Other financial assets 16 4,599 2,539 347,937 345,968
Property, plant and equipment 17 441,695 461,903 - -
Deferred tax assets 18 44,458 19,588 22,764 6,219
Intangible assets 19 19,430 17,442 - -
Total non-current assets 624,619 602,194 477,586 454,651
Total assets 970,234 975,595 490,418 478,324
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 20 121,536 163,757 2,933 17,417
Borrowings 21 111,502 139,779 17,399 42,132
Derivative financial instruments 12 28,395 13,399 - -
Other financial liabilities 22 409 409 - -
Current tax liabilities 684 - - 2,398
Provisions 23 41,181 27,839 - 2,227
Total current liabilities 303,707 345,183 20,332 64,174
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 24 228,066 188,945 200,275 153,959
Other financial liabilities 22 1,567 1,976 - -
Deferred tax liabilities 25 34,733 23,732 204 27
Provisions 26 3,140 3,400 665 757
Total non-current liabilities 267,506 218,053 201,144 154,743
Total liabilities 571,213 563,236 221,476 218,917
Net assets 399,021 412,359 268,942 259,407
Equity
Contributed equity 27 237,339 226,872 237,339 226,872
Reserves 28 11,557 9,810 11,557 9,810
Retained earnings 28 150,030 175,589 20,046 22,725
Parent entity interest 398,926 412,271 268,942 259,407
Minority interest 29 95 88 - -
Total equity 399,021 412,359 268,942 259,407

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Balance Sheet
As at 30 September 2007

Consolidated

Attributable to equity holders of the parent Minority 
interest

Total 
equity

Contributed 
equity

Reset 
preference 

shares

Retained 
earnings

Capital 
reserve

Share 
option 
reserve

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 30 September 2005 103,772 115,553 176,026 - 1,277 396,628 85 396,713

Correction of error 
(note 3(b))

- - 4,208 - - 4,208 - 4,208

103,772 115,553 180,234 - 1,277 400,836 85 400,921

Adjustment on adoption of 
AASB 132 and AASB 139, 
net of tax - (107,240) (13,879) - - (121,119) - (121,119)

At 1 October 2005 103,772 8,313 166,355 - 1,277 279,717 85 279,802

Profit for the year - - 31,734 - - 31,734 3 31,737

Total income /expense for 
the year - - 31,734 - - 31,734 3 31,734

Transfers - (8,313) - 8,313 - - - -

Reset preference shares 
converted to ordinary 
shares 122,986 - - 15 - 123,001 - 123,001

Dividends provided for or 
paid

- - (22,500) - - (22,500) - (22,500)

Share-based payments 114 - - - 205 319 - 319

At 30 September 2006 226,872 - 175,589 8,328 1,482 412,271 88 412,359

Loss for the year - - (19,786) - - (19,786) 7 (19,779)

Total income /expense for 
the year - - (19,786) - - (19,786) 7 (19,786)

Dividend reinvestment plan 4,372 - - - - 4,372 - 4,372

Share buy-back (597) - - - - (597) - (597)

Share purchase plan 6,470 - - - - 6,470 - 6,470

Dividends provided for or 
paid

- - (5,773) - - (5,773) - (5,773)

Share-based payments 222 - - - 1,747 1,969 - 1,969

At 30 September 2007 237,339 - 150,030 8,328 3,229 398,926 95 399,021

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

 

Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 September 2007
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Parent entity

Attributable to equity holders of the parent Minority 
interest

Total 
equity

Contributed 
equity

Reset 
preference 

shares

Retained 
earnings

Capital 
reserve

Share 
option 
reserve

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 30 September 2005 103,772 115,553 22,126 - 1,277 242,728 - 242,728

Adjustment on adoption of 
AASB- Interpretation 11 
(note 1 (a)) - - 1,590 - - 1,590 - 1,590

103,772 115,553 23,716 - 1,277 244,318 - 244,318

Adjustment on adoption of 
AASB 132 and AASB 139, 
net of tax - (107,240) (14,879) - - (122,119) - (121,119)

At 1 October 2005 103,772 8,313 8,837 - 1,277 122,199 - 122,199

Profit for the year - - 36,388 - - 36,388 - 36,388

Total income /expense for 
the year - - 36,388 - - 36,388 - 36,388

Transfers - (8,313) - 8,313 - - - -

Reset preference shares 
converted to ordinary 
shares 122,986 - - 15 - 123,001 - 123,001

Dividends provided for 
or paid

- - (22,500) - - (22,500) - (22,500)

Share-based payments 114 - - - 205 319 - 319

At 30 September 2006 226,872 - 22,725 8,328 1,482 259,407 - 259,407

Profit for the year - - 3,094 - - 3,094 - 3,094

Total income /expense for 
the year - - 3,094 - - 3,094 - 3,094

Dividend reinvestment plan 4,372 - - - - 4,372 - 4,372

Share buy-back (597) - - - - (597) - (597)

Share purchase plan 6,470 - - - - 6,470 - 6,470

Dividends provided for 
or paid

- - (5,773) - - (5,773) - (5,773)

Share-based payments 222 - - - 1,747 1,969 - 1,969

At 30 September 2007 237,339 - 20,046 8,328 3,229 268,942 - 268,942

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

For the year ended 30 September 2007

Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers 897,454 882,712 13,887 12,816

Payments to suppliers and employees (913,371) (778,420) (14,869) (13,767)

(15,917) 104,292 (982) (951)

Interest received 4,943 4,381 7,702 4,752

Interest paid

(includes reset preference share dividends in 2006) (24,412) (31,769) (11,671) (16,357)

Income taxes refunded/ (paid) 8,592 (11,790) (2,836) 6,224

Net inflow (outflow) from operating activities 38 (26,794) 65,114 (7,787) (6,332)

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment 17 (20,903) (24,048) - -

Payments for computer software 19 (3,311) (2,938) - -

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,750 2,011 -

Payments for investment/business (3,603) (1,194) - (2,143)

Dividends received 282 48 282 48

Deposit bond for pools funding (net) 4,930 (1,075) - -

Loans to related parties - - - -

Loans repaid by related parties 126 - - -

Net inflow (outflow) from investing activities (20,729) (27,196) 282 (2,095)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings 203,000 117,500 60,605 33,573

Repayment of borrowings (140,000) (172,810) (22,769) (9,353)

(Repayment) / issue of deposit notes (net) (7,538) 18,169 - -

Share buy back (597) - (597) -

Share purchase plan 6,470 - 6,470

Dividends paid – ordinary shares 30 (13,676) (10,225) (13,676) (10,225)

Net inflow (outflow) from financing activities 47,659 (47,366) 30,033 13,995

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 136 (9,448) 22,528 5,568

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 2,058 11,506 (21,268) (26,836)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 9 2,194 2,058 1,260 (21,268)

The above cash flow statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

 

Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 30 September 2007
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial report includes separate financial statements 
for GrainCorp Limited as an individual entity and the consolidated entity consisting of GrainCorp Limited and its subsidiaries, 
referred to hereafter as the Group.

(a) Basis of preparation 
This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, and the Corporations Act 2001.

Compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
Australian Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to International Reporting Standards (AIFRS). Compliance with 
AIFRS ensures that the consolidated financial statements and notes of GrainCorp Limited comply with IFRS. The parent entity 
financial statements and notes also comply with IFRS except that it has elected to apply the relief provided to parent entities in 
respect of certain disclosure requirements contained in AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation.

Early adoption of standards 
The Group has elected to apply the following pronouncements to the annual reporting period beginning 1 October 2006; whether 
or not they have direct application to the Group’s activities:

(i)  Revised AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements (issued October 2006).

This includes applying the revised standard to the comparatives in accordance with AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors. No adjustments to any of the financial statements were required, but certain disclosures are no 
longer required and have therefore been omitted.

(ii)  AASB-Interpretation 11 AASB 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions, AASB 2007-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB Interpretation 11.

The interpretation stipulates that where share-based transactions are accounted for as equity-settled in the consolidated financial 
statements of the parent, a subsidiary shall account for the services received from its employees in return for share-based 
payments as a charge to profit or loss, with a corresponding increase recognised in equity as a contribution from the parent.

AASB-Interpretation 11 is applied retrospectively.

The Group treats all share-based transactions with Group employees as equity settled. The result of adopting AASB-Interpretation 
11 is that the charge to profit or loss of share-based payments for the year ended 30 September 2005 taken up by GrainCorp 
Limited on transition to AIFRS of $1,590,000 as a decrease in its retained earnings, has been transferred to the Group’s current 
staff employment subsidiary GrainCorp Operations Limited.

Retained earnings of GrainCorp Limited increase by $1,590,000 with a corresponding increase in investments in subsidiaries. 
There is no effect on the Group.

Historical cost convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial 
assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments), and commodity inventories, at fair value through profit or loss. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 September 2007

Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with AIFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a 
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements 
are disclosed in note 3.

(b) Principles of consolidation

(i) Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of GrainCorp Limited (referred to 
as the Company or parent entity) as at 30 September 2007 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. GrainCorp 
Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in this financial report as the consolidated entity or the Group.

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the parent entity has the power to govern the financial and operating policies, 
generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential  
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the parent entity controls  
another entity.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised 
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies 
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Minority interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated income statement and balance 
sheet respectively.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the individual financial statements of GrainCorp Limited.

(ii) Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of 
between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are stated in the parent entity financial statements at cost. 
They are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method, after initially being recognised at cost. 

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured 
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the 
associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the 
associates. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted 
by the Group.

(iii) Joint ventures 

The proportionate interests in the assets, liabilities and expenses of joint venture operations have been incorporated in the financial 
statement under the appropriate headings.

(c) Segment reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject to risks and 
returns that are different to those of other business segments. A geographical segment is engaged in providing products and 
services within a particular economic environment and is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of segments 
operating in other economic environments.
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(d) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are net of returns, 
trade allowances and duties and taxes paid. Revenue from major business activities include: revenue earned from the provision of 
services, including the handling, classification and storage of grains and other bulk commodities; management of grain pools; and 
the marketing and sale of grain, wool, seed, fertiliser and other products.

Sale of goods
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the risks and rewards of the ownership of goods are transferred to the customer. 
This occurs upon delivery of the goods. In the case of export sales, the bill of lading (shipment) date is taken as the transaction 
date unless title is to pass at a materially different time. 

Services
Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract. Amounts billed 
in advance are recorded as a current liability until such time as the service is performed. 

Other revenue
Other revenue includes rental income which is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term, interest income which is 
recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest rate method and dividends which are recognised when the right 
to receive payment is established.

(e) Income tax
The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income adjusted by changes 
in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributed to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amount in the financial statements, and to unused tax losses.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, the deferred income tax is not 
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at 
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates 
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related 
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future 
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of 
investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences 
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly in equity.

Tax consolidation legislation
GrainCorp Limited is the head entity in a tax-consolidated group comprising the head entity and all of its wholly-owned Australian 
subsidiaries. 

The head entity, GrainCorp Limited, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group account for their own current and 
deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax consolidated group continues to be a stand 
alone taxpayer in its own right.
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In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, GrainCorp Limited also recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) 
and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled entities in the tax 
consolidated group.

Assets or liabilities arising under the tax funding agreement between GrainCorp Limited and tax-consolidated entities are 
recognised as amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the Group. Details of the tax funding agreement are disclosed 
in note 8.

Any difference between the amounts assumed and the amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding agreement are 
recognised as a contribution to (or distribution from) wholly-owned tax consolidated entities.

(f) Goods and services tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is 
not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of 
the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable 
from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of other receivables or payables in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from investing and 
financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows.

(g) Business combinations
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations regardless of whether equity instruments or 
other assets are acquired. Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given, shares issued or liabilities incurred or assumed  
at the date of exchange plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Where equity instruments are issued in an acquisition,  
the fair value of the instruments is their published market price at the date of exchange unless other evidence and valuation 
methods provide a more reliable measure of fair value. Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised 
directly in equity.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at 
their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over 
the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less 
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement, but 
only after a reassessment of the identification and measurement of the net assets acquired.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present 
value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a 
similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.

(h) Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less provision for impairment. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement no more than 30 days from the date of 
recognition. 

Collectibility of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off. A 
provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will be unable to collect 
all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables.
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The amount of the provision is recognised in the income statement in other expenses.

(i) Inventories

(i)   Consumable Stores 
Consumable stores held for own consumption are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

(ii)   Trading inventory 
Trading inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and an appropriate 
portion of variable overhead. Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted average costs.

(iii)   Commodities inventory 
Commodities inventory, principally grain inventories acquired with the purpose of selling in the near future and generating a 
profit from fluctuation in price or broker-traders’ margin, is measured at fair value less costs to sell, with changes in fair value 
recognised in the income statement. 

(j) Grain pools 
The Group operates grain pools on behalf of growers, and receives a management fee for its services based on a percentage of the 
pools’ final return to pool participants. The expected management fee is recognised on a straight line basis over the estimated life 
of the pool. 

As part of the Group’s management of the most significant pools of wheat and barley, it is responsible for arranging funding to 
facilitate advance payments to growers over the life of the pool. The Group has entered into an arrangement with GrainCorp Pools 
Pty Limited (GCPL), a Company 100% owned by Rabo Australia Limited, to provide this financing.  

Although this funding is a minimum of 95% non-recourse to the Group it has resulted, consistent with prior years, in the 
recognition on the balance sheet of the pool advance facility balance of $60.7 million from Rabo Bank and net pool assets of $60.7 
million at 30 September 2007. Any interest on this facility is borne by the pools and not by the Group.

GCPL also requires the Group to provide a deposit bond of up to 5% of the utilised funding which is shown as a receivable in the 
balance sheet. In the event of a significant shortfall in pool funds, the Group’s exposure is limited to the forfeiture of this bond (until 
reimbursed by pool participants), together with its management fee income.

(k) Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale are shown as current assets in the balance sheet. They 
are stated at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell if their carrying amount will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write down of the asset (or disposal group) to fair value less costs 
to sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent increase in fair value less costs to sell of an asset (or disposal group), but not in 
excess of any cumulative impairment loss previously recognised. A gain or loss not previously recognised by the date of the sale of 
the non-current asset (or disposal group) is recognised at the date of derecognition.

Non-current assets (including those that are part of a disposal group) are not depreciated or amortised while they are classified  
as held for sale. Interest and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale continue to 
be recognised.
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Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented 
separately from the other assets in the balance sheet. The liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented 
separately from other liabilities in the balance sheet.

(l) Investments and other financial assets

Classification
The Group classifies its investments in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
receivables, held-to-maturity investments, and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose  
for which the investments were acquired. Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and 
re-evaluates this designation at each reporting date.

(i)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this 
category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are categorised as held for trading unless 
they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets. 

(ii)  Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date 
which are classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are included in trade and other receivables in the balance sheet.

(iii)  Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the 
Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.

(iv)  Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets, comprising principally marketable equity securities, are non-derivatives that are either 
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless 
management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

Recognition and derecognition
Regular purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase 
or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair 
value through profit or loss. Financial assets are derecognised when all rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Subsequent measurement
Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. 
Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Realised 
and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ 
category are included in the income statement in the period in which they arise. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes 
in the fair value of non monetary securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in equity in the available-for-sale 
investments revaluation reserve. When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value 
adjustments are included in the income statement as gains and losses from investment securities.
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Fair value
The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active (and for 
unlisted securities), the Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include reference to the fair value of 
recent arm’s length transactions, involving the same instruments or other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted 
cash flow analysis, and option pricing models refined to reflect the issuer’s specific circumstances.

Impairment
The Group assesses at each balance date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets 
is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of a 
security below its cost is considered in determining whether the security is impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-
sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, 
less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss – is removed from equity and recognised in 
the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on equity instruments are not reversed through the 
income statement.

(m) Property, plant and equipment 

(i)  Cost of asset

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. For acquired 
assets, cost includes the purchase price, costs that are directly attributable to bringing the asset to the necessary location and 
condition and an initial estimate of any dismantling, removal and restoration costs that have been recognised as provisions. For self 
constructed assets, cost includes the cost of all materials used in construction, direct labour, borrowing costs incurred during the 
construction and an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overheads.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it 
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to Group and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are 
incurred.

(ii) Depreciation 

Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost 
over their estimated useful lives as follows:  

• Freehold buildings - 20 to 50 years;

• Leasehold improvements - 1 to 50 years; and

• Plant and equipment - 3 to 75 years.
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Assets located at port sites are depreciated over useful lives based on management’s judgement of the likelihood of continuing 
renewal of the underlying operating leases.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than  
its estimated recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount, and are included in the  
income statement.
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(iii) Leased Assets

A distinction is made between finance leases and operating leases:

A finance lease effectively transfers from the lessor to the lessee substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership 
of leased non-current assets. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the lower of the fair value of the leased 
property and the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are 
included in current and non-current borrowings. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges and the 
interest element of the finance cost is charged to the income statement. The leased asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis 
over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the expected total lease term.

An operating lease allows the lessor to retain substantially all the risks and benefits incident to ownership. Lease payments are 
charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(n) Intangible assets 

(i) Computer software

Costs incurred in developing products or systems and costs incurred in acquiring software and licenses that will contribute to 
future period financial benefits through revenue generation and/or cost reduction are capitalised to computer software. Costs 
capitalised include external direct costs of materials and service, direct payroll and payroll related costs of employees’ time spent 
on the project. Amortisation is calculated on a straight line basis over an estimated useful life of 3 years.

Computer software development costs include only those costs directly attributable to the development phase and are only 
recognised following completion of technical feasibility and where the Group has an intention and ability to use the asset. 

(ii) Goodwill

Where an entity or operation is acquired, the identifiable net assets acquired are initially measured at fair value. Contingent 
liabilities assumed and intangible assets acquired are separately identified on acquisition where their fair values can be reliably 
determined. The excess of the fair value of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired, 
including contingent liabilities assumed and intangibles acquired, is brought to account as goodwill. 

Goodwill is not amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually and whenever there is indication that the 
goodwill may be impaired, and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Refer note 1(o) for accounting policy on 
impairment. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity or operation include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity 
or operation sold. 

Where the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired exceeds the cost of acquisition, the excess is recognised immediately as 
a gain in the income statement, but only after a reassessment of the identification and measurement of the net assets acquired. 

(o) Impairment of Assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life, including Goodwill, are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. 
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash 
inflows (cash generating units).
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(p) Repairs and maintenance
Property, plant and equipment is required to be overhauled on a regular basis. This is managed as part of an ongoing major 
cyclical maintenance program. The costs of this maintenance are charged as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to 
the replacement of a component of an asset, in which case the costs are capitalised and depreciated. Other routine operating 
maintenance, repair and minor renewal costs are also charged as expenses as incurred.

(q) Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the year end which are unpaid. 
The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

(r) Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the 
income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at 
least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

(s) Employee benefits

(i) Wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected to 
be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of employees’ services up to 
the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for non-
accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and measured at the rates paid or payable.

(ii) Long service leave

The liability for long service leave is measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services 
provided by employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of 
employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using interest rates on national government 
guaranteed securities with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

(iii) Superannuation

All employees of the Group are entitled to benefits on retirement, disability or death from the Group’s defined contribution 
superannuation plans. Contributions to employee superannuation funds are charged as an expense as the contributions are paid or 
become payable. The Group’s legal or constructive obligation is limited to these contributions.

(iv) Termination benefits

Liabilities for termination benefits, not in connection with the acquisition of an entity or operation, are recognised when a detailed 
plan for the terminations has been developed and a valid expectation has been raised in those employees affected that the 
terminations will be carried out. The liabilities for termination benefits are recognised in other payables unless the amount or timing 
of the payments is uncertain, in which case they are recognised as provisions.

Liabilities for termination benefits expected to be settled within 12 months are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when 
they are settled. Amounts expected to be settled more than 12 months from the reporting date are measured as the estimated 
cash outflows, discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and 
currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future payments, where the effect of discounting is material.
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(v) Share-based payments 

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via GrainCorp’s employee share plans. (Refer note 1(t)). 

(vi) Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses. The liability is recognised where the Group has a contractual 
obligation or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

(t) Share-based payments
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the Employee Acquisition Share Plans, and the Performance 
Share Rights Plan. 

 (i) Employee Acquisition Share Plan

The fair value of shares issued under the Employee Acquisition Share Plan is recognised as an employee benefit expense with a 
corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured and expensed at grant date.

(ii) Performance Share Rights Plan

The fair value of rights issued under the Performance Share Rights Plan is recognised as an employee benefit expense with a 
corresponding increase in the share option reserve included in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and recognised over 
the period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options/rights.

The fair value at grant date is independently determined using Monte Carlo simulation stock pricing techniques that take into 
account the exercise price, the term of the option or right, the vesting and performance criteria, the impact of dilution, the non 
tradeable nature of the option or right, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the 
expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option or right.

The fair value of the options and rights granted excludes the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability 
and share price targets). Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are 
expected to become exercisable. At each balance sheet date, the entity revises its estimate of the number of options and rights 
that are expected to become exercisable. The employee benefit expense recognised each period takes into account the most 
recent estimate. 

(u) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that it is required to 
complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed.

(v) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely 
than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated. 

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by 
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any 
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a 
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to 
the liability.

When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 
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(w) Workers’ Compensation
The Group insures for workers’ compensation through the relevant statutory funds in all States and Territories. Premiums are 
recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred.

Prior to 29 June 2006 the controlled entity GrainCorp Operations Limited (GCOP) was a self-insurer in New South Wales for 
workers’ compensation liabilities. Provision is made for potential liability in respect of claims incurred prior to 29 June 2006 on 
the basis of an independent actuarial assessment. 

(x) Derivatives
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to 
their fair value. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging 
instrument. The Group’s commodity futures and options contracts, interest rate swap agreements and foreign exchange contracts 
are used to manage financial risk and exposure of commodity inventories but do not currently qualify for hedge accounting.

Where derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting, changes in fair value are recognised immediately in the income 
statement and are included in other income or other expenses.

(y) Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure 
purposes.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading and available-for-
sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the balance date. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by 
the Group is the current bid price; the appropriate quoted market price for financial liabilities is the current ask price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is 
determined using valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market 
conditions existing at each balance date. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt 
instruments held. Physical positions comprising stocks, forward sales and forward purchases do not have quoted market prices 
available. Other techniques, such as obtaining bid values from a variety of commodity brokers and trade marketers, are used to 
determine fair value for these financial instruments. The fair value of interest-rate swap contracts is determined by reference to 
market values for similar instruments. The fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange market 
rates at the balance sheet date.

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivable and payables are assumed to approximate their fair 
values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at 
the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments.

(z) Foreign currency translation
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is GrainCorp Limited’s functional and 
presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation 
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the 
income statement.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.
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(aa) Cash and cash equivalents
For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with 
financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank 
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

(ab) Contributed equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. The reset preference shares are classified as liabilities until conversion, at which point, 
they are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from 
the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options, or the acquisition of a business, are not 
included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the purchase consideration.

(ac) Earnings per share

(i) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company, excluding any costs of 
servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the half-year, 
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.

(ii) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the after 
income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average 
number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.

(ad) Dividends
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of the 
entity, on or before the end of the year but not distributed at balance date.

(ae) Financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is measured at 
fair value and subsequently at the higher of the amount determined in accordance with AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets and the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation, where appropriate.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined as the present value of the difference in cash flows between the contractual 
payments under the debt instrument and the payments that would be required without the guarantee, or the estimated amount that 
would be payable to a third party for assuming the obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of subsidiaries or associates are provided for no compensation, the fair 
values are accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of the cost of the investment.

Change in accounting policy

The policy of recognising financial guarantee contracts as financial liabilities was adopted for the first time in the current financial 
year. In previous reporting periods, a liability for financial guarantee contracts was only recognised if it was probable that the 
debtor would default and a payment would be required under the contract.
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The change in policy was necessary following the change to AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 
made by AASB 2005-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards in September 2005. The new policy has been applied 
retrospectively with comparative information in relation to the 2006 financial year restated as necessary. As at 30 September 2006 
and 1 October 2005 there was no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group or parent entity, or the earnings 
per share disclosed in note 40.

(af) Rounding of amounts
The Company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/0100, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, 
relating to the “rounding off” of amounts in the financial report. Amounts in the financial reports have been rounded off in 
accordance with that Class Order to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.

(ag) New accounting standards and interpretations
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 September 2007 
reporting periods. The Group’s and Company’s assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations is set  
out below:

(i) AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures and AASB 2005-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 132, 
AASB 101, AASB 114, AASB 117, AASB 133, AASB 139, AASB 1, AASB 4, AASB 1023 and AASB 1038].

AASB 7 and AASB 2005-10 are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007. The Group has not 
adopted the standards early. Application of the standards will not affect any of the amounts recognised in the financial statements, 
but will impact the type of information disclosed in relation to the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments.

(ii) AASB-Interpretation 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

AASB-Interpretation 10 is applicable to reporting periods commencing on or after 1 November 2006. The Group has not 
recognised an impairment loss in relation to goodwill, investments in equity instruments or financial assets carried at cost in an 
interim period but subsequently reversed the impairment loss in the annual report. Application of the interpretation will therefore 
have no impact on the Group’s or the Company’s financial statements. 

(iii) AASB 8 Operating Segments and AASB 2007-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 5, AASB 6, AASB 102, 
AASB 107, AASB 119, AASB 127, AASB 134, AASB 136, AASB 1023 and AASB 1038]. 

AASB 8 and AASB 2007-3 are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The Group has not 
adopted the standards early. Application of the standards will not affect any of the amounts recognised in the financial statements, 
but will impact the type of information disclosed in relation to the Group’s operating segments.

(iv) AASB-Interpretation 12 Service Concession Arrangements, Interpretation 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a 
lease (revised), Interpretation 129 Service Concession Arrangements: Disclosure (revised), AASB 2007-2 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB Interpretation 12

AASB-Interpretation 12 addresses the appropriate accounting for service concession arrangements under which private sector 
entities participate in the development, financing, operation and maintenance of infrastructure for the provision of public services, 
such as transport, water and energy facilities. Application of the interpretation has no relevance to the Group’s activities and will 
therefore have no impact on the Group’s or the Company’s financial statements. 

(v) Revised AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements and AASB 2007-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 101

Revised AASB 101 and AASB 2007-8 are applicable to annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The Group 
has not adopted the standards early. The standards apply specifically to disclosure and presentation in financial statements so that 
application of the standards will not affect the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 
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(vi) AASB Interpretation 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

AASB Interpretation 13 gives guidance on the accounting for customer loyalty award credits granted to customers as part of a 
sales transaction and redeemed in the future for free or discounted goods or services. Application of the interpretation has no 
relevance to the Group’s activities and will therefore have no impact on the Group’s or the Company’s financial statements.

(vii) AASB Interpretation 14 AASB 119 The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction

Interpretation 14 provides general guidance on how to assess the limit on the amount of the surplus that can be recognised as an 
asset by an employer under a defined benefit superannuation scheme. Application of the interpretation has no relevance to the 
Group’s activities and will therefore have no impact on the Group’s or the Company’s financial statements as the Group does not 
contribute to defined benefit superannuation schemes.

2. Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk, credit risk and cash flow interest rate risk. The Group’s 
overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of commodity markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects on the financial performance of the Group. Derivative financial instruments such as futures, options, over-the-counter 
instruments, foreign exchange and interest rate swaps contracts are used to manage these financial risks.

Financial risk management for credit and interest rate risk is carried out by a central treasury department, and commodity 
and foreign currency risk management is carried out by the Marketing business unit. Both are subject to a comprehensive set 
of policies, procedures and limits approved by the Board and monitored by management and the Trading Risk Management 
Committee. The Group’s policy is that trading in financial instruments is undertaken in line with the underlying business in the 
related commodities or to manage the inherent interest-rate risk of its borrowings.

(a) Market risk

(i) Commodity price risk

Commodity price risk arises due to grain price fluctuations through the Group’s grain marketing activities. To manage exposure 
to this commodity price risk, the Group enters into grain futures contracts, options contracts and over-the-counter contracts with 
terms between 2 and 28 months depending on the underlying transactions. These contracts are predominantly on US, Canadian 
and European financial markets and denominated in those currencies.

(ii) Currency risk

Currency risk arises due to foreign currency denominated contracts that are taken out on the US, Canadian and European financial 
markets to manage commodity price risk. Forward exchange and currency option contracts are used to manage this exposure. 
These contracts are timed to mature when the relevant grain contracts expire.

(b) Credit risk
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The inherent weather-induced variability of cash flows to farmer 
customers is the most significant factor impacting credit risk at a customer level. The Group has policies in place to ensure 
that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. Derivative and cash transactions 
with counterparties are limited to high credit quality financial institutions. The Group has policies that limit the amount of credit 
exposure to any one customer. Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis.
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(c) Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount 
of committed credit facilities and the ability to close-out market positions. The central treasury department aims at maintaining 
flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available.

(d) Cash flow interest rate risk
The Group’s interest-rate risk arises from interest obligations on long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose 
the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk. 

The Group may manage its cash flow interest-rate risk from time-to-time by using interest rate swaps. The Group currently pays 
an average variable interest rate of 7.03% (2006: 5.89%) on bank borrowings. Under interest rate swap contracts the Group is 
entitled to receive interest at variable rates and is obliged to pay interest at fixed rates. The contracts require settlement of net 
interest receivable or payable at each reset period. The settlement dates coincide with the dates on which interest is payable on 
the underlying debt.

3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectation of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom 
equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

(i) Estimated impairment of goodwill and other assets

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in 
Note 1(o). The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These 
calculations require the use of assumptions. Refer Note 19 for details of these assumptions.

(ii) Treatment of inoperative sites

From time to time, the Group decides to close and/or suspend operations at certain sites based on expected receivals in the 
coming year, or other relevant factors. These sites can become operational in future periods. The carrying value of such sites is 
considered for impairment annually. The total value of such sites amounts to $22,390,000 (2006: $22,644,000).

Based on historical experience, such sites have consistently achieved sales proceeds in excess of their carrying value. Based on 
this and other relevant factors, no impairment has been recorded in the current year.

(b) Correction of error in prior accounting periods
As part of the transition to AIFRS and to comply with AASB 112 Income Taxes, deferred tax balances relating to tangible fixed 
assets were reviewed at an asset category level and asset tax bases were adjusted as appropriate. Given the volume of fixed 
assets in the Group, a second stage review at individual fixed asset level was undertaken in the current financial year. From this 
detailed review, the Company has identified various adjustments in relation to the tax accounting for assets in years prior to 2005. 
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This has resulted in restatement of the following opening balances as at 1 October 2005:

$’000 $’000 $’000

Before 
restatement

Adjustments Restated

Deferred tax assets 19,738 1,868 21,606

Deferred tax liabilities (12,580) (5,931) (18,511)

Current tax liabilities (288) 288 -

Net tax receivable – other receivables - 7,983 7,983

Retained earnings – profit (176,026) (4,208) (180,324)

(c) Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies

(i) Fair value where there is no organised market

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is 
determined using valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market 
conditions existing at each balance date. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt 
instruments held. Physical positions comprising stocks, forward sales and forward purchases do not have quoted market prices 
available. Other techniques, such as obtaining bid values from a variety of commodity brokers and trade marketers, are used to 
determine fair value for these financial instruments. The fair value of interest-rate swap contracts is determined by reference to 
market values for similar instruments. The fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange market 
rates at the balance sheet date.

(ii) Port leases and the useful lives of port assets

Operating leases over port facilities are on terms ranging from 3 to 99 years. The majority of these leases include options to extend 
terms. Given the nature of the Company’s relationship with port operators it is anticipated that most leases will be continually 
renewed. As a result, the useful lives of certain port assets may be assessed by management to be in excess of the lease term of 
the underlying port lease.

(iii) Ownership interest in Allied Mills

GrainCorp Limited (GrainCorp) has a 60% equity interest in Allied Mills Australia Pty Limited (Allied), with the other 40% held by 
Cargill Australia Limited (Cargill). However, GrainCorp’s voting rights in Allied are 50%, equal with Cargill. 

GrainCorp entered into an agreement with Cargill on 2 October 2002 to establish Allied as a jointly operated Company. The 
agreement establishes that neither party has control of Allied, due to the existence of 50% voting rights and equal Board 
representation between the two parties.

Therefore, although GrainCorp owns more than half of the equity interest in Allied, this ownership is not judged to constitute 
control. Hence the Group applies the concept of equity accounting and does not consolidate this entity.

(iv) Judgements in providing for claims and disputes

Provision is made for various claims for losses or damages received from time-to-time in the ordinary course of business. 
Management estimates the provision based on historical information and its experience in resolving claims and disputes.
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(v) Grain pools

The Group manages grain pools on behalf of growers, and receives a management fee for its services based on a percentage of 
the pools’ final return to pool participants. The expected management fee is recognised on a straight line basis over the estimated 
life of the pool. 

Whilst the Group has legal title over the pool stocks to facilitate its management activities, pool activities are not recognised in the 
Group’s financial statements as the majority of the risks and rewards associated with pools, including price and credit risk, are 
attributable to growers.

The Group’s management duties over the most significant pools of wheat and barley require it to be responsible for arranging 
funding with financial institutions to facilitate loans and advance payments to growers over the life of the pool. The Group has 
entered into an arrangement with GrainCorp Pools Pty Limited (GCPL), a Company 100% owned and controlled by Rabo Australia 
Limited, to provide this financing. Interest on this facility is borne by the pools and not by the Group.

As part of this funding arrangement GCPL requires the Group to provide a deposit bond of up to 5% of the utilised pool funding 
which is shown as a receivable in the balance sheet. In the event of a significant shortfall in pool funds, the Group’s exposure is 
limited to the forfeiture of this bond (until reimbursed by pool participants), together with its management fee income.

As the possible forfeiture of the deposit bond represents a residual risk to the Group, the Group recognises on balance sheet, 
consistent with prior years, the pool loan and advance facility balance of $60.7 million from Rabo Bank and net pool assets of 
$60.7 million securing the pool facility as at 30 September 2007.
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4. Segment information
Primary reporting format – business segments 

2007

Storage & 
Handling

Marketing Other Inter-
segment 

eliminations

Unallocated Consolidation

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Sales to external customers 130,058 600,396 86,399 - 1,065 817,918

Inter-segment sales 24,410 4,688 15,671 (46,677) 1,908 -

Total sales revenue 154,468 605,084 102,070 (46,677) 2,973 817,918

Other revenue 2,347 830 1,178 - 2,601 6,956

Total segment revenue 156,815 605,914 103,248 (46,677) 5,574 824,874

Segment result (18,268) 23,913 (2,032) - - 3,613

Interest expense (26,140)

Corporate overheads (26,828)

Share of profits of associates 
accounted for using the equity method 13,715

Profit / (loss) from continuing 
operations before income tax (35,640)

Income tax benefit / (expense) 15,861

Profit / (loss) from continuing 
operations after income tax (19,779)

Segment assets 473,776 220,272 46,501 - 229,685 970,234

Segment liabilities 14,084 192,989 28,495 - 335,645 571,213

Investments in associates - - - - 86,289 86,289

Acquisitions of property, plant and 
equipment and other non-current 
segment assets 18,489 31 1,004 - 4,690 24,214

Depreciation and amortisation 
expense 36,168 187 1,311 - 3,708 41,374

Other significant non-cash items 14,793 25,568 - - - 40,361
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2006

Storage & 
Handling

Marketing Other Inter-
segment 

eliminations

Unallocated Consolidation

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Sales to external customers 269,700 457,803 82,914 - - 810,417

Inter-segment sales 49,939 775 12,298 (63,012) - -

Total sales revenue 319,639 458,578 95,212 (63,012) - 810,417

Other revenue 1,153 - - - 4,429 5,582

Total segment revenue 320,792 458,578 95,212 (63,012) 4,429 815,999

Segment result 86,850 22,612 (7,383) - - 102,079

Interest expense (31,638)

Corporate overheads (28,696)

Share of profits of associates 
accounted for using the equity method 5,068

Profit from continuing operations before 
income tax 46,813

Income tax benefit / (expense) (15,076)

Profit from continuing operations after 
income tax 31,737

Segment assets 493,354 274,796 29,091 - 178,354 957,595

Segment liabilities 34,050 211,231 30,004 - 287,951 563,236

Investments in associates 72,575 72,575

Acquisitions of property, plant and 
equipment and other non-current 
segment assets 26, 719 151  116 - 26,986

Depreciation and amortisation expense 37,483 117 1,514 - 3,364 42,478 

Impairment of trade receivables 147  84 - 14 245

Impairment of inventory 59  428 - 487

Non-cash items 2,734 - 5,570 8,304

a)  The above business segments derive revenue from the following operations and activities:  
Storage and handling: includes fees for receival, storage and testing of wheat, other grains and bulk commodities. 
Marketing: marketing of grain and agricultural products and the operation of grain pools.  
Other: sale of farm inputs (AG Plus), fees for transportation of commodities (AG Haul), and the provision of financial services to 
customers of the GrainCorp group (AG Finance).

b) Inter-segment pricing is on an “arm’s length” basis and is eliminated on consolidation.

c) The Group operates in predominantly one geographical segment - Australia.
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5. Revenue
Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

From continuing operations $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Sales Revenue

Sale of goods 696,650 541,221 - -

Services 121,268 269,196 13,892 12,233

 817,918 810,417 13,892 12,233

Other revenue

Dividends 282 48 282 50,048

Interest 4,327 4,381 7,085 2,075

Rental income 2,347 1,153 - -

 6,956 5,582 7,367 52,123

Total revenue 824,874 815,999 21,259 64,356

6. Other income
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 636 939 - --

Net gain on derivative/commodity trading: - -

Net realised gain (loss) on foreign currency derivatives 6,723 (792) - -

Net unrealised gain on foreign currency derivatives 9,815 1,444 - -

Net realised gain (loss) on financial derivatives (28,001) 682 - -

Net unrealised (loss) on financial derivatives (23,745) (4,579) - -

Net unrealised gain (loss) on commodity contracts 29,839 (8,594) - -

Net unrealised gain on commodity inventories at fair value less costs to sell 9,659 24,769 - -

Net gain on derivative/commodity trading 4,290 12,930 - -

Other income 2,289 3,027 4 -

7,215 16,896 4 -

Net unrealised gain on derivative/commodity trading

Net unrealised gain on commodity inventories at fair value less costs to sell 9,659 24,769 - -

Net unrealised gain on foreign currency derivatives 9,815 1,444 - -

Net unrealised gain (loss) on commodity contracts 29,839 (8,594) - -

Net unrealised (loss) on financial derivatives (23,745) (4,579) - -

Net unrealised gain on derivative/commodity trading 25,568 13,040 - -
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7. Expenses
Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Finance costs

 - Interest charges 26,140 23,838 12,934 9,081

 - Reset preference shares dividends - 7,800 - 7,800

Finance costs expensed 26,140 31,638 12,934 16,881

Depreciation 

 - Plant and equipment 27,154 28,359 - -

 - Buildings and improvements 11,262 12,138 - -

Total depreciation 38,416 40,497 - -

Amortisation 

 - Leased assets 635 849 -

 - Intangible assets 2,323 1,132 - -

Total amortisation 2,958 1,981 - -

Rental expenses relating to operating leases

 - Minimum lease payments 7,971 9,562 - -

Total rental expenses relating to operating leases 7,971 9,562 - -

Defined contribution superannuation expense 7,299 8,624 867 1,013

Research and development costs 278 332 - -

Restructuring costs - 750 - -

Provision for claims and disputes 20,702 2,914 - -
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8. Income tax expense 
Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(a) Income tax expense / (benefit)
Current tax (32) 11,853 13,187 (4,140)

Deferred tax (13,869) 4,485 (16,368) 2,298

Under / (over) provision in prior years (1,960) (1,262) (105) 27

(15,861) 15,076 (3,286) (1,815)

Deferred income tax (revenue) / expense included in income tax expense 
comprises:

Decrease / (increase) in deferred tax assets (note 18) (24,870) 2,018 (16,545) 2,274

(Decrease) / increase in deferred tax liabilities (note 25) 11,001 2,467 177 24

(13,869) 4,485 (16,368) 2,298

(b)  Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima 
facie tax payable

Operating profit / (loss) before income tax expense (35,640) 46,813 (192) 34,573

Income tax calculated at 30% (2006 – 30%) (10,692) 14,044 (58) 10,372

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating 
taxable income:

Increase in tax expense due to:

 - Performance rights / Share-based payments 591 96 - -

 - Other non-deductible items 314 1,094 152 162

 - RPS dividend - 2,624 - 2,624

Decrease in tax expense due to:

 - Share of net (profit) / loss of associate (4,114) (1,520) - -

 - Dividends received / receivable - - (84) (15,000)

 - Other non-assessable items - - (3,191) -

(13,901) 16,338 (3,181) (1,842)

(Over) / under provision in prior years (1,960) (1,262) (105) 27

Income tax expense / (benefit) (15,861) 15,076 (3,286) (1,815)

(c) Tax losses
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised 3,824 3,824 3,824 3,824

(d) Unrecognised temporary differences
Temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries for which 
deferred tax liabilities / (assets) have not been recognised 496 496 - -
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(e) Tax consolidation legislation
GrainCorp Limited is the head entity in a tax-consolidated group comprising the head entity and all of its wholly-owned Australian 
subsidiaries. The implementation date of the tax consolidation system for the tax-consolidated group was 1 October 2002. The 
accounting policy in relation to this legislation is set out in note 1(e).

On adoption of the tax consolidation legislation, the entities in the tax consolidated group entered into a tax sharing agreement 
which, in the opinion of the directors, limits the joint and several liability of the wholly-owned entities in the case of a default of the 
head entity, GrainCorp Limited.

The members of the tax-consolidated group have entered into a tax funding agreement which sets out the funding obligations of 
members of the tax-consolidated group in respect of tax amounts. Under the terms of the agreement the wholly-owned entities 
fully compensate GrainCorp Limited for any current tax payable assumed and are compensated by GrainCorp Limited for any 
current tax receivable and deferred tax assets relating to unused tax losses or unused tax credits that are transferred to GrainCorp 
Limited under the tax consolidation legislation. The funding amounts are determined by reference to the amounts recognised in the 
wholly-owned entities’ accounts.

The amounts receivable/ payable under the tax funding agreement are due on demand, subject to set-off or agreement to the 
contrary, and regardless of whether any consolidated group liability is actually payable by the head entity. These amounts are 
recognised as current inter-company receivables or payables.

9. Cash and cash equivalents (current) 
Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash at bank and on hand 2,194 21,038 1,260 249 

Deposits at call - 2,539 - -

2,194 23,577 1,260 249

The above figures are reconciled to cash at the end of the financial year as  
shown in the statement of cash flows as follows:

Balances as above 2,194 23,577 1,260 249 

Less: Bank overdrafts (note 21) - (21,519) - (21,517)

Balances per statement of cash flows 2,194 2,058 1,260 (21,268)

Cash at bank and on hand is non-interest bearing.

Deposits at call at 2006 had floating interest rates between 1.85% and 5.85%. 
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10. Trade and other receivables (current)
Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade receivables 77,805 81,550 - -

 Provision for impairment of trade receivables (1,321) (1,389) - -

76,484 80,161 - -

Other unsecured receivables 11,078 15,233 2,005 664

Prepayments 5,573 4,681 514 -

Margin deposits on commodity futures contracts 25,834 9,903 - - 

Pools advance (note 1(j) & note 20) 60,667 93,340 - -

Deposit bond for Pools facility 4,230 9,160 - -

Related party debtors (note 34) 572 539 9,053 22,760

 184,438 213,017 11,572 23,424

(a) Provision for impairment of trade receivables
The Group has recognised an expense of $558,000 (2006: $245,000) in respect of impaired trade receivables during the year 
ended 30 September 2007. The expense is included in other expenses in the income statement.

(b) Effective interest rates and credit risk
Information concerning the effective interest rate and credit risk of both current and non-current receivables is set out in the 
non-current receivables note (note 14).

(c) Fair values
All amounts in respect of current receivables approximate fair value. 
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11. Inventories (current)
Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Consumable stores at cost 2,060 1,915 - -

Trading stock at net realisable value 18,503 8,696 - -

Commodities inventory at fair value less costs to sell (Security for interest 
bearing liabilities – note 21)

104,071 123,627 - -

124,634 134,238 - -

(a) Inventory expense
Inventories recognised as an expense during the year ended 30 September 2007 amounted to $649,262,000 
(2006: $514,381,000). 

Write-downs of inventories to net realisable value recognised as an expense during the year ended 30 September 2007 
amounted to $368,000 (2006: $487,000). The expense has been included in other expenses in the income statement. 

12. Derivative financial instruments (current)
Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current assets

Interest rate swap contracts - 227 - -

Commodity contracts (forward purchases and sales) 21,245 - - -

Foreign exchange contracts 11,259 1,444 - -

 Total current derivative financial instrument assets 32,504 1,671 - -

Current liabilities

Commodity futures and options 28,395 4,805 - -

Commodity contracts (forward purchases and sales) - 8,594 - -

 Total current derivative financial instrument liabilities 28,395 13,399 - -

Commodity contracts were reduced by $2.8 million in 2007 (2006: nil) to take into account potential problems with the 
recoverability of receivables arising from these contracts.

(a) Instruments used by the Group
The Group is party to derivative financial instruments in the normal course of business in order to manage financial risk and the 
financial exposure of commodity inventories in accordance with the Group’s financial risk management policies (see note 2). The 
Group’s derivative transactions do not currently qualify for hedge accounting as defined under AASB 139.
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(i) Interest rate swap contracts

The Group’s bank loans currently bear an average variable interest rate of 7.03% (2006: 5.89%). It is the Group’s policy to protect 
part of the loans from exposure to increasing interest rates. Accordingly, it entered into interest rate swap contracts under which 
the Group was entitled to receive interest at variable rates and obliged to pay interest at fixed rates. The contracts required 
settlement of net interest receivable or payable at each reset period. The settlement dates coincided with the dates on which 
interest became payable on the underlying debt.

At 30 September 2007 the Group had no interest rate swaps outstanding (2006: 29% of term borrowings outstanding were 
covered). For the prior period, the notional principal amounts and periods of expiry of the interest rate swap contracts were as 
follows:

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

0-1 years - 55,000

1-2 years -

2-3 years -

3-4 years -

Total - 55,000

The fair values of interest rate swaps are determined as the difference in present value of the future interest cash flow. (2006: 
financial asset of $226,881).

(ii) Forward purchase and forward sale contracts

As part of its grain marketing activities as a commodity trader the Group writes forward purchase and forward sales contracts. 
The Group’s policy is generally to aim to lock in favourable margins between the purchase and sale price of commodities, but 
differences in the timing of entering into these contracts create an exposure to commodity price risk. All open contracts are fair 
valued at balance date with any gains and losses on these contracts, together with the costs of the contracts, being recognised 
immediately through the income statement. 

At balance date, outstanding purchase contracts had a fair value of $138,794,000 gain (2006: $24,827,000 gain), and outstanding 
sales contracts had a fair value of $115,269,000 loss (2006: $33,421,000 loss). 

(iii) Commodity futures and option contracts

The Group is exposed to grain price fluctuations through its grain marketing activities. To manage this commodity price risk, the 
Group has entered into grain commodity futures contracts and grain commodity options contracts with terms between 2 and 28 
months depending on the underlying transactions.

At balance date, net outstanding commodity futures contracts had a fair value of $25,815,000 loss (2006: $3,383,000 loss) with 
various maturities up to December 2009 (2006: January 2009). 

Commodity sold and bought options are marked to market at each balance date. These options have maturities up to July 2008 
(2006: May 2007). At balance date, net outstanding commodity bought and sold options had a fair value of $2,580,000 loss 
(2006: $1,423,000 loss).

At balance date, the Group has entered into commitments to futures contracts for $188,064,000 (2006: $50,895,000) relating to 
purchase contracts and for $209,559,000 (2006: $109,486,000) relating to sales contracts.
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(iv) Foreign exchange contracts

The Group manages currency exposures arising from grain futures taken in the US, Canada and Europe and from export 
contracts for sales of grain and wool. In accordance with the Group’s risk management policy; this exposure is managed through 
transactions entered into in foreign exchange markets. Forward exchange contracts and currency option contracts have been used 
for this purpose. The foreign exchange contracts are timed to mature when the grain futures contracts expire.

At balance date, the outstanding foreign exchange contracts are (Australian Dollar equivalent);

2007 2007 2006 2006

A$’000
Average 

exchange rate A$’000
Average 

exchange rate

Buy US Dollars / Sell Australian Dollars

  0 - 6 months 18,815 0.8513 67,797 0.7524

  6 - 12 months 5,400 0.7857 - -

 12 - 18 months 688 0.7675 3,067 0.7143

 > 18 months - - 579 0.7047

Buy Australian Dollars / Sell US Dollars

  0 - 6 months 158,656 0.8229 119,238 0.7429

  6 - 12 months 7,100 0.7840 2,266 0.7487

 12 - 18 months 13,774 0.7926 3,067 0.7143

 > 18 months 3,700 0.7682 579 0.7047

Buy Canadian Dollars / Sell Australian Dollars

  0 - 6 months 3,208 0.8760 2,159 0.8399

  6 - 12 months - - 353 0.8494

 12 - 18 months - - 1,185 0.8125

Buy Australian Dollars / Sell Canadian Dollars

  0 - 6 months 15,691 0.8843 9,048 0.8229

  6 - 12 months - - 243 0.8238

 12 - 18 months 1,897 0.8195 1,185 0.8125

> 18 months 102 0.8733 - -

Buy Australian Dollars / Sell Euros 

  0 - 6 months 250 0.6047 1,112 0.5843

Buy Euros/Sell Australian Dollars

  0 - 6 months 450 0.6051 10,132 0.5873

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 30 September 2007

(b) Credit risk exposures
Credit risk for derivative financial instruments arises from the potential failure of counterparties to meet their obligations under 
the respective contracts at maturity. This arises with amounts receivable from unrealised gains on derivative financial instruments. 
At balance date $186,007,000 is receivable (Australian dollar equivalents) by the Group from interest rate swap contracts, 
foreign exchange contracts and commodity purchase contracts (2006: $26,572,000 receivable).

The Group undertakes all foreign exchange contracts with Australian financial institutions approved by the Trading Risk 
Management Committee and all futures and options are traded on approved exchanges. 

(c) Interest rate risk exposures 
Refer to notes 14 and 24 for the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk on interest rate swaps.

13. Non-current assets classified as held for sale (current)
Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Land 769 173 - -

Buildings and structures 48 87 - -

Plant and equipment 1,028 638 - -

1,845 898 - -

From time to time, the directors of GrainCorp Limited determine to sell certain sites which have been closed to operations based 
on their historic and expected receivals. As at 30 September 2007, nine sites were being actively marketed for sale (2006: 4 
sites). There are several interested parties and the sales are expected to be completed within the next twelve months. The assets 
are presented within total assets of the storage and handling segment in note 4.

14. Receivables (non-current)
Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Related party debtors (note 34) - - 78,793 74,372

Loans to associate entities (note 34) 29,329 29,455 28,092 28,092

Less: provision for impairment of advances to associated entities (1,187) (1,313) - -

Sundry debtors 5 5 - -

 28,147 28,147 106,885 102,464
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(a) Fair values
All amounts in respect of non-current receivables approximate fair value. 

(b) Impairment of advances to associated entities
A reduction in respect of the impairment of advances to associates of $126,000 was recognised in the year (2006: $307,000 
expense), and included in other expenses in the income statement.

(c) Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective weighted average interest rate is set out in the following tables.

2007

Fixed interest maturing in:

Average 
interest 

rate

Floating 
interest 

rate

1 year or 
less

Over 1 to 
2 years

Over 2 to 
3 years

Over 3 to 
4 years

Over 4 to 
5 years

Non 
interest 
bearing

Total

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Receivables - 180,213 180,213

Loans to associates 7.62% 28,092 1,237 29,329

Deposit bond 6.22% 4,230 4,230

2006

Fixed interest maturing in:

Average 
interest 

rate

Floating 
interest 

rate

1 year or 
less

Over 1 to 
2 years

Over 2 to 
3 years

Over 3 to 
4 years

Over 4 to 
5 years

Non 
interest 
bearing

Total

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Receivables - 203,857 203,857

Loans to associates 6.96 28,092 1,363 29,455

Deposit bond 5.70 9,160 9,160

Interest rate swaps1 5.78 55,000 55,000

1  Notional principal amounts

(d) Credit risk
There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to current and non-current receivables, as the Group has a large number of 
customers, widely dispersed. Refer to note 2 for more information on the risk management policy of the Group. 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 30 September 2007

15. Investments accounted for using the equity method (non-current)
Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Shares in associates 86,290 72,575 - -

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements and are carried at 
cost by the parent entity (see note 16).

16. Other financial assets (non-current)
Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Shares in subsidiaries – at cost (note 35) - - 274,739 272,770

Shares in associates – at cost (note 37) - - 70,920 70,920

Investments in other entities – at cost 4,599 2,539 2,278 2,278

 4,599 2,539 347,937 345,968
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17. Property, plant and equipment (non-current)
2007

Land Buildings 
& 

structures

Leasehold 
improve-

ments

Leased 
plant & 
equip-
ment

Plant & 
equip-
ment

Capital 
works in 
progress

Total 

Consolidated $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 October 2006

Cost 19,744 143,420 14,056 4,348 605,732 4,491 791,791

Accumulated depreciation - (63,033) (2,278) (2,944) (261,633) - (329,888)

Net book value 19,744 80,387 11,778 1,404 344,099 4,491 461,903

Year ended 30 September 2007

Opening net book value 19,744 80,387 11,778 1,404 344,099 4,491 461,903

Transfers to non-current assets 
held for sale

(654) (10) - - (518) - (1,182)

Additions 179 4,007 - - 15,856 861 20,903

Disposals (16) (43) - - (819) - (878)

Depreciation - (10,717) (545) (635) (27,154) - (39,051)

Closing net book value 19,253 73,624 11,233 769 331,464 5,352 441,695

At 30 September 2007

Cost 19,253 138,498 14,056 4,348 617,350 5,352 798,857

Accumulated depreciation - (64,874) (2,823) (3,579) (285,886) - (357,162)

Net book value 19,253 73,624 11,233 769 331,464 5,352 441,695

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 30 September 2007

2006

Land Buildings 
& 

structures

Leasehold 
improve-

ments

Leased 
plant & 
equip-
ment

Plant & 
equip-
ment

Capital 
works in 
progress

Total 

Consolidated $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 October 2005

Cost 19,023 142,517 13,470 4,348 587,167 7,303 773,828

Accumulated depreciation - (57,571) (1,683) (2,095) (234,418) - (295,767)

Net book value 19,023 84,946 11,787 2,253 352,749 7,303 478,061

Year ended 30 September 2006

Opening net book value

Transfers between asset 
categories

Reclassifications to computer 
software (note 19)

19,023

-

-

84,946

-

-

11,787

-

-

2,253

-

-

352,749

1,334

(1,046)

7,303

(1,334)

(1,478)

478,061

-

(2,524)

Transfers to non-current assets 
held for sale

(173) (87) - - (638) - (898)

Fair value adjustments - 458 492 - 4,684 - 5,634

Additions 1,065 6,797 94 - 16,092 - 24,048

Disposals (171) (184) - - (717) - (1,072)

Depreciation - (11,543) (595) (849) (28,359) - (41,346)

Closing net book value 19,744 80,387 11,778 1,404 344,099 4,491 461,903

At 30 September 2006

Cost 19,744 143,420 14,056 4,348 605,732 4,491 791,791

Accumulated depreciation - (63,033) (2,278) (2,944) (261,633) - (329,888)

Net book value 19,744 80,387 11,778 1,404 344,099 4,491 461,903

No property, plant and equipment is held by the parent entity.
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18. Deferred tax assets (non-current)
Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The balance comprises temporary differences 
attributable to:

Receivables - 416 - -

Inventories - - - -

Share capital costs 260 523 260 523

Creditors and other payables 4,275 3,919 - 198

Provisions and accruals 18,088 10,757 669 1,525

Tax losses recognised 21,835 3,973 21,835 3,973

 Net deferred tax assets 44,458 19,588 22,764 6,219

Movements:

Opening balance at 1 October 19,588 21,606 6,219 8,493

Credited/(charged) to the income statement (note 8) 24,870 (2,018) 16,545 (2,274)

Closing balance at 30 September 44,458 19,588 22,764 6,219

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 30 September 2007

19. Intangible assets (non-current)
2007

Consolidated

Computer 
software

Goodwill Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 October 2006 

Cost 14,774 10,693 25,467

Accumulated amortisation (8,025) - (8,025)

Net book amount 6,749 10,693 17,442

Year ended 30 September 2007

Opening net book amount 6,749 10,693 17,442

Additions 3,311 1,000 4,311

Amortisation charge1 (2,323) - (2,323)

Closing net book amount 7,737 11,693 19,430

At 30 September 2007 

Cost 18,085 11,693 29,778

Accumulated amortisation (10,348) - (10,348)

Net book amount 7,737 11,693 19,430

1 Amortisation is included in depreciation and amortisation expense in the income statement.
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2006

Consolidated

Computer 
software

Goodwill Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 October 2005

Cost 9,312 10,693 20,005

Accumulated amortisation (6,893) - (6,893)

Net book amount 2,419 10,693 13,112

Year ended 30 September 2006

Opening net book amount 2,419 10,693 13,112

Reclassification from property, plant & equipment (note 17) 2,524 - 2,524

Additions 2,938 - 2,938

Amortisation charge1 (1,132) - (1,132)

Closing net book amount 6,749 10,693 17,442

At 30 September 2006 

Cost 14,774 10,693 25,467

Accumulated amortisation (8,025) - (8,025)

Net book amount 6,749 10,693 17,442

1 Amortisation is included in depreciation and amortisation expense in the income statement.

(a) Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs); Storage and Handling: $10.7 million; and AG Plus: $1.0 million. 
Included in the AG Plus goodwill of $1.0 million, acquired in the year, are certain intangible assets that cannot be individually 
separated and reliably measured due to their nature. Assets of this nature include an assembled workforce and business location.

The recoverable amount of the CGUs is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use forecast cash flow 
projections based on budgets and forecast results for the next year and extrapolated for a 5 year period. Inputs into these forecasts 
include expected receivals and outloads for Storage and Handling, and expected sales of farm inputs for AG Plus.

(b) Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations
A growth rate of 3% has been applied to extrapolate cash flows for a five year period. This growth rate does not exceed the long-
term average growth rate for the businesses in which the CGUs operate. 

A post-tax discount rate of 8.5% has been applied to discount the forecast future attributable post tax cash flows. The pre-tax 
discount rate reflects specific risks relating to the relevant segment and its country of operation.

No intangible assets are held by the parent entity.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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21. Borrowings (current)
Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Unsecured

Bank overdraft - 21,519 - 21,517

Short term facilities 24,000 - - -

Term funding facilities 5,000 5,000 - -

Other borrowings – related parties (note 34) - - 17,399 20,615

Deposit notes 16,320 23,924 - -

Total unsecured current borrowings 45,320 50,443 17,399 42,132

Secured

Bank loan (note 11) 65,522 88,639 - -

Leases 660 697 - -

Total secured current borrowings 66,182 89,336 - -

 Total current borrowings 111,502 139,779 17,399 42,132

(a) Bank overdraft
No interest is payable on overdrawn amounts, providing the Group cash position is positive.

(b) Short term facilities
These facilities are available to be drawn down on demand. The facilities are renewable at the option of the financier each 12 
months. Interest is payable at the bank bill rate for the term drawn, plus a variable margin of up to 0.55%.

(c) Term funding facilities
Term facilities expire on October 2011 (2006: October 2011). Interest is payable at the bank bill rate for the term drawn, plus a 
variable margin of 0.85% (2006: 1%).

20. Trade and other payables (current)
Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade payables 45,955 47,179 408 43

Other payables 14,823 10,738 2,525 5,099

Dividends payable - 12,275 - 12,275

Income received in advance 91 225 - -

Pool advance facility (notes 1(j) & 10) 60,667 93,340 - -

 121,536 163,757 2,933 17,417
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(d) Deposit notes
Unsecured deposit notes are issued by the wholly-owned entity GrainCorp AG Finance Limited. The deposit notes are issued 
at call or for a specific term from one month to three years, or any other term negotiated with GrainCorp AG Finance Limited. 
Interest payable on the deposit notes ranged from 2.0% to 6.65% in the year ended 30 September 2007 (2006: 2.0% to 6.35%), 
depending on the amount of the deposit and the investment period.

(e) Secured borrowings
Leases are secured by the underlying assets. Bank loan is a facility for funding commodity inventory, secured against the related 
inventory. Details of assets pledged as security are set out in note 24.

(f) Interest rate risk exposure
Details of the Group’s exposure to interest rate changes on interest bearing liabilities are set out in note 24.

22. Other financial liabilities
Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current

Lease incentives 409 409 - -

Non-current

Lease incentives 1,567 1,976 - -

Total 1,976 2,385 - -

(a) Financial guarantees
Financial guarantees are provided by the parent entity and Group entities as follows: 

i.  GrainCorp Operations Limited was a self-insurer for workers’ compensation in NSW up to 29 June 2006. As required by the 
NSW workers’ compensation self-insurance licensing requirements a Bank Guarantee in favour of the WorkCover Authority 
NSW for at least $2,550,000 is in place, representing an actuarial assessment of the contingent liability arising from past self-
insurance for periods prior to 29 June 2006. 

ii.  In the normal course of business the Group enters into guarantees. At 30 September 2007 they amounted to $2,606,000 
(2006: $577,555). The directors do not believe any claims will arise in respect of these guarantees.

iii.  GrainCorp Limited guarantees the payment of all monies payable in respect of unsecured deposit notes issued by its subsidiary 
GrainCorp AG Finance Limited. The guarantee is only enforceable by the trustee of the deposit notes, and not by individual 
depositors. See notes 21 and 24.

iv.  GrainCorp Limited provides an eligible undertaking to act as guarantor for those subsidiaries operating with an Australian 
financial services licence. The guarantee is $40 million in respect of GrainCorp AG Finance Limited and $10 million for 
Agricultural Risk Management Services Pty Limited.

v.  GrainCorp Limited and the wholly owned entities listed in note 36 are parties to a deed of cross guarantee as described in 
note 36. The nature of the deed of cross guarantee is such that each company which is party to the deed guarantees, to each 
creditor, payment in full of any debt in accordance with the deed of cross guarantee. No deficiency of net assets existed for the 
Group as at 30 September 2007.

No liability was recognised by the parent entity or the Group in relation to these guarantees, as the fair value of the guarantees is 
immaterial.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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23. Provisions (current)
Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Claims and disputes 22,991 8,198 - -

Workers’ compensation 410 380 - -

Restoration 320 1,164 - -

Employee benefits 17,460 18,097 - 2,227

 41,181 27,839 - 2,227

(a) Claims and disputes
Provision is made for various claims for losses or damages received from time-to-time in the ordinary course of business. 
Management estimates the provision based on historical information and its experience in resolving claims.

(b) Workers’ compensation
GrainCorp Operations Limited (GCOP) was a self-insurer for workers’ compensation in NSW up to 29 June 2006. As required by the 
NSW workers’ compensation self-insurance licensing requirements, provision is made based on an annual actuarial assessment for 
GCOP’s potential liability arising from past self-insurance.

(c) Restoration
Provision is made to satisfy obligations to remove redundant plant and equipment.

Movements in Provisions

Consolidated – 2007

Claims & 
disputes

Workers’ 
compensation

Restoration

$’000 $’000 $’000

Carrying amount at beginning of year 8,198 380 1,164

Additional provisions recognised 20,702 - 270

Reclass from provisions (non-current) - 30 -

Amounts used (5,170) - (150)

Unused amounts reversed (739) - (964)

Carrying amount at end of year 22,991 410 320



92 | GrainCorp Limited 2007 Annual Report  | 93  

24. Borrowings (non-current)
Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Unsecured

Term funding facilities 222,247 183,247 94,647 94,647

Deposit notes 326 260 - -

Other borrowings – related parties (note 34) - - 105,628 59,312

Total unsecured non-current borrowings 222,573 183,507 200,275 153,959

Secured

Leases 5,493 5,438 - -

Total secured non-current borrowings 5,493 5,438 - -

Total non-current borrowings 228,066 188,945 200,275 153,959

a) Assets pledged as security
The total secured liabilities (current and non-current) are as follows: 
 

Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Lease liabilities (notes 21 and 24) 6,153 6,135 - -

Bank loan (note 21) 65,522 88,639 - -

   71,675 94,774 - -

The carrying amounts of assets pledged as security for 
current and non-current borrowings are:

Leased assets (note 17) 769 1,404 - -

Commodity inventory (note 11) 104,071 123,627 - -

   104,840 125,031 - -

Lease liabilities (other than liabilities recognised in relation to surplus space under non cancellable operating leases) are effectively 
secured as rights to the leased assets recognised in the financial statements revert to the lessor in the event of default.

The current bank loan is a facility for funding commodity inventory, secured against the related inventory. 

Loans under term funding facilities are secured by a negative pledge that imposes certain covenants on the subsidiaries that have 
received the loans. The negative pledge states that (subject to certain exceptions) the subject entity will not provide any other 
security over its assets, and will ensure that covenants are met. Covenants reflect trading conditions and capital needs.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 30 September 2007

(b) Financing arrangements
Unrestricted access was available at balance date to the following lines of credit:

Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(i) Working Capital & Multi Option Facilities

   Available 315,000 315,000 - -

   Used 112,025 93,455 - -

   Unused credit available 202,975 221,545 - -

(ii) Term Facilities

   Available 227,700 232,722 95,122 95,122

   Used 227,247 188,247 94,647 94,647

   Unused credit available 453 44,475 475 475

   Total Facilities at year end

   Available 542,700 547,722 95,122 95,122

   Used 339,272 281,702 94,647 94,647

   Unused credit available 203,428 266,020 475 475

Working capital and multi option facilities are extendable on an annual basis at the lenders option. Term facilities are extendable  
on a periodic basis as the facility approaches maturity. All facilities are in good standing and will remain in good standing unless 
any of the default criteria are breached. Borrowings included in non-current liabilities represent facilities not due to mature within 
one year.

(c) Interest rate risk exposure
The following table sets out the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk for current and non-current interest-bearing liabilities, 
including the contractual repricing dates and the effective weighted average interest rate. 

Exposures arise predominantly from liabilities bearing variable interest rates as the Group intends to hold fixed interest rate 
liabilities to maturity.
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2007

Fixed interest maturing in:

Weighted 
Average 

interest rate

Floating 
interest 

rate

1 year or 
less

Over 1 to 
2 years

Over 2 to 
3 years

Over 3 to 
4 years

Over 4 to 
5 years

Over 5 
years

Total

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Term funding facilities 7.13 227,247 227,247

Short term facilities 6.92 24,000 24,000

Other loans 6.80 65,522 65,522

Finance leases1 7.25 660 660 660 660 660 2,853 6,153

Deposit notes 7.07 4,863 11,457 326 16,646

1  Finance leases are principally over port facilities, commencing between 1988 and 1999, and terminating between 2008 and 2012. Contingent rental payments are 
based on the volume of through-puts generated by the Group.

2006

Fixed interest maturing in:

Weighted 
Average 

interest rate

Floating 
interest 

rate

1 year or 
less

Over 1 to 
2 years

Over 2 to 
3 years

Over 3 to 
4 years

Over 4 to 
5 years

Over 5 
years

Total

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Term funding facilities 5.82 188,247 188,247

Other loans 6.17 88,639 88,639

Finance leases1 7.20 697 697 697 697 697 2,650 6,135

Deposit notes 6.89 3,210 20,714 260 24,184

Interest rate swaps2 5.74 55,000 55,000

1   Finance leases are principally over port facilities, commencing between 1988 and 1999, and terminating between 2007 and 2012. Contingent rental payments are 
based on the volume of through-puts generated by the Group.

2  Notional principal amounts.

(d) Fair value
Current and non-current liabilities are stated at fair value.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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25. Deferred tax liabilities (non-current) 
Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The balance comprises temporary differences 
attributable to:

Prepayments 682 302 - 27

Consumables 633 635 - -

Creditors and other payables 606 176 204 -

Property, plant and equipment 21,504 18,639 - -

Unrealised gains on derivative contracts 11,308 3,980 - -

Net deferred tax liabilities 34,733 23,732 204 27

Movements:

Opening balance 1 October 23,732 18,511 27 3

Change on adoption of AASB 132 and AASB 139 - 429 - -

Transfer from current tax liabilities - 2,325 - -

Charged/(credited) to the income statement (note 8) 11,001 2,467 177 24

Closing balance 30 September 34,733 23,732 204 27

26. Provisions (non-current)
Restoration 284 268 - -

Workers’ compensation 1,440 1,760 - -

Employee benefits 1,416 1,372 655 757

 3,140 3,400 655 757

(a) Restoration
Provision is made for head office leased premises make-good obligations.

(b) Workers’ Compensation
GrainCorp Operations Limited (GCOP) was a self-insurer for workers’ compensation in NSW up to 29 June 2006. As required 
by the NSW workers’ compensation self-insurance licensing requirements, provision is made based on an annual actuarial 
assessment for GCOP’s potential liability arising from past self-insurance.
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Movements in Provisions

Restoration
Workers’ 

compensation

Consolidated – 2007 $’000 $’000

Carrying amount at beginning of year 268 1,760

Reclass to provisions (current) - (30)

Additional provisions recognised 16 -

Amounts used - (290)

Carrying amount at end of year 284 1,440

27. Contributed equity

Parent entity

2007 2006

Number $’000 Number $’000

Fully paid foundation share - Grain Growers 
Association Limited 1 - 1 -

Fully paid ordinary shares 57,939,201 237,339 56,890,715 226,872

Fully paid reset preference shares (RPS) - - - -

237,339 226,872

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 30 September 2007

Movements in ordinary share capital of the Company during the past two years were as follows:

Date Details Total number 
of shares

Ordinary share 
capital

$’000

30 September 2005 Sub-total 40,901,332 103,772

4 July 2006 Employee share acquisition plan issues1 13,700 114

30 September 2006 Reset preference shares converted to ordinary shares 15,975,683 122,986

30 September 2006 Sub-total 56,890,715 226,872

17 October 2006 Share buy-back (83,000) (597)

27 October 2006 Dividend reinvestment plan issues 250,997 1,925

13 April 2007 Share purchase plan issues 668,192 6,566

28 June 2007 Employee share acquisition plan issues1 16,800 222

7 July 2007 Dividend reinvestment plan issues 195,497 2,447

Less:

Transaction costs arising on share issues (138)

Deferred tax credit recognised directly in equity 42

30 September 2007 Total 57,939,201 237,339
1 Refer to note 41 for details of employee share acquisition plan

Movements in reset preference shares of the Company during the past two years were as follows:

Date Details Total number 
of shares

RPS

$’000

30 September 2005 Sub-total 1,200,000 115,553

1 October 2005 Reclassified as interest bearing liability (1,200,000) (107,240)

30 September 2005 Transfer to capital reserve - (8,313)

30 September 2006 Total - -
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Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion to  
the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. On a show of hands every member present in person or by proxy is entitled  
to one vote, and upon a poll each share shall have one vote. The passing of resolutions is subject to the voting rights of the 
foundation share.

Dividend reinvestment plan

The dividend reinvestment plan, as approved by shareholders at the 2004 AGM, was activated for the October 2006 and July 2007 
dividend payments. Shares are issued under the plan at a 2.5% discount to the market price. New shares were issued at a price of 
$7.66 for the October 2006 dividend, and $12.53 for the July 2007 dividend.

Share purchase plan

On 1 March 2007, the Company announced a share purchase plan (SPP) for registered holders of fully paid ordinary shares as at 
28 February 2007. The SPP opened on 5 March 2007 and closed on 2 April 2007. New shares were issued at a price of $9.82 
based on a 2.5% discount to the Company’s VWAP for the 30 days prior to the SPP offer.

Foundation share
The foundation share held by Grain Growers Association Limited carries no entitlement to dividends or to the proceeds on winding 
up, and appoints a majority of directors to the GrainCorp Board.

No ordinary resolution can be passed without the affirmative vote of the foundation share, except for the appointment of elected 
directors. For a special resolution, the foundation share carries 75 percent of the total number of votes entitled to be cast.

The foundation share will be reviewed in February 2008 in accordance with the Company’s Constitution.

Reset preference shares (RPS)
As at the reset date of 30 September 2006, the RPS were converted to ordinary shares in accordance with the terms of the Reset 
Preference Share Prospectus dated 7 July 2003. 15,975,683 ordinary shares were issued which equated to 13.3147 ordinary 
shares for every one RPS held based on a conversion price of $7.5105.

Employee equity schemes
Details of employee share and rights schemes are set out in note 41.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 30 September 2007

28. Reserves and retained profits
Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Reserves

Share option reserve 

Balance 1 October 1,482 1,277 1,482 1,277

Performance rights expense 1,747 205 1,747 205

3,229 1,482 3,229 1,482

Capital reserve

Balance 1 October 8,328 - 8,328 -

Rounding on conversion of RPS - 15 - 15

Transfer from contributed equity - 8,313 - 8,313

8,328 8,328 8,328 8,328

Balance of reserves 30 September 11,557 9,810 11,557 9,810

The share option reserve is used to recognise the fair value of performance rights issued as share-based payments issued but not 
exercised. 

The capital reserve represents the remaining equity component of RPS of the Company, on their reclassification to an interest-
bearing liability as at 1 October 2005. This residual equity is effectively the value of the embedded sold call and bought put option 
from the issuer’s perspective.

Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Retained profits

Retained profits at the end of previous financial year 175,589 176,026 22,725 22,126

Correction of error (note 3(b)) - 4,208 - -

Adjustment on adoption of AASB- Interpretation 11 
(note 1(a))

- - - 1,590

Change on adoption of AASB 132 and AASB 139 - (13,879) - (14,879)

Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year 175,589 166,355 22,725 8,837

Net (loss) / profit attributable to members of 
GrainCorp Limited 

(19,786) 31,734 3,094 36,388

Dividends provided for or paid (note 30) (5,773) (22,500) (5,773) (22,500)

Closing balance 150,030 175,589 20,046 22,725
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29. Minority interest 
Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Shared capital 49 49 - -

Retained profits 46 39 - -

95 88 - -

30. Dividends
The following fully franked dividends have been provided for or paid to shareholders during the year:

2007 2006

Date paid
Cents per 

share
Total amount 

$’000
Cents per 

share
Total amount 

$’000

Ordinary shares

Final for previous year - - 5 2,045

Interim dividend 9 July 2007 10 5,773 20 8,180

Final dividend - - 30 12,275

5,773 22,500

Reset preference shares (RPS)

Interim dividend - - 324.1 3,889

Final dividend - - 325.9 3,911

- - 7,800

5,773 30,300

The RPS were converted to ordinary shares as at 30 September 2006. Dividends on RPS were classified as interest expense from 
1 October 2005, but continued to be fully franked. Fully franked RPS dividends of $7,800,000 were paid in the year ended 30 
September 2006. 

A final dividend will not be paid for the year ended 30 September 2007.

Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Franking credits available for the subsequent financial year 14,539 16,007 14,539 16,007

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 30 September 2007

The above amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the financial year, adjusted for:

(a) franking credits that will arise from the payment of the current tax liability;

(b) franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the reporting date;

(c) franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the reporting date; and

(d) franking credits that may be prevented from being distributed in subsequent financial years.

31. Remuneration of auditors
During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent entity, its related practices 
and non-related audit firms:

Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Assurance Services

(i) Audit services

Fees paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm

Audit and review of financial reports and other work under 
the Corporations Act 2001

425,642 467,560 85,128 87,846

AIFRS transition fees - 152,071 - -

425,642 619,631 85,128 87,846

(ii) Other Assurance Services

Fees paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm

Other audit services - 23,600 - -

Risk management & consulting - - - -

Accounting advice - - - -

Due diligence fees - - - -

- 23,600 - -

(iii) Taxation services

Fees paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm

Tax compliance and advice 5,000 - - -

5,000 - - -

Total 430,642 643,231 85,128 87,846

Any PricewaterhouseCoopers non-audit engagements are subject to the Group’s corporate governance procedures, auditor 
independence policies and Board Audit Committee approval.
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32. Contingencies
(i) The Group may from time to time receive notices of possible claims for losses or damages. A provision of $22,991,000 (2006: 

$8,198,000) has been recognised to cover any liabilities which may arise out of such claims. 
Based on information currently available, the directors believe that no further provision is required at this time. A contingent liability 
exists for any amounts that ultimately become payable over and above current provisioning levels.

(ii) The NSW Roads and Traffic Authority have commenced proceedings against GrainCorp Operations Limited for alleged “chain of 
responsibility” breaches of the NSW road transport laws regarding overloaded vehicles.

Whilst maximum fines of $18.2 million are claimed the Company has denied liability and will vigorously defend the action. 

33. Commitments
Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Capital expenditure commitments

Total capital expenditure contracted for at the reporting date 
but not provided for in payables:

- Not later than one year 8,901 4,935 - -

- Later than one year but not later than five years - - - -

8,901 4,935 - -

Lease commitments

Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the 
reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:

- Not later than one year 8,712 10,593 - -

- Later than one year and not later than five years 31,269 31,408 - -

- Later than five years 67,729 67,729 - -

107,710 109,730 - -

Representing:

Cancellable operating leases 1,445 83 - -

Non-cancellable operating leases 106,265 109,647 - -

107,710 109,730 - -

Operating leases

Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to 
non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

- Not later than one year 8,261 10,575 - -

- Later than one year but not later than five years 31,027 31,389 - -

- Later than five years 66,977 67,683 - -

106,265 109,647 - -

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 30 September 2007

Operating leases are principally over port facilities, on terms up to 99 years. Contingent rentals are based on CPI and/or periodic 
valuation to market value. The majority of leases include options to extend terms. Given the nature of the Group’s relationship 
with port operators it is anticipated that most leases will be continually renewed. Operating leases also apply to offices, storage 
sites, computer equipment, and railway locomotives and wagons.

Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Finance leases

Commitments in relation to finance leases are payable as 
follows:

- Not later than one year 660 697 - -

- Later than one year but not later than five years 2,638 2,788 -

- Later than five years 2,855 2,650 - -

Minimum lease payments 6,153 6,135 - -

Future finance charges - - - -

Total lease liabilities 6,153 6,135 - -

Representing lease liabilities:

Current (note 21) 660 697 - -

Non-current (note 24) 5,493 5,438 - -

6,153 6,135 - -

The weighted average interest rate implicit in the leases is 7.25% (2006: 7.20%)

Finance leases are principally over port facilities, commencing between 1988 and 1999, and terminating between 2008 and 
2012. Contingent rental payments are based on the volume of through-puts generated by the Group. Options exist to renew  
the leases.
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34.  Key management personnel disclosures and related party transactions
(1) Key management personnel disclosures

(a) Directors
The following persons were directors of GrainCorp Limited during the financial year:

(i) Chairman – non-executive

D.C. Taylor

(ii) Executive director

T.B. Keene (Managing Director)

(iii) Non-executive directors 

D.J. Mangelsdorf (Deputy Chairman)

G.D.W. Curlewis

J.W. Eastburn

R.R. Flanery

R.G. Freeman

D.F. Groves

G.T. Lane (appointed 22 February 2007)

S.J. Millear (appointed 22 February 2007)

D.B. Trebeck

L.M. Delahunty (resigned 22 February 2007)

P.W. Grigg (resigned 22 February 2007)

(b) Other key management personnel
The following persons also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group, 
directly or indirectly, during the financial year and also for the year ended 30 September 2007, except where indicated:

Name Position

J. P. Breeze        General Manager, AG Haul

N.P. Hart        Group Executive - Corporate Services & Company Secretary

M.P. Henry General Manager, AG Plus (appointed 26 February 2007)

A.N. Johns       Chief Development Officer

K.J. Lloyd   General Manager, Storage & Handling

J. de Salis General Manager, AG Finance

A.K. Scott Chief Financial Officer (appointed 1 May 2007)

S.J. Tainsh       General Manager, Marketing

S.G.B. Bird      Chief Financial Officer (resigned 23 February 2007)

J. Molenaar General Manager, AG Plus (resigned 1 December 2006)

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 30 September 2007

 (c) Key management personnel compensation
Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Short-term employee benefits 4,125,439 3,799,998 2,750,430 3,799,998

Post-employment benefits 475,485 336,993 317,006 336,993

Share-based payments 1,103,290 471,293 735,563 471,293

Termination payments - 2,193,956 - 2,193,956

5,704,214 6,802,240 3,802,999 6,802,240

The Company has taken advantage of the relief provided by Corporations Regulation 2M.6.04 and has transferred the detailed 
remuneration disclosures to the directors’ report. The relevant information can be found in sections A-C of the remuneration report 
on pages 33 to 41.

(d) Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel
(i) Performance Share Rights provided as remuneration and shares issued on exercise of such rights

  Details of rights provided as remuneration and shares issued on the exercise of such rights, together with terms and 
conditions of the rights, can be found in section D of the remuneration report on pages 41 to 44.

(ii) Performance Share Rights holdings 

  The numbers of performance rights in the Company held during the financial year by each director of GrainCorp Limited and 
other key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related entities, are set out below.
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2007

Name Balance at the 
Start of the 

Year

Granted 
during the 

year as 
compensation

Other changes 
during the 

year

Balance at 
the end of the 

year 

Vested and 
exercisable at 
the end of the 

year

Directors of GrainCorp Limited

T.B. Keene 326,312 - - 326,312 -

Other key management personnel of the Group 

J.P. Breeze 42,252 17,897 - 60,149 -

N.P. Hart 55,595 24,613 - 80,568 -

M.P. Henry1 - - - - -

A.N. Johns 57,097 25,115 - 82,212 -

K.J. Lloyd 60,522 26,622 - 87,144 -

J. de Salis 47,961 20,315 - 68,276 -

A.K. Scott2 - - - - -

S.J. Tainsh 57,097 25,115 - 82,212 -

S.G.B. Bird3 60,522 - (60,522) - -

J. Molenaar4 - - - - -

1 M. P. Henry appointed 26 February 2007.
2 A. K. Scott appointed 1 May 2007.
3 S.G. Bird resigned 23 February 2007
4 J. Molenaar appointed 23 January 2006, resigned 1 December 2006.

All performance share rights are unvested and unexercisable at the end of the year.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 30 September 2007

The numbers of options and performance share rights in the Company held during the 2006 financial year by each director of 
GrainCorp Limited and other key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related entities, are set out below. 

2006

Name Balance at the 
Start of the 

Year

Granted 
during the 

year as 
compensation

Other changes 
during the 

year

Balance at 
the end of the 

year 

Vested and 
exercisable at 
the end of the 

year

Directors of GrainCorp Limited

T.B. Keene 183,451 142,861 - 326,312 -

Other key management personnel of 
the Group

S.G.B. Bird 43,561 16,961 - 60,522 -

J.P. Breeze 30,411  11,841  - 42,252 -

N.P. Hart 40,274 15,681 - 55,955 -

A.N. Johns 41,096 16,001  - 57,097 -

K.J. Lloyd 43,561 16,961 - 60,522 -

J. Molenaar3 - - - - -

J. de Salis 34,520  13,441  - 47,961 -

S.J. Tainsh 41,096 16,001 - 57,097 -

J. Di Leo1 81,862 - (81,862) - -

A. Single2 31,233  - (31,233) - -

1 J. Di Leo became Managing Director of Allied Mills on 7 November 2005 and the GrainCorp position of Chief Operating Officer was made redundant on 4 November 
2005. Performance share rights were forfeited.

2 A. Single resigned 18 November 2005. Performance share rights were forfeited.
3 J. Molenaar was appointed 23 January 2006.
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iii) Share holdings

The numbers of shares in the Company and subsidiaries held during the financial year by each director of GrainCorp Limited and 
other key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related entities, are set out in the following table:

2007

Name Balance at the 
Start of the 

Year

Movements arising 
from changes in 

Board/KMP status 

Granted 
during the 

year as 
compensation

Other changes 
during the year

Balance at the 
end of the year

Directors of GrainCorp Limited

Ordinary shares - Issued by the parent Company, GrainCorp Limited

D.C. Taylor 2,219 - - 4,715 6,934

D.J. Mangelsdorf 2,377 - - 2,780 5,157

T.B. Keene 247,680 - - 1,740 249,420

G.D.W. Curlewis 1,000 - - - 1,000

J.W. Eastburn 430 - - 571 1,001

R.R. Flanery 87,694 - - (4,797) 82,897

R.G. Freeman 136,192 - - 7 136,199

D.F. Groves 1,765,590 - - 18,807 1,784,397

G.T. Lane1 - 7,744 - - 7,744

S.J. Millear1 - 51 - - 51

D.B. Trebeck 23,181 - - 3,426 26,607

L.M. Delahunty2 76,333 (76,333) - - -

P.W. Grigg2 3,467 (3,467) - - -

Other key management personnel of the Group

Ordinary shares - Issued by the parent Company, GrainCorp Limited

J.P. Breeze 434 - - 261 695

N.P. Hart 587 - - 622 1,209

M.P. Henry3 - - - - -

A.N. Johns 992 - - 104 1,096

K.J. Lloyd 1,688 - - 509 2,197

J. de Salis 400 - - 10 410

A. K. Scott4 - - - - -

S.J. Tainsh 1,689 - - 522 2,211

S.G.B. Bird5 1,050 (1,050) - - -

J. Molenaar6 - - - - -
1  G. T. Lane and S.J. Millear were appointed 22 February 2007.
2  L.M. Delahunty and P.W. Grigg resigned 22 February 2007.
3  M.P. Henry was appointed 26 February 2007.

4  A. K. Scott was appointed on 1 May 2007.
5  S. G. B. Bird resigned on 23 February 2007.
6  J Molenaar resigned on 1 December 2006.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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2006

Name Balance at the 
Start of the 

Year

Movements 
arising from 
changes in 
Board/KMP 

status 

Granted during 
the year as 

compensation

Other 
changes 

during the 
year

Balance at 
the end of the 

year

Directors of GrainCorp Limited

Ordinary shares - Issued by the parent Company, GrainCorp Limited

D.C. Taylor 431 - - 1,788 2,219

L.M. Delahunty 76,333 - - - 76,333

T.B. Keene 234,026 - - 13,654 247,680

G.D.W. Curlewis - - - 1,000 1,000

J.W. Eastburn2 - - - 430 430

R.R. Flanery 223,458 - - (135,764) 87,694

R.G. Freeman 136,192 - - - 136,192

P.W. Grigg 3,467 - - - 3,467

D.F. Groves 1,717,212 - - 48,378 1,765,590

D.J. Mangelsdorf 837 - - 1,540 2,377

D.B. Trebeck 20,777 - - 2,404 23,181

R.L. Greentree1 777,192 (777,192) - - -

Reset preference shares - Issued by the parent Company, GrainCorp Limited

D.C. Taylor 333 - - (333) -

T.B. Keene 600 - - (600) -

R.R. Flanery 5,400 - - (5,400) -

D.F. Groves 550 - - (550) -
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2006

Name Balance at the 
Start of the 

Year

Movements 
arising from 
changes in 
Board/KMP 

status 

Granted during 
the year as 

compensation

Other 
changes 

during the 
year

Balance at 
the end of the 

year

Other key management personnel of the Group

Ordinary shares - Issued by the parent Company, GrainCorp Limited

S.G.B. Bird 400 - - 650 1,050

J.P. Breeze 400 - - 34 434

N.P. Hart 495 - - 92 587

A.N. Johns 900 - - 92 992

K.J. Lloyd 1,688 - - - 1,688

J. Molenaar5 - - - - -

J. de Salis - - - 400 400

S.J.Tainsh 1,228 - - 461 1,689

J. Di Leo3 103,634 (103,634) - - -

A. Single4 2,218 (2,218) - - -

Reset preference shares - Issued by the parent Company, GrainCorp Limited

J. Di Leo3 150 (150) - - -

A. Single4 100 (100) - - -
1 R.L. Greentree resigned 23 December 2005. 
2 J.W. Eastburn was appointed 22 February 2006.
3 J. Di Leo became Managing Director of Allied Mills on 7 November 2005 and the GrainCorp position of Chief Operating Officer was made redundant on 

4 November 2005. 
4 A. Single resigned 18 November 2005. 
5 J. Molenaar was appointed 23 January 2006.

(e) Other transactions with key management personnel
Transactions for storage, handling, transport, testing, seed sales and purchase of grain, fertiliser and other agricultural products 
from directors or director-related entities took place during both financial years covered by this report and occurred within a normal 
customer relationship on terms no more favourable than those available on similar transactions to other customers. Below are 
aggregate amounts due, from and to directors, any other key management personnel and their director-related and KMP-related 
entities at balance date. These balances are the result of transactions conducted under normal trading terms and conditions. 

Directors and other key management personnel who transacted business with the Group were T. Keene, L. Delahunty, D. Curlewis, 
R. Freeman, P. Grigg, D. Trebeck, S. Bird, A. Johns, N. Hart, K. Lloyd, S. Tainsh, J. Molenaar, M. Henry, and J. De Salis (2006:T. 
Keene, D. Taylor, L. Delahunty, D. Curlewis, J. Eastburn, R. Flanery, R. Freeman, P. Grigg, D. Mangelsdorf, D. Trebeck, S. Bird, A. 
Johns, N. Hart, K. Lloyd, S. Tainsh, J. Molenaar, J. Breeze and J. De Salis).

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current receivables

-  Director-related and KMP-related entities 9,713,7931 1,414,2763 - -

Current payables

Directors and other key management personnel 258,372 26,546 - -

Director-related and KMP-related entities 247,2892 902,5844 - -
2007:
1 Includes $9,172,303 receivable relating to Allied Mills Pty Ltd, of which T. Keene and A. Johns are directors, and $418,333 receivable relating to Delta Agribusiness 

Pty Ltd of which M. Henry is a director.
2  Includes $185,324 payable relating to Austasia Grains Pty Ltd of which S. Tainsh is a director.

2006:
3 Includes $1,100,000 receivable relating to Allied Mills Pty Ltd, of which T. Keene is a director, and $235,824 receivable relating to Delta Agribusiness Pty Ltd of which 

J. Molenaar is a director.
4 Includes $479,320 payable relating to Allied Mills Pty Ltd, of which T. Keene is a director, $190,413 payable relating to Austasia Grains Pty Ltd of which S. Tainsh is a 

director, and $121,453 payable relating to Nufarm Ltd, of which D. Curlewis is a director.

(2) Related party transactions 

(a) Transactions with related parties - parent entity
The parent entity within the Group is GrainCorp Limited. The ultimate Australian parent entity is Grain Growers Association Limited 
(GGA), which owns 1 Foundation share in GrainCorp, with rights to appoint a majority of directors to the GrainCorp board, and 15% 
(2006: 21%) of the ordinary shares in GrainCorp. 

Consolidated

2007 2006

$ $

Aggregate amounts included in the determination of profit 
from ordinary activities before income tax:

Rental expense to GGA 83,782 60,000

Rental income from GGA 19,061 2,984
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(b) Transactions with related parties - wholly-owned members of the Group

Details of wholly owned members of the Group and ownership interests in controlled entities are set out in note 35. Aggregate 
amounts included in the determination of profit from ordinary activities before income tax that resulted from transactions with 
wholly-owned entities within the Group were as follows:

Parent entity

2007 2006

$ $

Management fee revenue for administrative services 13,891,864 12,232,414

Dividend revenue from subsidiaries - 50,000,000

Interest expense payable to subsidiary 1,327,671 1,483,282

(c) Transactions with related parties - associates
Details of associated companies are shown in note 37. The interest in Bulkeast Engineering Pty Ltd was disposed of as at 1 October 
2006. Aggregate amounts included in the determination of profit from ordinary activities before income tax that resulted from 
transactions with associates were as follows:

Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Engineering services provided by Bulkeast - 67,651 - -

Freight income from Allied Mills 7,023,482 5,148,451 - -

Rental charge from Allied Mills 9,325 4,213 - -

Sales income from Allied Mills 152,751,755 100,332,293 - -

Purchases from Allied Mills 18,168,173 1,631,569 - -

Interest received from Allied Mills 2,140,102 2,075,119 2,140,102 2,075,119

Storage income from Allied Mills 5,859,047 6,982,881 - -

Agency service fees to Australian Grain Accumulation 
Services

2,043,084 2,045,827 - -

Membership fees to National Grower Register Pty Limited 
(“NGR”)

290,939 292,009 - -

Rental income from NGR 16,139 13,401 - -

Interest income from NGR 72,528 91,700 - -

Other income from Wheat Australia 12,662 155,074 - -

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(d) Outstanding balances in relation to transactions with related parties 

Aggregate amounts receivable from and payable to other related parties at balance sheet date were as follows:

Subsidiaries

Current receivables (note 10) - - 8,480,672 22,220,792

Current borrowings (note 21) - - 17,398,721 20,614,781

Non-current receivables (note 14) - - 78,793,417 74,691,323

Non-current borrowings (note 24) - - 105,628,017 59,312,618

Associates

Loan to NGR (note 14) 1,186,896 1,312,951 - -

Loan to Wheat Australia (note 14) 50,000 50,000 - -

Loan to Allied Mills (note 14) 28,092,000 28,092,000 28,092,000 28,092,000

Current receivable (note 10) loan interest Allied Mills 571,542 539,110 571,542 539,110

A provision for impairment of advances to associated entities of $1,186,896 has been raised in relation to the amount owing by NGR 
(2006: $1,312,951). The Group received $126,055 in respect of this impaired advance. (2006: expense $307,000). The impairment 
reversal is included in other expenses in the income statement.

 (e) Terms and conditions 
Transactions between GrainCorp and related parties in the Group during the years ended 30 September 2007 and 2006  
consisted of:

(a) loans advanced within the Group;

(b) loans repaid within the Group;

(c) payment of dividends to GrainCorp; 

(d) management fees for administrative services paid to GrainCorp;

(e) sale of goods; and

(f) reimbursement of expenses.



114 | GrainCorp Limited 2007 Annual Report  | 115  

35. Subsidiaries
Class of 
shares

Equity holdings

Name of entity 2007 2006

Entities controlled by GrainCorp Limited:

GrainCorp Services Limited Ordinary 100% 100%

Victorian Grain Services Pty Limited Ordinary 100% 100%

Grainco Australia Pty Limited Ordinary 100% 100%

GrainCorp Warehouse Cashflow Pty Limited Ordinary 100% 100%

GrainCorp AG Finance Limited Ordinary 100% 100%

Entities controlled by GrainCorp Services Limited:

GrainCorp Operations Limited Ordinary 100% 100%

Entities controlled by Victorian Grain Services Pty Limited:

Vicgrain Pty Limited1 Ordinary 75% 75%

Entities controlled by Grainco Australia Pty Limited:

Agricultural Risk Management Services Pty Limited Ordinary 100% 100%

Globex International Pty Ltd Ordinary 100% 100%

Ausfarmers Pty Limited Ordinary 100% 100%

Bulk Terminals Australia Limited Ordinary 50% 50%

Austasia Grains Pty Ltd Ordinary 51% 51%

Entities controlled by GrainCorp Operations Limited:

GrainCorp Victoria Pty Limited Ordinary 100% 100%

GrainCorp National Pty Limited Ordinary 100% 100%

Bulk Terminals Australia Limited Ordinary 50% 50%

GrainCorp National Rail Pty Limited Ordinary 100% 100%

Entities controlled by Vicgrain Pty Limited:

Vicgrain (Assets) Pty Limited Ordinary 100% 100%

Vicgrain (Finance) Pty Limited Ordinary 100% 100%

Entities controlled by Ausfarmers Pty Limited:

Maceast Pty Limited Ordinary 100% 100%

Wilsonton Facilities Pty Limited Ordinary 100% 100%

MarketLink (Aust) Pty Limited Ordinary 100% 100%

Entities controlled by Globex International Pty Limited:

ContainerLink Pty Limited Ordinary 100% 100%

All of the above subsidiaries are incorporated in Australia
1 Remaining 25% equity interest is held by GrainCorp Victoria Pty Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 30 September 2007

36. Deed of cross guarantee
GrainCorp Limited and its wholly-owned entities: GrainCorp Services Limited, GrainCorp Operations Limited, GrainCorp Victoria 
Pty Limited, GrainCorp National Pty Limited, Victorian Grain Services Pty Limited, Vicgrain Pty Limited, Vicgrain (Assets) Pty 
Limited, Vicgrain (Finance) Pty Limited, Grainco Australia Pty Limited, Globex International Pty Limited, ContainerLink Pty Limited, 
Ausfarmers Pty Limited, Maceast Pty Limited, Wilsonton Facilities Pty Limited, MarketLink (Aust) Pty Limited, Bulk Terminals 
Australia Pty Ltd and GrainCorp National Rail Pty Limited are parties to a deed of cross guarantee under which each of the 
companies guarantees the debts of the others. 

By entering into the deed, the wholly-owned entities have been relieved from the requirement to prepare a financial report and 
directors’ report under Class Order 98/1418 (as amended).

The above companies represent a ‘Closed Group’ for the purposes of the Class Order, and as there are no other parties in the deed 
of cross guarantee that are controlled by GrainCorp Limited, they also represent the ‘Extended Closed Group’.

Set out below is the consolidated income statement and a summary of movements in consolidated retained profits for the Closed 
Group for the year ended 30 September 2007.

Income statement 2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Revenue from continuing operations 825,255 817,090

Other income 7,189 16,801

Goods purchased for resale (630,726) (487,037)

Raw materials and consumables used (18,536) (27,344)

Employee benefits expense (101,895) (133,116)

Depreciation and amortisation expense (41,115) (42,330)

Finance costs (25,262) (32,963)

Repairs and maintenance (8,146) (16,641)

Other expenses (54,157) (52,330)

Share of net profits of associates accounted for using the equity method 13,715 5,068

Profit before income tax (33,678) 47,198

Income tax benefit /( expense) 16,028 (15,098)

Profit for the year (17,650) 32,100

Summary of movements in consolidated retained profits

Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year 176,059 180,338

Change on adoption of AASB 132 and AASB 139 - (13,879)

Profit after related income tax expense (17,650) 32,100

Dividends provided for or paid (5,773) (22,500)

Retained profits at the end of the financial year 152,636 176,059
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Set out below is the consolidated balance sheet as at 30 September 2007 of the Closed Group.

Income statement 2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents - 16,069

Trade and other receivables 187,492 214,800

Inventories 124,633 134,238

Derivative financial instruments 32,504 1,671

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 1,845 898

Total current assets 346,474 367,676

Non-current assets

Receivables 28,147 29,282

Investments accounted for using the equity method 86,290 72,575

Other financial assets 7,249 5,189

Property, plant & equipment 441,695 461,233

Deferred tax assets 44,414 19,683

Intangible assets 19,268 17,887

Total non-current assets 627,063 605,849

Total assets 973,537 973,525

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 137,950 185,515

Borrowings 96,280 115,855

Derivative financial instruments 28,395 13,399

Other financial liabilities 409 409

Current tax liabilities 633 -

Provisions 41,181 27,839

Total current liabilities 304,848 343,017

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 30 September 2007

Consolidated balance sheet continued 2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 227,740 188,685

Other financial liabilities 1,567 1,976

Deferred tax liabilities 34,710 23,706

Provisions 3,140 3,400

Total non-current liabilities 267,157 217,767

Total liabilities 572,005 560,784

Net assets 401,532 412,741

Equity

Contributed equity 237,339 226,872

Reserves 11,557 9,810

Retained earnings 152,636 176,059

Total equity 401,532 412,471

37. Investments in associates
(a) Carrying amounts

Company Principal activity Ownership 
interest

Consolidated 
carrying amount

Parent entity 
carrying amount

2007 2006 2007 
$’000

2006 
$’000

2007 
$’000

2006 
$’000

Allied Mills Australia Pty Ltd1 Mixing & milling 60% 60% 86,290 72,575 70,920 70,920

Australian Grain Accumulation 
Services Pty Limited

Grain accumulators 50% 50% - - - -

National Grower Register Pty Limited Register 
management

50% 50% - - - -

Wheat Australia Pty Ltd Wheat exportation 33.3% 33.3% - - - -

Bulkeast Engineering Pty Ltd2 Engineering services - 50% - - - -

86,290 72,575 70,920 70,920
1 Equity interest in Allied Mills is 60%; however, voting rights are 50%.

2 Entity de-registered 1 October 2006

Each of the above associates is incorporated in Australia.
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(b) Movements in carrying amounts

 Consolidated

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year 72,575 67,507

Share of operating profit / (loss) after income tax 13,715 5,068

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year 86,290 72,575

Group’s share of results attributable to associated companies:

Operating profits / (losses) before income tax 19,833 6,254

Income tax expense (6,118) (1,186)

Share of associates’ operating profits / (losses) after income tax 13,715 5,068

Retained profits / (losses) attributable to associates at the beginning of the 
financial year

1,040 (4,028)

Retained profits / (losses) attributable to associates at the end of the financial year 14,755 1,040

Group’s share of associate’s expenditure commitments, other than for 
supply of inventories:

     Capital commitments 23,061 39,240

     Lease commitments 2,021 561

     Contingent liabilities 6 -

Summarised financial information of associates:

Group’s share of:

Assets 
$’000

Liabilities 
$’000

Revenues 
$’000

Profit/(loss) 
$’000

2007 217,718 103,539 264,230 13,715

Group’s share of:

Assets 
$’000

Liabilities 
$’000

Revenues 
$’000

Profit/(loss) 
$’000

2006 191,207 91,882 260,110 5,068

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 30 September 2007

38.  Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash flow from operating 
activities

 Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$ $ $ $

(Loss) / profit for the year (19,786) 31,734 3,094 36,388

  Net (profit) / loss on sale of non-current assets (636) (939) - -

  Dividends received (282) (48) (282) (50,048)

   Non-cash employee benefits expense – share based payments 1,969 319 - 319

  Non-cash fair value adjustments to assets - (5,630) - -

   Share of (profit) / loss of associate not received as dividends (13,715) (5,068) - -

  Depreciation / amortisation 41,374 42,478 - -

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

  (Increase) / decrease in inventories 10,152 (74,747) - -

  (Increase) / decrease in deferred tax asset (24,869) 2,018 (16,545) 2,275

  (Increase) / decrease in derivatives (15,837) 11,728 - -

  (Increase) / decrease in receivables (9,024) (10,169) 12,079 (645)

  Increase / (decrease) in trade creditors 1,132 24,068 (3,472) 3,102

  Increase / (decrease) in other liabilities (21,779) 40,595 1,879 2,399

  Increase / (decrease) in provision for income tax 684 2,110 (2,398) 2,110

  Increase / (decrease) in provision for deferred tax liability 11,001 4,792 177 24

  Increase / (decrease) in income received in    

  advance (134) (362) - -

  Increase / (decrease) in provisions 12,956 2,235 (2,319) (2,256)

Net cash provided by operating activities (26,794) 65,114 (7,787) (6,332)
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39. Events occurring after the balance sheet date
Acquisition of Hunter Grain Pty Ltd (Hunter Grain)
On 5 October 2007 the Company announced that it had entered into an agreement to acquire Hunter Grain for $26.5 million, 
subject to any final purchase adjustments.

Hunter Grain is Australia’s largest distributor of imported protein meals principally operating from port distribution centres at 
Kooragang (Newcastle), Brisbane, Geelong and Perth. It also operates a transport division, and a trading business for grain. Hunter 
Grain has a turnover of $250 million and employs 30 staff with a trading office in Sydney and a transport office in Cowra.

The acquisition is expected to be completed, subject to customary conditions, by December 2007.

Other than reported above, no other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 September 2007 which has significantly affected 
or may significantly affect:

(a) the Group’s operations in future financial years; or

(b) the results of those operations in future financial years; or

(c) the Group’s state of affairs in future financial years.

40. Earnings per share
 Consolidated

2007 2006

Basic earnings per share (cents) (34.5) 77.6

Diluted earnings per share1 (cents) n/a 75.7

Number of ordinary shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in the 
calculation of basic earnings per share. 57,406,270 40,904,644

Adjustment for calculation of diluted earnings per share:

Performance rights 1,179,487 1,004,849

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares used 
as the denominator in the calculation of diluted earnings per share. 58,585,757 41,909,493
1  Diluted earnings per share are not presented for the current period because the reported loss results in them being anti-dilutive.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 30 September 2007

 Consolidated

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Reconciliation of earnings used in calculating earnings per share

Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share:

Net (loss) / profit (19,779) 31,737

Net profit attributable to outside equity interest (7) (3)

Earnings used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share (19,786) 31,734

Information concerning the classification of securities

(a) Performance Rights
Performance Rights first granted in 2005 under the GrainCorp Performance Rights Share Plan are considered to be potential 
ordinary shares and have been included in the determination of diluted earnings per share. The rights have not been included in the 
determination of basic earnings per share. Details relating to the rights are set out in the Remuneration Report and note 41.

(b) Reset Preference Shares
Reset Preference Shares (RPS) were issued in October 2003, with a first reset date of 30 September 2006. 

On 30 September 2006, the first reset date, the RPS were converted to ordinary shares, and as such, were included in  
the weighted average number of ordinary shares for the determination of basic and diluted earnings per share as at  
30 September 2006.

41. Share based payments
(a) Performance rights share plan
The GrainCorp performance rights share plan became operative on 1 October 2004, and provides permanent full time employees 
of the GrainCorp Group (including executive directors) the opportunity to participate in competitive performance based 
remuneration incentives.

Under the plan, employees may be granted a number of rights, each right may be converted into one share on the satisfaction 
of certain performance conditions. The number of rights available to be granted, other than the initial grant, is determined by the 
following process:

(a) Base salary multiplied by standard grant LTI value %;

(b) Divided by the Volume Weighted Average Share Price for the period 1 September – 30 September.

The initial grant of rights was made on 1 October 2004 and further grants have been made on 1 October 2005 and 
1 October 2006.

There is no amount payable for the grant of a right and there is no exercise price payable on the exercise of a right. Rights may be 
exercised on the exercise date (being the date on which performance conditions are satisfied). Rights expire (lapse) on the fifth 
anniversary of the date they are granted. Rights are forfeited if the employee ceases to be employed in the Group.

Rights vest only if certain performance conditions based on growth in GrainCorp’s earnings per share and total shareholder return 
are fulfilled, and the employee continues to be employed in the Group. 
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The measurement period for the purposes of the performance conditions is in blocks of three financial years, commencing on each 
grant date. If vesting of the grant of rights is not achieved at the end of the measurement period, re-testing takes place at the end 
of the 4th and 5th years, and improved performance over the four or five year measurement periods will produce additional vesting.

Set out below are summaries of the number of rights granted under the plan.

Grant date Expiry date Balance at 
start of year

Granted 
during year

Forfeited 
during year

Expired 
during year

Balance at 
end of year

Exercisable 
at end of 

year

Consolidated and parent entity 2007

1 Oct 2004 30 Sept 2009 671,828 - (71,786) - 600,042 -

1 Oct 2005 30 Sept 2010 333,021 - (27,951) - 305,070 -

1 Oct 2006 30 Sept 2011 - 284,835 (10,460) - 274,375 -

1,004,849 284,835 (110,197) - 1,179,487 -

Consolidated and parent entity 2006

1 Oct 2004 30 Sept 2009 808,876 - (137,048) - 671,828 -

1 Oct 2005 30 Sept 2010 - 342,347 (9,326) - 333,021 -

808,876 342,347 (146,374) - 1,004,849 -

The first measurement period for the performance rights issued on 1 October 2004 was the three year period to 30 September 
2007. No rights vested as at 30 September 2007 as the performance conditions were not fulfilled for this three year period. Re-
testing will occur at the end of the 4th and 5th years. No rights vested or were exercised in the years ended 30 September 2006 
and 2007.

Fair value of rights granted

The assessed weighted average fair value at grant date on 1 October 2006 was $5.81. The fair value at grant date was 
independently determined using Monte Carlo Simulation stock pricing techniques taking into account the GrainCorp share price 
and dividends, total shareholder returns of the peer group of companies, and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the rights.

(b) Employee share acquisition plan
A scheme under which shares may be issued by the Company to employees of the Company or its wholly-owned entities for no 
cash consideration was approved by the Board. Shares may be granted to permanent employees with at least 12 months’ service 
and satisfactory performance.

Under the scheme, eligible employees may be offered fully-paid ordinary shares in GrainCorp Limited annually for no cash 
consideration. The market value of shares issued under the scheme, measured at the weighted average market price on the day of 
issue of the shares, is recognised in the balance sheet as contributed equity and as part of employee benefit costs in the period the 
shares are granted.

Shares vest once granted but employees cannot dispose of the shares until their employment ceases or 3 years after the grant 
whichever is earlier. In all other respects the shares rank equally with other fully-paid ordinary shares on issue.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 30 September 2007

 Consolidated Parent entity

Number of shares 2007 2006 2007 2006

Shares issued under the plan to participating employees on 28 June 2007 
(2006: 4 July 2006) 16,800 13,700 16,800 13,700

Each participant was issued with shares based on the market price of $13.24 (2006: $8.33). 

(c) Employee exempt share plan
This plan enables eligible employees (including the executive director) to acquire shares as part of their remuneration. Shares are 
held in the plan by the plan trustee for the benefit of participating employees subject to the plan rules.

On the acquisition date (annually in December), the plan trustee will acquire as close as possible to (but no more than) $1,000 
worth of shares (as calculated under the tax rules). Employees are eligible to participate in the plan if they are a permanent full or 
part time employee with 24 months of continuous service as of 1 May in the year and if they are also a resident of Australia and 
pay tax in Australia.

No cash payment for the shares is required; however, the employee’s future cash salary or wages will be reduced by $1,000 
spread evenly over a one-year period. The number of shares will be calculated on the volume weighted average price which shares 
are traded in the week up to and including the date of acquisition, rounded down to the nearest whole share.

(d) Deferred employee share plan and Non-executive directors’ deferred share plan 
Both of these plans operate with the same eligibility criteria for employees but have a minimum contribution requirement of $1,000 
and a maximum of up to 50% of the employee’s pre-tax base wage or salary. The plans trustee, CPU Share Plans Pty Ltd, acquires 
shares on the ASX each month, at the prevailing market price over a period of up to 5 days, commencing on the 23rd day of each 
month (or on the next business day). The shares are then allocated and held on trust under the terms and conditions of the plans. 

 Consolidated Parent entity

Number of shares 2007 2006 2007 2006

Shares acquired under the plan 11,043 26,255 11,043 26,255
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(e) Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions
Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the period as part of employee benefit expenses 
were as follows:

 Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$ $ $ $

Rights issued under performance rights plan 1,747 205 - -

Shares issued under employee share acquisition plan 222 114 - -

1,969 319 - -

42. Non-cash investing and financing activities
 Consolidated Parent entity

2007 2006 2007 2006

$ $ $ $

Dividends reinvested under the dividend reinvestment plan 4,372 - 4,372 -

Acquisition of shares in entity using assets for consideration - 635 - 635
 
Options and shares issued to employees under the performance rights share plan and employee share acquisition plan for no cash 
consideration are shown in note 41.

Directors’ declaration
For the year ended 30 September 2007

In the directors’ opinion:

(a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 49 to 124 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

i.  complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements; and

ii.  giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 September 2007 and of 
their performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

(b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and 
payable; and

(c)  the audited remuneration disclosures set out on pages 33 to 46 of the directors’ report comply with Accounting Standards 
AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(d)  at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the Extended Closed Group 
identified in note 36 will be able to meet any obligation or liabilities to which they are, or may become, subject to by virtue of a 
deed of cross guarantee described in note 36.

The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer required by section 295A of 
the Corporations Act 2001. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

D. C Taylor           
Chairman      

Sydney, 28 November, 2007 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 30 September 2007
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Independent audit report to the members of GrainCorp Limited
Report on the financial report and the AASB 124 Remuneration disclosures contained in the 
directors’ report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of GrainCorp Limited, which comprises the balance sheet as at 30 September 
2007, and the income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year ended on that date, a 
summary of significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration for both GrainCorp limited (the 
Company) and the GrainCorp Group (the consolidated entity). The consolidated entity comprises GrainCorp Limited and the entities 
it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.

We have also audited the remuneration disclosures contained in the directors’ report. As permitted by the Corporations Regulations 
2001, the Company has disclosed information about the remuneration of directors and executives (“remuneration disclosures”), 
required by Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures, under the heading “remuneration report” in pages 33 to 46. 
of the directors’ report and not in the financial report.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report and the AASB 124 Remunerations disclosures contained in 
the directors’ report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. 
This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. In Note 1, the directors also state, 
in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that compliance with the Australian 
equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards ensures that the financial report, comprising the financial statements 
and notes, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards.

The directors of the Company are also responsible for the remuneration disclosures contained in the directors’ report.

Independent audit report
For the year ended 30 September 2007

PricewaterhouseCoopers
ABN 52 780 433 757

Darling Park Tower 2
201 Sussex Street
GPO BOX 2650
SYDNEY NSW 1171
DX 77 Sydney
Australia

www.pwc.com/au
Telephone +61 2 8266 0000
Facsimile +61 2 8266 9999

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 
engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material 
misstatement. Our responsibility is to also express an opinion on the remuneration disclosures contained in the directors’ report 
based on our audit. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report and the 
remuneration disclosures contained in the directors’ report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report and the remuneration disclosures contained in the 
directors’ report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant 
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report and the remuneration disclosures contained in the directors’ 
report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial report and the remuneration disclosures contained in the directors’ report. 

Our procedures include reading the other information in the Annual Report to determine whether it contains any material 
inconsistencies with the financial report.

For further explanation of an audit, visit our website http://www.pwc.com/au/financialstatementaudit.

Our audit did not involve an analysis of the prudence of business decisions made by directors or management. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Auditor’s opinion on the financial report
In our opinion:

(a) the financial report of GrainCorp Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i)  giving a true and fair view of the Company and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 September 2007 and of 

their performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the 
Corporations Regulations 2001, and

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1.
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Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Independent audit report continued
For the year ended 30 September 2007

Print & Design Credits
Design – Holy Cow! Design and Advertising

Print Management – Intoprint

Auditor’s opinion on the AASB 124 Remuneration disclosures contained in the directors’ report
In our opinion, the remuneration disclosures that are contained in pages 33 to 46 of the directors’ report comply with Accounting 
Standard AASB 124. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers

MK Graham 
Partner   

Sydney, 28 November 2007
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